# Understanding the impact, accessibility and diversity of Nordic Walking in People with Parkinson's Disease

Sarah Jane McCracken

Thesis submitted to the University of Nottingham for the degree of Master of Philosophy, October 2023

# **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

This MPhil has been the seed of an idea for several years. I am grateful to so many people who have contributed to making this thesis possible. I would like to thank Professor Pip Logan who first suggested a research study over ten years ago, when my three children were young. She never gave up encouraging me to pursue this goal. I am also grateful to Dr Vicky Booth for being my principal supervisor, for many hours of supervision, proof-reading, motivation, and encouragement. She persuaded me to believe in myself, to work hard and to achieve this qualification as a mature student! My gratitude extends to Dr Fran Allen, as a co-supervisor, who supported me with the focus group (FG) study: coding, reviewing, and checking my data analysis.

I am grateful to CityCare, the National Rehabilitation Centre, and the National Institute for Health and Care Research for funding towards the research costs for this study.

I would like to thank my NHS manager, Julia Webster and research support team, Dr Kevin Anthony, Laura Houten, Gayle Cockayne, Tracy Tyrell, Helen Elvidge, and Louise Bainbridge from CityCare (my employer). Thank you for this opportunity to study, to grow in confidence and to explore a novel form of rehabilitation that could have potential for many patients and staff in the years to come. I have appreciated the support of colleagues during my busy clinical work as a Parkinson's Nurse Specialist, and their additional support at parkrun and Nordic walking events.

I am grateful to British Nordic Walking (BNW), in particular Dr Catherine Hughes who first suggested that I train as an instructor four years ago. She has been an inspiration, particularly her leadership of BNW during the COVID-19 pandemic. She has energy and vision and motivates others to become more active, leading by example (cycling, Nordic Walking, and running). I would like to thank Brad Blake from BNW who led the first NW group for people with Parkinson's (PwP) in 2014, and who teaches the Parkinson's continuing professional development (CPD) course.

It is a pleasure to thank all the participants, partners and carers who took part in the eight-week Nordic walking programme, which ran for 13 months. I am particularly grateful to Chris, a retired physical education teacher, who enjoyed the course so much that she trained as a British Nordic walking instructor! Chris is 61, and lives with Parkinson's. She inspires others to stay active and is leading a regular NW class for PwP at the University and she has started a second group, for people with mixed abilities. I would also like to thank Peter, a friend, PwP and park runner who never gives up. He inspires me to press on, to keep active and to finish this well!

The charity, Parkinson's UK (PUK) has been incredibly supportive both locally, through the branch support groups and at national level. I am thankful to Steve, Jennifer, John and Steve for their patient and public involvement (PPI) support, and for spreading the word, flyers, adverts, and emails regarding the NW classes. PUK headquarters publicised the research project centrally via email and John contacted members of the Parkinson's East Midlands Research Interest Group (PEMRIG). I am already in discussions with Claire at PUK, London about further NW studies!

I am thankful to Graham, Martin, and Trent Bridge Rotary for funding project T-shirts for the participants. We wear them at parkrun, parkwalk and other community events, to raise awareness of the benefits of NW for PwP.

I have had wonderful opportunities to share my research with NHS colleagues, partners in industry (BNW, PUK), and recently, I represented the National Rehabilitation Centre (NRC) for two days at the Royal Society summer science exhibition in London (July 2023). I published a paper in 2021, as a result of the pilot Nordic walking for Parkinson's study (McCracken et al., 2021). I was asked to speak at a conference for over one hundred British Nordic walking instructors in 2021 and 2022. The Parkinson's Disease Nurse Specialist Association (PDNSA) invited me to speak to 130 of their members at Warwick University in October 2022. I addressed 50 senior academics and partners in industry, including the NRC, in July 2023, at the University of Nottingham School of Medicine. I have presented my research to fellow MPhil and PhD students as well as my community neurology team, stroke team, a carers' event and to physiotherapy colleagues.

In July 2022 I had an opportunity to run a stall at a Community Arts festival at Wollaton Park. We offered NW taster sessions for the public and had incredibly positive feedback. I am thankful to councillor Cate Ward for the opportunity. Thank you to Alison Clarke from BNW who volunteered at the arts festival, and who has been my mentor and friend for four years.

I was inspired by a local GP who encouraged her patients to exercise and led by example. She started a local 'Couch to 5K' inclusive group and ran with her patients after work. At a similar time, a local oncologist and a person who was diagnosed with cancer at the age of 24 co-founded the charity '5K Your Way'. This community-based initiative promotes exercise for anyone living with and beyond cancer. Families, friends and those working in cancer services are encouraged to walk, jog, run, cheer or volunteer on the last Saturday parkrun event every month.

My sincere thanks extend to many friends who have accompanied me on this journey. Maggie Bates was my Nordic walk leader throughout the project and a lifelong friend. Maggie, Pete, Rachel, Jane, and other close friends from church, supported me through the research study, the COVID-19 pandemic, and were there to listen, when I had doubts about finishing this thesis on time. Beccy Trease has been a close friend, encourager and brought academic wisdom and clarity.

We lost my dad last November 2022, so this thesis is dedicated to him. I am so proud of the resilience of his wife, Shelagh, and my siblings, Clare, Adrian, and Phillip. My Mum has always believed in me, and I am thankful for her selfless love, humour, messages of encouragement and emojis!

Finally, I am grateful for the unwavering support, love, and encouragement of my husband Peter, and our three daughters, Caitlin, Elise, and Tasha. I could not have done this without your patience, meals, kindness and understanding. It has been a huge journey and a privilege to study at the same time as my girls. I am so proud of you all.

# Abstract

#### Background

Nordic Walking (NW) is an enhanced walking technique that uses special poles to increase the effort of the arms and legs. NW provides an all over body workout that is reported to improve posture and gait, strengthen the back and abdominal muscles, reduce the impact on joints and burn 20% more calories than walking without poles (British Nordic Walking, 2023b). There is a growing body of research supporting the use of NW as a means of regular, outdoor exercise for people of all ages and for those with a range of physical and mental health challenges. Research of NW shows promising outcomes for people with Parkinson's (PwP), with significant improvements in walking speed and stride length, postural stability, gait, and in cognitive aspects of movement preparation (Ebersbach et al., 2014). However, the effectiveness and results of NW research in this population are inconsistent as there is heterogeneity of participants, various methodologies, no standardised model of NW delivery, and little data about the longer-term physical and psychological implications of NW.

This MPhil aimed to address this gap by exploring the impact of NW as a novel form of neurorehabilitation, taking the perspective of PwP on their quality of life/non-motor symptoms (NMS) into account, as well as measuring quantitative physical health outcomes. This study was conducted as society emerged from the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. PwP, with a diverse range of symptoms and backgrounds, were searching for safe ways to exercise outdoors, in a group, guided by an instructor with experience of Parkinson's Disease (PD) and exercise. The data from this MPhil could inform new models of NW intervention, which might be suitable for larger effectiveness trials.

#### Aims

- 1. Explore the motor (physical) and non-motor (psychological and quality of life) impact of an eight-week programme of NW for PwP, by establishing the short-term and longer-term (after six months) impact of NW as a means of neurorehabilitation in this population.
- 2. Determine the feasibility and accessibility of the NW intervention for a diverse sample of PwP.
- 3. Understand the core components needed to implement a NW group intervention for PwP in a community rehabilitation setting.

#### Methods

A narrative literature review explored the impact and effectiveness of NW in PwP, with results presented in Chapter 1.

A quantitative repeated measures study is presented in Chapter 2. PwP were assigned to receive an eight-week course of NW intervention delivered by a trained NW instructor (NWI) who was also a Parkinson's Disease Nurse Specialist (PDNS). Timed up and go (TUG), 10 metres and 20 metres walk tests (MWT), Tragus to wall distance (posture), Berg Balance (BB) and the Non-Motor Symptoms Scale (NMSS) questionnaires were recorded at baseline (T0), week eight (T1), and at month six (T2). Data were analysed using descriptive statistics

and the mean change over time explored using two tailed paired t-tests. Field notes were written at the end of every NW session and were an adjunct to the main pre-post repeated measures study.

Three focus groups (FGs) were conducted to understand the core components and characteristics required to implement outdoor community NW rehabilitation groups for PwP (Chapter 3). Two FGs for PwP and one for NWIs and a walk leader (WL) were conducted. Participants were recruited from the first study, employing the same eligibility criteria. Participants were recruited via a research call from Parkinson's UK, from local Parkinson's Disease (PD) support groups, and via NHS colleagues. Data were analysed using thematic analysis (TA) methods and reviewed by a second researcher (Braun and Clarke, 2006). The Behaviour Change Wheel (Mitchie, 2011) was used as a theoretical framework for organising the themes and facilitated recommendations for future research, policy, and clinical practice. These recommendations were reported as core components.

#### Results

The literature review provided the following definition of NW: "An intensification of regular walking thanks to the active use of a pair of specially designed NW poles, whilst maintaining the characteristics of natural, bio-mechanically correct walking and appropriate posture," (Mass, 2023), p33. Previously published studies confirmed the potential for NW as a novel form of neurorehabilitation (Cugusi et al., 2017), (Silverberg and Prejserowicz, 2018), (Salse-Batán et al., 2022). Theories of rehabilitation for PwP were defined and explored, including a health psychological approach and practical exercise recommendations (Parkinson's UK's excellence network, (Ramaswamy et al., 2018)). Engagement (or lack thereof) with therapy programmes was examined, in the context of health psychology and behaviour change theories, such as Michie's behaviour change wheel (BCW) (Michie et al., 2011).

The repeated measures study recruited 49 PwP and of this sample, 40 PwP (n=27 males) completed eight weeks of NW intervention. PwP ranged from 47 to 83 years, mean age 66. Mean Hoehn and Yahr (H&Y) stage of PD was 2.20, (range 1-4). Thirty-nine PwP (n=24 males) completed eight-week follow-up physical assessments and 34 (n=19 males) returned for six month follow up data collection. The return rate for NMSS questionnaires at baseline was (n=24, 61.5%), at week eight (n=13, 33.3%) and month six (n=20, 51.3%). Of 39 PwP who completed the intervention and assessments, statistically significant improvements were observed in the following motor assessments: 10 MWT and 20 MWT (gait speed and cadence), TUG, Tragus, all with p values <0.001. The mean change in Tragus was -2.03 cm after eight weeks and this improved six months post intervention (-2.73 cm). These improvements (p < 0.001) indicated continued benefits of a NW programme after the period of intervention. Improvements were recorded in NMS, especially dimensions of sleep and fatigue, mood and cognition and some urinary symptoms. All motor and some of the nonmotor improvements persisted after six months. Data from nine participants who did not complete eight-weeks of NW intervention (NMSS and field notes) were analysed and explored. There was a mean reduction in the total NMSS of -10.08 points after eight weeks of NW (p value 0.03). This sample of PwP appeared to have improved NMSS across all domains and most notably sleep and fatigue (p value 0.006), cognition and mood (p value 0.77), and urinary symptoms (p value 0.24). These improved quality of life dimensions were substantiated in the field notes. This was a diverse sample and some participants had high baseline scores for cognition, mood, and urinary symptoms. An unanticipated result was a general improvement in reported urinary symptoms after the intervention (-2.46), (p value

0.25), which could have clinical implications if NW was found to positively impact core stability and pelvic floor musculature. This warrants further exploration in the literature and additional studies. Combined with improvements in speed of walking, posture and confidence, this sample of PwP articulated a reduced fear of falls, which they attributed to NW. There were no adverse events.

Fifteen participants were recruited into the three FGs, including 11 PwP (n=6 males), three British Nordic Walking Instructors (BNWI) (n=1 male) and one walk leader (WL, n=0 male). PwP ranged in age from 51 to 80 (median 72) years. Analysis of the FG data highlighted six main themes: physical benefits, social interaction, core practical components, qualities and characteristics of the NWI, risk management and safety, and other facilitators for delivering community NW groups. PwP reported physical and psychological benefits from participating in an eight-week programme of NW. Optimising safety was an important theme, utilising COVID-19 screening tests and health screening risk assessments (PARQa) for PD and complex comorbidities. Core components required to deliver community PD rehabilitation groups include practical facilitators: parking, public transport (access), toilets and café (amenities), an instructor with knowledge and experience of PD, and effective partnerships with PUK and BNW. Opportunities to NW with friends and family at groups and parkrun may promote a change in behaviour or lifestyle that has a longer-term impact. Within this study, PwP enjoyed peer support and appreciated NW outside in the park.

#### Conclusion

These studies suggest that an eight-week programme of NW improves mobility, upright posture, NMS domains including cognition, mood, sleep, fatigue, and some urinary symptoms in PwP. Results from the repeated measures study indicate that further trials are needed to explore NW effectiveness and implementation in the NHS. Future studies could employ a randomised controlled trial (RCT) design comparing NW to routine care or to specialist, supervised community exercise or physical activity-based interventions. Results from both studies demonstrate that the aims of the MPhil were fulfilled, and recommendations were made for future research and practice. Future NW community rehabilitation groups for PwP could seek NHS, social values funding, social prescribing (NHS England), or third-party sources, in partnership with BNW and PUK.

**Key words.** Nordic Walking, Parkinson's, Parkinson's Disease, motor symptoms, non-motor symptoms, repeated measures, focus group, community rehabilitation.

**Ethical considerations.** Ethical approval was granted in September 2021, by the University of Nottingham, Faculty of Medicine Research Ethics Committee. REC ref: FMHS 331-0821 (Appendix 1).

# Table of Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Meaning	
AMED	Allied and Complementary Medicine Database	
АРА	American Psychological Association	
BB	Berg balance	
BCW	Behaviour Change Wheel	
BNW	British Nordic Walking	
BNWI	BNW Instructor	
CI	Confidence Interval	
CINAHL	Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature	
COM-B	Capability, Opportunity, Motivation-Behaviour change	
СОМ	Capability, Opportunity, Motivation	
COVID-19	Coronavirus-19 pandemic	
CPD	Continuing professional development	
DBS	Deep brain stimulation	
Dr	Doctor	
FG	Focus group	
FoG	Freezing of Gait	
H&Y	Hoehn and Yahr (Stage of Parkinson's)	
HEP	Home Exercise Programme	
<sup>2</sup>	The percentage of variance across studies that is due to	
	heterogeneity rather than chance.	
INWA	International Nordic Walking Association (federation).	
JBI	Joanna Briggs Institute	
LSVT	Lee Silverman Voice Training	
LSVT BIG	LSVT Big	
MDT	Multi-Disciplinary Team	
MPhil	Master of Philosophy	
MWT	Metre Walk Test	
NHS	National Health Service	
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence	
NMS	Non-Motor Symptoms	
NMSS	Non-Motor Symptoms Scale	
NMS Quest	NMS Questionnaire	
NSF	National Service Framework	
NW	Nordic Walking	
NWI	Nordic Walking Instructor	
NRC	National Rehabilitation Centre	
PARQ	Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire	

PARQa	PARQ adapted for PwP	
PEMRIG	Parkinson's East Midlands Research Interest Group	
PIP	Personal Independence Payment	
PRISMA	Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses	
PubMed	Free full-text archive of biomedical and life sciences.	
PD	Parkinson's Disease	
PDNS	PD Nurse Specialist	
PPE	Protective personal equipment	
PUK	Parkinson's UK	
PwP	People with Parkinson's	
RA	Rheumatoid Arthritis	
RAND	Health related Quality of life questionnaire (RAND-36).	
RCT	Randomised Controlled Trial	
SCT	Social Cognitive Theory	
SM	Sarah McCracken	
SMD	Standardised Mean Difference	
SPSS	Statistical Package for Social Sciences	
ТА	Thematic Analysis	
TTM	The Transtheoretical Model	
TUG	Timed up and go	
TWD	Tragus to wall distance	
UoN	University of Nottingham	
WHO	World Health Organisation	
WL	Walk Leader	

# **Table of Contents**

Chapter	1	Introduction	. 1
1.1	Overv	iew	. 1
1.2	Parkir	ison's Disease (PD)	. 2
	1.2.1	PD definition and symptoms	. 2
	1.2.2	PD incidence and prevalence	. 2
	1.2.3	PD treatment interventions	. 2
1.3	Rehab	ilitation Theory	. 4
	1.3.1	Rehabilitation defined	. 4
	1.3.2	Rehabilitation for Parkinson's Disease	. 4
	1.3.3	Behaviour Change Wheel	. 5
1.4	Nordi	c Walking	. 7
	1.4.1	Background to Nordic Walking	. 7
	1.4.2	Evidence for Nordic Walking for Parkinson's Disease	. 7
1.5	Conte	xt of the Study: Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic	10
1.6	Aims	of the Study	11
1.7	Struct	ure of the MPhil	11
	1.7.1	Quantitative repeated measures pre-post study	11
	1.7.2	Qualitative focus group study	11
Chapter	2	Repeated measures feasibility study	12
2.1	Metho	ods	12
	2.1.1	Research design	12
	2.1.2	Recruitment	13
	2.1.3	Intervention	15
	2.1.4	Assessments	19
	2.1.5	Fidelity of the intervention	21
	2.1.6	Data storage	22
	2.1.7	Data analysis methods	22
	2.1.8	Ethical approval	23
	2.1.9	Public and patient involvement	23
2.2	Result	S	23
	2.2.1	Recruitment	23
	2.2.2	Participant characteristics	24
	2.2.3	Attrition and intervention fidelity from field notes	25
	2.2.4	Outcome measures	26
2.3	Discus	ssion	35
	2.3.1	Principal findings	35
	2.3.2	Strengths and weaknesses of the study	35
	2.3.3	Results in relation to other studies	38
	2.3.4	Conclusion	40
Chapter	3	Focus Group Study	41
3.1	Metho	ods	41
	3.1.1	Research design	41
	3.1.2	Recruitment	42
	3.1.3	Eligibility	43

	3.1.4	Process during the FG	43
	3.1.5	Ethical approval	45
	3.1.6	Public and patient involvement	45
3.2	Result	S	45
	3.2.1	Description of the sample	45
	3.2.2	Thematic analysis	46
3.3	Discus	sion	54
	3.3.1	Principal findings.	54
	3.3.2	Strengths and weaknesses of the study	54
	3.3.3	Results in relation to other studies	55
	3.3.4	Meaning of the study: possible mechanisms and implications for clinicians or	
		policymakers	58
3.4	Conclu	usion	. 59
Chapter		Discussion	
4.1	Stater	nent of Principal Findings	61
4.2	Comp	arison of Findings to Other Literature	61
4.3	Streng	ths and Weaknesses of the MPhil	64
4.4		ing of the Study: Possible Mechanisms and Implications for Clinicians or	
		makers	
4.5		wered Questions and Future Research	
4.6		usion	. 70
Chapter	5	References	
Chapter	6	Appendices	. 79

# List of Tables

Table 1 INWA Ten steps method and relationship to PwP	17
Table 2 Demographic characteristics of participants.	24
Table 3 Effect of eight-week intervention (NW) in PwP from week 0 to week eight	28
Table 4 Effect of eight-week intervention (NW) in PwP from week 0 to month six	31
Table 5 Effect of eight-week intervention (NW) in PwP from week eight to month six	34
Table 6 Focus group study. Description of the sample	45
Table 7 Focus group themes and sub themes	46
Table 8 Parkinson's acronym of subthemes.	59

# List of Figures

Figure 1 Types, dose and examples of ideal exercise for PwP	3
Figure 2 Behaviour Change Wheel	6
Figure 3 Histogram of age of participants (years)	25
Figure 4 Histogram showing the change in mean time for 10 MWT from week 0 to week eight (seconds)	29

# **CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Overview

In March 2020, the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic resulted in many services for Parkinson's Disease (PD) being stopped (World Health Organisation, 2021). NHS hospital clinics moved to virtual telephone or video appointments, and gym and physiotherapy rehabilitation units closed for many months (Dorsey et al., 2020). Community PD services adapted quickly, using personal protective equipment (PPE), robust risk assessments and novel ways of working, as described by Ellis et al, (2022). Many PwP experienced physical deconditioning due to reduced levels of activity (Ellis et al., 2022) and there was a tangible impact on well-being, mental health and social isolation (Brooks et al., 2021). Many PwP became more sedentary or fearful of leaving home (Dommershuijsen et al., 2021). Some PwP chose to keep active by walking, cycling, gardening or walking their dog. This data was collected as part of a pilot study, exploring the barriers and benefits of NW for PwP (McCracken et al., 2021). In this study, NW was offered outdoors, at the University of Nottingham (UoN) in July 2020, by a Parkinson's Disease nurse specialist (PDNS)/lead researcher (SM), when people were permitted to exercise in small groups outside, following strict COVID-19 government guidelines (www.gov.uk, 2021). This small proof-of-concept study with ten participants (McCracken et al., 2021), indicated that it was possible for PwP to NW, but what was not known were the requirements to implement these groups in a community rehabilitation setting or the impact the intervention would have on their health.

As COVID-19 restrictions lifted, many PwP were looking for safe ways to exercise and to maintain fitness, alone or in community rehabilitation groups (Yang et al., 2022). Some individuals attended new PD physiotherapy exercise classes over 'Zoom' or other social media platforms (Neuro Heroes, 2023). There was a rise in telemedicine and novel technologies (Dorsey et al., 2020). A question posed by Domingos was '*Is being physically active enough, or do PwP need structured supervised exercise? Lessons learned from COVID-19*' (Domingos et al., 2022b). This question was explored in more detail in this MPhil study in the context of a community rehabilitation NW intervention, delivered by a PDNS.

NW is a growing area of research interest, owing to its global rise in popularity over the past 20 years; as a sport, leisure activity and a novel rehabilitation intervention (Pellegrini et al., 2015, International Nordic Walking Federation, 2023). Current literature focusses on the physical impact on posture, walking speed, balance, and gait. There is a gap in qualitative research on NW from the perspective of people living with neurological conditions, such as PD. One question that warrants further exploration is, 'What do PwP believe to be the core features of NW and how, as an intervention, can it be done in practice?' Physical rehabilitation for PwP is usually delivered by neurological physiotherapists rather than PDNS, in a gym, rehabilitation unit, clinic or at home, with NHS waiting lists for therapy. This study investigates a NW intervention, delivered in a group by a PDNS, which has potential to be more cost-effective, accessible, and timely than current service provisions. The study explores whether it is feasible, and if there is any indication of benefit.

# 1.2 Parkinson's Disease (PD)

# 1.2.1 PD definition and symptoms

PD is caused by degeneration of nerve cells in the substantia nigra area of the brain (De Santis and Kaplan, 2020). This leads to a reduction in the neurotransmitter, dopamine, which is an important chemical for movement, mood, memory, attention, motivation, and pleasure (Rogers et al., 2017).

The widely accepted criteria for a diagnosis of Parkinson's are the presence of bradykinesia (slow movements) with one or more of the following symptoms: tremor at rest, rigidity, and postural instability (Bloem et al., 2021). Tremor can impact upon daily life (Silva et al., 2016) and lead to reduced dexterity, difficulties with work, operating machinery, computers, technologies, activities of daily living such as personal care (Abate et al., 2017), feeding, and some hobbies. Rigidity for some PwP can be painful, unpleasant and might have an associated dystonia or clawing of the hands and feet (McDonald et al., 2018). In addition, PwP may experience slow or reduced movements, including micrographia (small handwriting) (Behrman et al., 2020). In the lower limbs, bradykinesia can lead to a shorter stride, shuffling gait, poor balance (Wróblewska et al., 2019), and an increased risk of falls (Ellis et al., 2022). Bradykinesia in the hands and fingers could result in reduced grip power and dexterity (Yang et al., 2022). Postural instability is a complex and challenging feature of Parkinson's as it may lead to impaired balance and, ultimately falls (Franzoni et al., 2018).

# 1.2.2 PD incidence and prevalence

PD is the fastest growing neurological long-term condition globally (Dorsey et al., 2018a). There are around 145,000 people living with PD in the UK according to data from PUK (Parkinsons.org.uk, 2023a). The global prevalence of PD doubled between 1990 and 2015, that is the proportion of the population living with PD increased two-fold over a 25-year period (Abate et al., 2017). An international study that completed a systematic analysis of the burden of neurological diseases, estimates that there are over 6.2 million individuals who currently have PD (Abate et al., 2017). The incidence of new cases rises with age, and it is recognised that the world's population is ageing (Bloem et al., 2021). Prospective data analysis, from the Global Burden of Disease study, estimates that the prevalence of people living with PD will rise to 12.9 million people by 2040 (Abate et al., 2017).

# 1.2.3 PD treatment interventions

Medication and, for some, deep brain stimulation (DBS) surgery serves to reduce the symptoms of PD and drugs can replace some of the 'lost' dopamine. There is no single cure. PwP are looking for non-drug therapies to complement their complex treatment plans (Bloem et al., 2015). Research indicates that lifestyle adjustments, including exercise has many benefits, both physical and non-motor/ psychological (Ramaswamy et al., 2018). Dr Ramaswamy, a doctor of physiotherapy, cited exercise as a means of taking control and fighting back against PD. Her research captured qualitative quotations from PwP in addition to exploring the literature. In other animal model studies, there was a suggested neuroprotective impact of exercise, indicating a halt or slowing down of disease progression (Schenkman et al., 2018). NW was included as part of Ramaswamy's Parkinson's Exercise Framework (Parkinsons.org.uk, 2023b).

The output from her studies were recommendations for the design, type and intensity of exercise for PwP as shown in Figure 11 (Ramaswamy et al., 2018).



Figure 11 Types, dose and examples of ideal exercise for PwP

Source: Ramaswamy et al., 2018

PD is a neurodegenerative, long-term condition. Symptoms usually deteriorate over many years, but the rate of disease progression does not follow a linear pattern. The age of the person at the onset of diagnosis is somewhat indicative of the trajectory of deterioration (Bovenzi et al., 2023), and yet every PwP is different and no two age matched pairs are the same (Dorsey et al., 2018a). However, physical exercise has been shown in some studies to moderate symptoms and PwP who exercise frequently have been found to require less medication, have better balance (Bloem et al., 2016), improved gait (Gougeon et al., 2017), and postural stability (Reuter et al., 2011). They might experience fewer non-motor symptoms (De Santis and Kaplan, 2020, Chaudhuri et al., 2006) and enjoy a better quality of life (Bullo et al., 2018). Exercise can therefore form part of the rehabilitation process or programme for PwP.

### 1.3 Rehabilitation Theory

#### 1.3.1 Rehabilitation defined

NHS England (2016) defines rehabilitation as "a philosophy of care that helps to ensure people are included in their communities, employment, and education rather than being isolated from the mainstream and pushed through a system with ever-dwindling hopes of leading a fulfilling life. It is increasingly acknowledged that effective rehabilitation delivers better outcomes and improved quality of life and has the potential to reduce health inequalities and make significant cost savings across the health and care system" (N.H.S., 2016, p.5). Rehabilitation can be used for prevention or early intervention. It is also important for the maintenance of function and to address dynamic and changing health and psychosocial needs. The scope of rehabilitation interventions is broad and needs to be tailored to the individual (person-centred), as described by Seale et al (Seale et al., 2013).

#### 1.3.2 Rehabilitation for Parkinson's Disease

When people with a long-term medical or neurological condition, such as PD, become unexpectedly ill or have an exacerbation, they benefit from specialist rehabilitation interventions to help them regain or maximise their independence. This was described in detail in the National Service Framework (NSF) for long term conditions (National Service Framework, 2005). Usual NHS service provision for PD varies across the country (Brock et al., 2019) but most PwP have access to a consultant neurologist or specialist geriatrician, a PD Nurse Specialist (PDNS), and some members of a multi-disciplinary team (MDT), as described in the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidelines for Parkinson's (NICE, 2017). An ideal MDT for PwP comprises the patient, Parkinson's Disease Nurse Specialist (PDNS), neurophysiotherapist, occupational therapist, speech and language therapist, neurologist, specialist geriatrician, clinical neuropsychologist, cognitive behavioural therapist, assistant practitioner, dietician, social care services, the voluntary sector and palliative services. The 'ideal' MDT for PwP was described in a recent book by Lindop and Skelly (2022), and included a chapter contribution from local PDNS, lead researcher, McCracken (2022) (Lindop and Skelly, 2022). Rehabilitation needs to be holistic and tailored to the individual's physical or non-motor needs. Physiotherapy is usually delivered in an NHS rehabilitation unit with access to gym equipment, long wide corridors, and space to practice a tailored exercise programme (Schirinzi et al., 2020). A home exercise programme (HEP) complements the activities in the gym and the aim is for selfmanagement and maintenance or improvement in function, as cited by Tuijt (2020).

The intervention within this MPhil focused on NW, a novel sport that could be harnessed as a means of rehabilitation for PwP. In the following literature, NW was found to be effective at treating several motor symptoms: freezing of gait (Wróblewska et al., 2019), falls (Yang et al., 2022) balance (Salse-Batán et al., 2022) posture (Lindholm et al., 2021) shuffling gait (Szefler-Derela et al., 2020) and slow speed of walking (Monteiro et al., 2017).

However, PwP need to engage in rehabilitation for it to be successful, and there are many barriers to exercise that are intrinsic and extrinsic to the PwP (White et al., 2023). Internal factors include a lack of drive or motivation to exercise, that may be worse due to lower levels of the neurotransmitter, dopamine (Radder et al., 2020). Apathy is cited as a non-motor symptom (NMS) of PD and coupled with slow physical movements and the

challenge of PD medication timing, exercise can become another 'chore' (Domingos et al., 2022b). Further barriers include: fear of falling, cost, transport, accessibility of classes, and lack of available activities to suit personal choice (Ramaswamy et al., 2018). Depression, low mood, and pain (three more NMS) can also contribute to reasons not to engage in rehabilitation programmes (De Santis and Kaplan, 2020). PwP may struggle to find exercise interventions that they enjoy and there are groups of PwP who never exercise at all, either through choice or lack of opportunity, ability, or motivation (Ellis et al., 2013).

Health psychology plays an important role in rehabilitation, including the role of self-efficacy and behaviour change theories (Tuijt et al., 2020). Health psychology examines how biological, social, and psychological factors influence health and illness. Health psychologists use psychological science to promote health, prevent illness and improve health care systems (American Psychological Association, 2022). This approach corresponds with a holistic or integrated approach to rehabilitation and PD management, adopted by many specialists in this field. Facilitating PwP to change their habits, and to start new exercise activities, is multi-factorial as the PD population is heterogenous, made up of complex individuals, who make choices about their health and lifestyle. Many PD researchers are keen for all PD professionals, including PDNS, to promote healthy lifestyle options from diagnosis onwards (Ramaswamy et al., 2018). Bloem's study (2015), of 33 RCT's, advocated non-pharmacological treatments such as exercise, dance and music therapy, as positive adjuncts to medication and advanced therapies for PD (Bloem et al., 2015). Two hundred years after James Parkinson wrote his seminal paper on the shaking palsy, McDonald et al wrote a biographical account of Dr Parkinson. They documented that he was a strong believer in the role of integrative medicine, "to go beyond treating the disease and to recognise the importance of holistic care." (McDonald et al., 2018).

Theories of behaviour and behaviour change across the social and behavioural sciences were defined and explored by Davis et al (2015). Davis's study preceded the study by Tuijt et al (2020) and resonated with the definition of behaviour change theories in health psychology above, by the American Psychological Association (APA) (Davis et al., 2015, American Psychological Association, 2022). Davis discussed change health-related behaviours and stated that most public health interventions focus on individual capabilities and motivation, rather than the local context and social factors (Glanz and Bishop, 2010). Davis suggested that the effectiveness of an intervention may be improved by examining a wider range of theories that influence behaviour: social, cultural, and economic factors (Glanz and Bishop, 2010). Glanz and Bishop (2010) stressed the importance of theoretical models in public health and health promotion, as an important means of bridging the divide between theory, practice, and research. Michie et al developed the application of theory to a behaviour change framework, described below (Michie et al., 2011). Other behaviour change models include: The Health Belief Model (HBM), The Transtheoretical Model/Stages of Change (TTM), Social Cognitive Theory (SCT) and The Social Ecological Model. However, only the Behaviour Change Wheel (BCW) will be discussed as an example of how health psychology can be utilised.

#### 1.3.3 Behaviour Change Wheel

The BCW framework was devised by Michie et al, following a systematic review of electronic databases and consultation with behaviour change experts (Michie et al., 2011). They evaluated 19 frameworks according to three criteria: coherence, comprehensiveness, and a

clear link to an overarching behaviour change model. The hub of the BCW, (Figure 22) is the COM-B change system: capability, opportunity, and motivation. Around the centre are nine intervention functions aimed at addressing one or more of the COM deficits. The outer ring comprises seven policy categories that could facilitate the interventions.

Michie's BCW (Michie et al., 2011) provided a framework to investigate complex factors in evidence-based practice, public health, and engagement with rehabilitation. This MPhil focused on NW sessions, and there was potential to use Michie's theory to help understand the rationale for PwP to attend a NW group and the motivation to change and continue to exercise (lifestyle factors). Motivation to exercise, and to embed this into routine, are key features in maintaining fitness (White et al., 2023). Some PwP are apathetic and lack drive so there is a barrier to initiating and engaging with rehabilitation programmes (Bovenzi et al., 2023). A study conducted by Aliberti investigated the motivation of women to NW after the COVID-19 pandemic. They cited physical and psychological benefits as drivers for change; and the motivation of exercising in a group, outdoors (Aliberti, 2023).

BCW provided an integrated approach to behaviour change. Other frameworks focussed on the individual or the disease, but few addressed the psycho-social aspects of change. A recent study by Ahern et al cited Michie's approach but did not specify the BCW. Ahern's systematic review protocol (Ahern et al., 2022) synthesized the available evidence about interventions for PwP by addressing barriers to exercise, self-efficacy and exercise adherence. However, to the best of knowledge from available literature, there were no previous studies that adopted the BCW in the presence of NW for PwP.



#### Figure 22 Behaviour Change Wheel

Source: Michie et al., 2011

#### 1.4 Nordic Walking

#### 1.4.1 Background to Nordic Walking

Nordic Walking (NW) started in the 1930's when Finnish cross-country skiers used their ski poles for summer training. In 1967 Leena Jääskeläinen, a professor in sport sciences, introduced walking with ski poles and within a few years had rolled it out as a recognised sport in Finnish schools (Mass, 2023). Nordic walking poles can facilitate a more upright posture, which in turn activates the core muscles of the torso, to improve postural stability (Gougeon et al., 2017). Poles are placed at a 45-degree angle to the body, and they propel the person forward, using exaggerated big amplitude movements (Cugusi et al., 2017). NW provides an all over body workout using 90% of skeletal muscle and burns more calories than conventional walking, (Reuter et al., 2011). The INWA (International NW Association) ten step method of NW is taught by a qualified INWA instructor (NWI) to individuals or groups (Mass, 2023).

The evidence base for NW as a form of rehabilitation and maintenance of function is growing. Several good quality studies suggest it may be suitable for people with a range of disabilities including neurological diseases like Parkinson's (Silva et al., 2016), arthritis (Domaille et al., 2020), leg amputation, people recovering from breast cancer surgery (Fischer et al., 2015), back pain, hip pain (Silverberg et al., 2016) and mental illness (Liu et al., 2022). NW has been endorsed by the UK Chief Medical Officer (Gibson-Moore, 2019).

#### 1.4.2 Evidence for Nordic Walking for Parkinson's Disease

#### A narrative review of the current literature

A narrative review of international research was conducted, using these search terms: 'NW', 'PD', 'exercise', 'mobility' and 'rehabilitation'. The aim was to find studies that provided outcome measure data that was repeated (usually six to eight weeks) on the effect of NW as an intervention (according to INWA method, if possible) within PwP (any stage of diagnosis). Studies with longitudinal follow-up data (at six months or longer) were important to ascertain whether there were any longer-term benefits after the period of NW intervention. The following databases were searched from 2003-2023, because of the global rise in NW popularity, as a novel sport, over the past 20 years: CINAHL, the Cochrane library, PubMed and AMED. High quality papers were selected and critically appraised using the Joanna Briggs institute (JBI) appraisal tools for randomised controlled trials (RCTs) and systematic reviews (Dos Santos et al., 2018). RCTs, cohort studies, systematic reviews and meta-analyses were included. Single case design studies and those with low fidelity were excluded. Eighteen studies were critically reviewed; two were excluded due to a lack of longitudinal data and in one study the NW technique did not follow the INWA method, leaving 15 studies in the final review.

A summary table of comparative NW studies is included in Appendix 2. Trends and themes were identified across the studies, with many researchers employing the same, or similar, physical and non-motor outcome measures. The Timed up and go (TUG) (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991), Ten metres walk test (10MWT) (Watson, 2002) and non-motor symptoms scale (NMSS) (Chaudhuri et al., 2007) are established, standardised, and validated outcome measures that are well-suited to this area of neurorehabilitation. Some recent studies have built upon the results of earlier NW research, by replicating study design

or adopting recommendations for improving the research methodology (Cugusi et al., 2017, Granziera et al., 2021, Salse-Batán et al., 2022).

Many of the studies of NW showed an immediate benefit to physical and psychological health in PwP. A Dutch study (van Eijkeren et al., 2008) tested subjects at baseline and after six weeks of twice weekly NW intervention. This was a longitudinal study with follow-up at 6 weeks and 5 months. Their findings indicated that there were improvements in the 10 MWT (Watson, 2002) and TUG (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991) as well as improvements in the quality-of-life questionnaire PDQ 39 (Peto et al., 1998). These results persisted up to five months, but there were few longitudinal studies available in this population.

Using a different design, Reuter conducted an RCT where 90 participants were randomised into three different exercise groups: flexibility exercises with relaxation, NW and 'just walking' (a guided walk, without poles). Their data suggested that NW was superior to the alternative exercise forms in improving stride length, gait, and balance (Reuter et al., 2011). Cugusi's RCT with 20 participants (Cugusi et al., 2015), comparing NW with conventional care/no exercise had similar findings. Their study reported improvements from baseline for the NW arm of the study in TUG, and the NMS 'Quest' questionnaire (NMSQ), (Appendix 11), (Chaudhuri, 2007), and improvements in the six-metre walk test. The duration of NW was 60 minutes, twice per week for 12 weeks with PwP at Hoehn and Yahr (H&Y) stages 1-3 (early to moderate disease) (Hoehn and Yahr, 2001).

However, when these individual studies were combined in review format, the results were not as consistent. A large systematic review by Cugusi identified 66 studies and 221 participants. They critically appraised six RCTs with inconclusive results. Their main finding was that there was too much heterogeneity (differences) between subjects regarding the age of participants, disease duration and stage of disease. There were also discrepancies in research design to draw meaningful conclusions from the data, despite large numbers of studies and participants (Cugusi et al., 2017). Their paper included a table of comparative studies as well as recommendations for the standardisation of future research in the context of PD. They concluded that NW was feasible, affordable and that further studies should explore whether NW could be an adjunct therapy to conventional rehabilitation models. Despite the positive outcomes found in the small number of NW studies, there is still a gap in empirical evidence that this intervention is, or is not, better than others.

The Ebersbach studies were among the first to explore the impact of large amplitude (big movements) training programmes for PwP (Ebersbach et al., 2010, Ebersbach et al., 2014). Physiotherapists based their new rehabilitation programmes on previous studies in the field of specialist speech and language therapy, where a PwP is intensively trained and supported over four weeks to use their loud voice, by repeating prescribed vocal exercises and singing. A specialist practitioner delivers the course. An example is Lee Silverman Voice Treatment (LSVT) (Sapir et al., 2011). Ebersbach carried out an RCT comparing LSVT BIG (a physiotherapy standardised programme of augmented exercises) to NW and a home exercise programme (HEP) (Ebersbach et al., 2010). LSVT BIG was found to be superior to NW and HEP and this has had an impact on current physiotherapy clinical practice (Ramaswamy et al., 2018, Lindop and Skelly, 2022). However, the Ebersbach studies (2010) compared different intervention frequencies:

- NW intervention = 60 minutes, twice per week, for 8 weeks
- LSVT BIG intervention = 60 minutes, four times per week, for 4 weeks
- HEP intervention = one hour per week, once per week, for 4 weeks

One might argue that there were too many variables, and it was not realistic to compare such disparate interventions. In addition, LSVT BIG was delivered by physiotherapists and the NW programme was delivered by a NW instructor, who was not a clinician. This is a recurring theme in many NW studies in this population.

A similar rehabilitation intervention, widely adopted for PwP is PD Warrior©, although there are few studies available as it is a novel programme (Warrior, 2023). Launched in Australia in 2012 it is gaining popularity with PwP, and health professionals, due to its growing evidence base and parallel findings with the LSVT BIG studies (Ramaswamy et al., 2018). Like these interventions, NW emphasises and reinforces large, exaggerated movements of the arms and legs. Bilateral arm-swing (in a PD population with unilateral reduced arm-swing) is encouraged by using two lightweight, specially adapted NW poles with a technique that promotes 30 degrees forward and backward, pendulum-like motion from the shoulder joint (Leal-Nascimento et al., 2022). In addition, the correct use of NW poles, placed at a 45-degree angle to the body to promote an upright posture, can augment the cadence or stride, resulting in longer, fewer steps over a measured course (Leal-Nascimento et al., 2022).

Bombieri's study (2017) 'Walking on four limbs: A systematic review of NW in PD', suggested that the NW poles could spread the load and effort of walking by recruiting more movement in the arms and legs (Bombieri et al., 2017). They extrapolated that impact on the joints would be reduced in the hips, knees, and ankles. This is supported by earlier studies on people without PD (Farnsworth and Burtscher, 2010). One assumption is that NW reduces the likelihood of injury, compared to other high impact sports or exercise modalities such as running or tennis. This is a popular concept for older adults or PwP who might not enjoy traditional exercise programmes, or for whom their previous hobbies and sports have had to be adapted, due to disease progression. This is gaining some traction in the literature, and in recent podcasts, within the PD community (Movers and Shakers, 2023), as there appears to be a range of positive physical outcomes when comparing NW to walking without poles (Reuter et al., 2011). The augmented arm movements serve to increase upper body strength and core stability. The poles can increase the base of support and enhance confidence in a PwP with impaired balance (Bang and Shin, 2017, Giardini et al., 2018).

Radder's study was a recent meta-analysis of physiotherapy rehabilitation interventions for PwP (Radder et al., 2020). A total of 191 trials with 7,998 participants were included. Traditional physiotherapy was compared to novel sports and hobbies including dance, martial arts, dual tasking, exergaming (technology-driven physical activities such as a static exercise bike while using a virtual reality headset or video of a mountain), hydrotherapy, NW, and resistance training. The individual sports were not compared to each other, only to routine physiotherapy. Their meta-analysis provided a comprehensive overview of the evidence base for these novel forms of rehabilitation, giving the clinician and PwP choice about a tailored, individualised programme of therapy. NW, along with dance and martial arts, showed favourable changes in motor symptoms, balance, and gait.

Few of the papers in this chapter described the NW intervention in detail. Several reported a period of warm-up exercises, learning the technique, practising the NW movements and a

period of cool-down stretches e.g., Radder et al., 2020 and Yang et al., 2022. This resonates with the INWA ten step technique (described in Chapter 2, methods), but it was not always specifically named. It is assumed that there was uniformity of NW delivery, by a suitably qualified instructor, following a standardised protocol, but other pole-walking methods that use Activator poles or trekking poles might have been included in these studies. Not all pole walking is NW, and it is beyond the scope of this MPhil to study the different NW poles and their action, nor to comment on their efficacy.

The results of the narrative literature review informed an evidence base for this MPhil study, using the same validated, specific outcome measures from larger clinical trials, in the context of Parkinson's Disease (PD).

# 1.5 Context of the Study: Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic

A thread that runs through this MPhil study is the COVID-19 pandemic (WHO, 2021), its impact upon PwP and PD services. On 11th March 2020, a global pandemic was declared by the World Health Organisation (WHO), that brought society to an abrupt halt. Schools and businesses closed for several months, care homes were closed to visitors and deaths attributed to COVID-19 totalled 229,150 people in the United Kingdom (www.gov.uk, 2021). The societal challenges faced by PwP were described in Brooks' study (2021), a scoping review addressing the social and psychological well-being of PwP (Brooks et al., 2021). When PD clinics stopped and gyms closed, PwP struggled to access their multidisciplinary team (MDT) for specialist support, advice, and physiotherapy. Some PwP, who were physically active, continued to exercise within COVID-19 guidelines. They demonstrated self-efficacy (reflecting confidence, resilience, and motivation despite the social environment) and self-management.

A model of self-management and peer support for PD was formally adopted in 2013 by PUK. A systematic review, and synthesis of qualitative literature in 2020 by Tuijt, explored selfmanagement components as experienced by PwP and their carers (Tuijt et al., 2020). Six papers were included in their thematic synthesis and seven main themes were derived. Physical exercise was a strong theme alongside medication management and psychological strategies. This is supported in other studies where exercise (non-pharmacological treatment) is used therapeutically to ameliorate symptoms, to compliment medications and advanced PD treatments such as apomorphine, duodopa, and deep brain stimulation (Bloem et al., 2015). As previously described, NW has the potential to be included as a physical activity, or exercise element, of a PwP self-management programme. It also has scope to be incorporated into a guided, group-delivered PD rehabilitation intervention.

An initial proof-of-concept study (McCracken et al., 2021), was conceived in 2019 after the lead researcher (SM) trained to become a BNWI and could see the value in its use in PwP to manage their symptoms. The NW intervention was delivered in 2020 and a research paper was published in the British Journal of Neuroscience Nursing (2021). As the pandemic receded an opportunity arose for a bigger study with a larger sample, using lessons learned from the previous research and available literature.

### 1.6 Aims of the Study

This MPhil seeks to:

- 1. Explore the motor (physical) and non-motor (psychological and quality of life) impact of an eight-week rolling programme of NW for PwP, by establishing the short-term and longer-term (after six months) impact of NW as a means of neurorehabilitation in this population.
- 2. Determine the feasibility and accessibility of the NW intervention for a diverse sample of PwP.
- 3. Understand the core components needed to implement NW groups for PwP in a community rehabilitation setting.

# 1.7 Structure of the MPhil

# 1.7.1 Quantitative repeated measures pre-post study

A longitudinal, repeated measures, feasibility study design was chosen to explore the physical impact of an eight-week NW intervention for PwP. Motor outcome measures were recorded at baseline, eight weeks, and six months. The non-motor score scale questionnaire (NMSS) was completed at the same time points. Two-tailed paired t-tests (within the same group) calculated the mean difference in score over time. The method, results and discussion of the quantitative study were described in Chapter two. This study was designed to explore the first two aims of this MPhil: The motor and non-motor impact of NW following the COVID-19 pandemic, and the feasibility and accessibility of NW for a diverse sample of PwP.

# 1.7.2 Qualitative focus group study

A FG study served to evaluate the eight-week NW intervention, by gaining the perspective of PwP, NWI and a walk leader (WL). The FGs were recorded, professionally transcribed, and analysed using thematic analysis. The method, results and discussion were written into Chapter 3. The three FGs sought to understand the third aim of this MPhil: To understand the core components and characteristics required to set up NW classes for PwP in a community rehabilitation setting.

# CHAPTER 2 REPEATED MEASURES FEASIBILITY STUDY

# 2.1 Methods

# 2.1.1 Research design

This longitudinal, repeated measures, feasibility study design, evaluated a novel intervention delivery, outcome measures and patient satisfaction. In this chapter of the thesis the methods, results, and discussion are reported.

This method was chosen because few studies have addressed the longer-term impact of a NW rehabilitation intervention for PwP. Previous NW studies in this population have focussed on physical outcome measures and reported on data after the period of intervention, usually six to eight weeks. The repeated measures design was chosen so that all participants had the opportunity to gain experience of a new skill (NW), without delay and all the outcome measures could be recorded for the same participant at three time points: baseline (week zero), eight weeks, and six months. Analysis was then conducted between the three time points (baseline-eight weeks, baseline-six months, eight weeks-six months) with an intention to reduce individual differences/variables.

A repeated measures feasibility design was chosen over a randomised controlled trial (RCT) because the aim of this study was to evaluate whether it was feasible to deliver NW in an NHS/community group setting, recruit participants and collect data. An RCT is proposed for the next stage, if found feasible in this study. The RCT study design is described by Hariton and Locascio, (2018) as the gold standard for effectiveness research, measuring the success or efficacy of a novel intervention. Randomisation reduces bias and provides a rigorous tool to study cause and effect relationships between intervention and outcome (Hariton and Locascio, 2018). Due to the need to assess the feasibility of NW with PwP in an NHS setting, the repeated measures, within subjects' design was considered the right experimental method.

The primary hypothesis was:

• That an eight-week NW intervention, delivered in a group setting according to INWA guidelines, improves gait, speed and cadence, posture, and TUG on PwP.

Secondary hypotheses were:

- That an eight-week NW intervention, described as before, improves non-motor symptoms (NMS).
- That an eight-week NW intervention has long term benefits for up to six months after the intervention period, on both motor and non-motor symptoms.

#### 2.1.2 Recruitment

#### Identifying participants

The lead researcher (SM) identified participants through clinical and professional networks. An advert (Appendix 3) was sent via professional networks or given to individuals directly by their own clinician. Twitter, email, and websites were used to advertise the study via these professional networks. The Parkinson's East Midlands research interest group (PEMRIG) and BNW placed adverts on their websites and sent emails directly to their members. Professionals working with PwP, namely PDNS and neurological physiotherapists were sought via email and Tweets and asked to distribute to their networks. Participants were also identified through local PUK branches, PUK website and the national PUK research network. The PUK branch chairs distributed study materials to their members via email. A 'snowballing' approach to participant identification was used to distribute information through PwP communities (Bryman, 2004).

#### Participant recruitment

The advert for social media (repeated measures study) (Appendix 3) included the contact details of the lead researcher. Interested people were invited to make direct contact with the lead researcher using email or telephone. Upon doing so a meeting was arranged in person at the University grounds, the location of the study and NW group intervention.

The participant information sheet, for the repeated measures study (PIS) (Appendix 4), was sent to the individuals at least 24 hours prior to the meeting, via the contact email address given. At the meeting, the eligibility criteria were checked, and participants' questions were addressed before gaining informed consent, as per the study protocol (Appendix 5).

# Eligibility

#### Inclusion criteria

- People with a diagnosis of idiopathic Parkinson's disease, as confirmed by the participant and who attended a movement disorders clinic for PwP.
- Over 18 years of age.
- Stage four or below on the Hoehn & Yahr scale (Hoehn and Yahr, 2001), determined by the PD nurse specialist (SM) before recruitment.
- Could walk for up to an hour without a walking aid as reported by the participant.
- Able to follow verbal and practical instructions.
- Able to participate in a weekly one-hour training session.
- Could provide written consent.

### Exclusion criteria

- Complex comorbidities including frequent falls and significant postural hypotension (reduction of 20mmHg systolic or greater, with adverse symptoms), assessed by SM with the adapted physical activity readiness questionnaire (PARQa) (Appendix 6).
- H&Y stage five (Hoehn and Yahr, 2001).
- Advanced dementia.

#### Justification for inclusion and exclusion criteria

People with Parkinson's classified as having disabilities aligned to the Hoehn and Yahr (1967) stages one to four were chosen to help compare the results of this study with previous research. Only in the study by Reuter was the criteria narrowed to participants in stages two and three. (Reuter et al., 2011). Most NW papers cite that the study will investigate PD characteristics for people in stage one to three (early disease, unilateral involvement to mild to moderate bilateral disease; some postural instability, physically independent), (Bang and Shin, 2017, Cugusi et al., 2015, Ebersbach et al., 2010). PwP with severe disease including advanced dementia, frequent falls or those who frequently used a wheelchair were excluded, as they could not participate in the hour-long NW intervention. However, PwP with early cognitive changes were included. The previous study by McCracken was a useful pilot, facilitating PwP to engage with the NW intervention if they were supported by a partner, carer or walk leader (McCracken et al., 2021).

#### Sample size

As this was a feasibility study no formal sample size was required to power the study (Kirkwood, 2003). However, to assess the expediency of a single staff member (SM/Lead Researcher) delivering the intervention, and to collect data to inform the acceptability of outcome measures, it was acknowledged that at least 40-60 participants were needed. This was in line with recommendations by (Elsworth et al., 2011) and other similar feasibility studies in people with complex long-term neurological conditions living in community settings. Elsworth et al, 2011 studied the practicability and safety of supported exercise in a community gym, for adults with long-term neurological conditions. Their assumption was that this population had reduced levels of physical activity and they engaged less with standard rehabilitation programmes. Their study recruited participants either to a community gym or to standard physiotherapy interventions. Their sample size was circa 50 people in each arm of the study (n=100 in total), as they were investigating numbers needed to treat (NNT), that is the number of patients needed to treat to prevent one additional bad outcome (death, stroke, injurious fall). The planned sample size in this MPhil study was 40-60 participants and 53 PwP were recruited.

#### Consent

The consent procedure took place in person at the University grounds, during the initial recruitment meeting. Participants were asked to give their written, informed consent (Appendix 7). A health questionnaire adapted for PwP (PARQa, Appendix 6) was completed during this meeting as part of screening measures for complex comorbidities, advanced dementia and to provide an individual baseline assessment prior to the NW intervention.

This was adapted from a standardised risk assessment, provided by BNW and every NWI uses this assessment tool (Appendix 8). This questionnaire was adapted to include PD specific questions such as medication timing, allergies, falls history and problems due to high or low blood pressure. Baseline data collection was measured and recorded following the consent and screening procedure.

# 2.1.3 Intervention

The intervention, offered to all participants, was an eight-week programme of NW instruction, delivered by the lead researcher (SM). SM was an experienced PDNS and an INWA accredited BNWI. During this study no other dual qualified experts were identified in the UK, although some physiotherapists had recommended NW to their patients with PD. A walk leader (MB) assisted SM, for the purposes of group safety and to help slower walkers. MB was an experienced NW who had taken an extra NW qualification, to support the lead researcher in delivering the intervention, two classes per week over 13 months.

Participants were given new NW poles (as equipment was not shared, due to infection prevention and control measures, and to satisfy COVID-19 guidelines) at the consent meeting but asked not to use them before the first intervention lesson. Spouses, partners, and carers were invited to join the classes and they borrowed NW poles. Health screening questionnaires (PARQ) were completed for their safety, but no outcome measures were recorded as this was not planned for in the protocol.

Participants were assigned to a beginners' 'blue group' or an advanced 'red group,' according to their walking speed, balance, and mastery of the INWA technique as assessed at baseline and the first NW session. All participants started in the blue group and were assessed by the NWI during each class. Some people, who displayed increasing confidence and accuracy with the NW ten step technique, and who were faster walkers, were moved to the red group.

All participants, family members, friends and carers attended a warm-up group exercise at the start of each class and participants were encouraged to practise their loud voice for introductions, so that people could learn the names of other group members. People with Parkinson's can have soft, quieter voices, and this volume diminishes over the years as the muscles of the larynx become weaker and the air passing over the vocal cords has a reduced speed (Sapir et al., 2011). Some specialist speech and language therapists promote 'Loud' or 'Speak Out' voice programmes, to encourage PwP to exercise their vocal cords and to project their voice. Such programmes include Lee Silverman Voice training, LSVT Loud (Sapir et al., 2011), and the recently launched Parkinson's Voice project 'Speak Out!' (Behrman et al., 2020). It was beyond the scope of this study to comment on, or measure, the volume of speech but was useful as an ice-breaker exercise when people were socially distanced at two metres outside, due to COVID restrictions.

Participants were asked to inform the instructor of any new injuries, infections or changes to treatment or medication, which might impact upon their performance of the NW tasks. An attendance register was maintained for both groups: blue (beginners and slower walkers) and red (advanced or faster walkers). All participants and the research team, including a BNW walk leader, were advised to conduct a COVID-19 lateral flow test if they had any symptoms of coronavirus and not to attend if they had a positive result. They were asked to inform the NWI by email.

The INWA standardised ten step method, described in the new INWA manual for instructors, was taught to each participant and revised, in a progressive manner from steps one to ten, at the start of each session (Mass, 2023). The technique was embedded with drills and balance exercises during the one-hour lesson. All participants completed a tenminute warm-up session, which included an ice breaker activity. The table of ten steps (Table 11) indicates how NW may be beneficial for PwP, by mapping the step to a particular PD symptom or area of deficit such as reduced arm-swing.

Step number	Description of step	How it relates to PwP
1. Posture	Stand with feet hip-width apart and aligned. Upright posture, not hyper-extended. Shoulders in mid-position, relaxed. Knees slightly bent, neutral position of pelvis and chin.	Some PwP stoop. Adopting correct NW posture helps activate core muscles and strengthens trunk stability. Helps to reduce stooping.
2. Lean forwards	Subtle lean forwards, as one active unit from feet to head. Maintain chin up, with eyes on the horizon; avoid looking down. Like the start of a ski jump.	Relates to step one, correcting stoop and promoting good posture. Lean is not over-emphasised for PwP in case it encourages centre of gravity to shift forwards.
3. Walk	The basic movement for NW. March with opposite arm and leg. Land on heel and roll onto ball of foot. Push off from ball of foot. Swing the arms from the shoulder. Maintain a natural bend in the elbow as the arm swings forwards. Remember posture and rotation.	NW is exaggerated walking with augmented movements in the arms and legs. This is useful if a PwP has a short, shuffling gait, narrow base of support and poor balance. NW can facilitate a longer stride, wider base of support and bilateral arm-swing.
4. Rotate	Keep head looking forwards and rotate the upper spine naturally with each step. As the left foot pushes off the right shoulder moves forward. Rotation in the upper spine results in gentle rotation in the lower back.	PwP can experience rigidity in their joints. Stiffness in the neck and spine can result in pain. Gentle rotation of the upper and lower spine may ameliorate back pain.
5. Drag	A key step for acquiring the correct position of the poles, 45 degrees from the body to the ground, tips facing backwards. Helps with coordination of opposite legs and arms. Poles are strapped to the wrist and hands are open and relaxed, with palms facing inwards. Continue regular walking and ignore the poles dragging behind. Establish a natural stride length and rhythm.	A useful step for PwP, with or without poles. A foundation to good posture, rolling through the foot and arm-swing. Enhances normal walking in preparation for the main NW technique.
6. Place	Find traction or 'biting' point of the pole in the ground through the natural arm-swing as the arm swings backwards. Close hand softly around the grip to place the pole on the ground. Don't grip tightly. Find a rhythm by matching the placed pole with the opposite heel strike.	Placing the pole can help with balance and core stability. Using two poles can increase confidence.

# Table 11 INWA Ten steps method and relationship to PwP.

Step number	Description of step	How it relates to PwP
7. Push	Place the pole then push backwards through the pole, moving the body forwards. Use smooth, steady pressure with active muscle action around the shoulder, without raising the shoulders. The body is propelled forwards. Maintain an upright posture, remember the shoulder rotation.	Pushing through the poles moves the body forwards. The repetitive action of placing and pushing can improve coordination and facilitate smooth movement without (FoG). Pushing poles provides power and increases the effectiveness of walking. This may increase speed of walking and build confidence.
8. Extend fully	This maximises the effect of the pole. Keep the tip of the pole on the ground for as long as possible. Push hand past the pelvis and extend the arm at the elbow. Maintain pressure on pole until the end of the movement. The fingers should be pointing towards the bottom of the pole at the end of the backward movement.	This movement facilitates bilateral arm-swing and exaggerated backwards arm movements in a pendulum like motion, from the shoulder. Can help to alleviate stiffness and tension in the shoulders. It may promote improved arm swing when poles are not in use (walking).
9. Release actively	Creates impulse to start forwards arm swing. Open hand at the end of full extension. Keep fingers softly together. Place hand actively against strap and push off from balls of feet at the same time. Push off strongly so that pole tip clears ground. Feel how the pole flies away and how it returns like a spring. Avoid hyperextending the elbow.	A difficult technique to master for some PwPs. Involves letting go of the pole at the end of extension phase. Augments backwards arm swing. Important for the next step and is beneficial for arm swing, shoulder mobility, stiffness, and natural movement forwards.
10. Swing forward	The spring effect in step 9 results in a dynamic arm swing forward. Keep the pole tip airborne as the arm reaches forward to place the pole. The top of the pole leads the movement. The hand will gently grip automatically as the pole flies forwards. The little finger will collect and lift the pole. Place the pole again using the correct 45-degree angle and a gentle hand grip.	An essential forward movement of arm and pole with natural bend at elbow. Encourages pendulum motion of the arm from shoulders. Opening/ closing hands correctly helps circulation and serves to avoid pencil-like arthritic hand posture.

The 'blue group' took a slower paced shorter NW, approximately one km, around the lakeside, on level gravel pathways, stopping for balance exercises and rests, taking approximately 40 mins of walking time. The 'red group' took a faster paced longer NW, covering level gravel paths and grass covered hills around the university campus, approximately two kms for 50 mins. Despite the difference in walking time, all participants were active (e.g., standing, doing the warm-up or cool down) for a full hour.

Both groups commenced with a ten-minute warm-up session, which included an ice breaker activity. The one-hour class concluded with a set of predetermined cool down stretches and breathing exercises. Stretches were modified for those with balance/ coordination problems. Some participants attended with a partner, carer, family member, friend who walked with them and assisted with putting on gloves, straps and supporting them with the exercises.

The terrain and route were varied for both groups to add interest and increase physical exertion. Hill repetitions added to the cardiovascular workout, in addition to enhanced effort for the upper body, by intentionally pushing through the poles. Balance exercises and multi-tasking exercises challenged the red group and were modified for the blue group.

All participants were signposted to the weekly, free, 5km parkrun events in their locality and a monthly group NW at parkrun with other PwP. Quirk's qualitative study explored how to involve more people with long term conditions in parkrun (Quirk and Haake, 2019).

The NW intervention was offered to each participant for eight weeks, but people were welcome to continue to attend the programme and they were invited to join local, established mixed groups (people without Parkinson's or individuals with other disabilities such as osteoarthritis, older adults, and some highly active individuals). New participants joined the class most weeks. Where possible, the intervention was delivered consecutively over eight weeks. However, if participants were unable to attend a week (e.g., due to holiday or ill-health), they were offered an additional class to complete the full number of sessions.

# 2.1.4 Assessments

Assessments were completed at baseline (same day as screening and consent was taken), after eight weeks of NW intervention and again six months later. The lead researcher (SM) completed all assessments. Physical outcome measures included the Timed up and Go test (TUG), ten and a separate twenty metres walk test (10 MWT and 20MWT) (time and cadence) and Tragus (Tragus Wall Distance, TWD). The primary outcome measure was the TUG.

#### Timed Up and Go test (TUG).

The TUG was chosen as it is a simple screening test that can be used as a predictor of falls risk and measures the progress of balance in PwP (Goswami et al., 2015). The TUG records the time taken to stand from a chair without assistance, walk three metres, turn around a marker, return three metres and sit down again. Participants had a trial of the TUG test and in the repeated TUG, data was recorded (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991). This outcome measure has been used for over 30 years and has good psychometric properties: demonstrating reliability (it is repeatable inter-rater and intra-rater), and validity (measuring

what it is designed to assess). It is recognised in literature as a useful tool for measuring functional mobility in elderly people (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991), in younger adults with Parkinson's (Goswami et al., 2015) and for people who have had a stroke (Persson et al., 2014). In the Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991 study, participants were scored as being independent for transfers (changing position) if they took <20seconds, they could manage independent bathing and could climb stairs. Participants who took >30 seconds to complete the TUG were more dependent and some required assistance with personal care, toileting, and stairs. This assessment tool is simple to set up and takes approximately five minutes to teach and complete. As recommended in this study the same chair, tape measure, marker and researcher were employed for all baseline and repeated measures.

# Ten-metre walk test (10 MWT) (Watson, 2002)

The ten MWT is a validated tool measuring walking speed (velocity) and number of steps (cadence) over a 14-metre course to assess gait (Watson, 2002). This measure has been used in several PD studies (Bang and Shin, 2017, Ebersbach et al., 2010, Granziera et al., 2021), and has been found to be reliable, reproducing the same results multiple times (Salse-Batán et al., 2022). The 14-metre course is set out with cones and a two-metre acceleration and deceleration phase is highlighted. Only the 'middle' ten metres data is captured. The participants were asked to walk at a brisk, but comfortable pace and a stopwatch was used to record the time taken. They repeated the timed walk three times, and an average score was calculated for the time taken and number of steps. The mean score was used in the analysis.

## Tragus test (Tragus Wall Distance, TWD) (Shipe et al., 2013)

The Tragus test (TWD) is a validated tool used to assess head position and posture, by measuring the horizontal distance from the tragus point of the ear (the cartilaginous flap anterior to the external auditory meatus) to the wall on the right and left ear, separately (Shipe et al., 2013). This test was chosen as there is some evidence that NW can have a positive impact on posture (Silva et al., 2016). Although this measure was employed by Giardini in their study of PwP, rehabilitation of balance and gait (Giardini et al., 2018) this test has not been used in previous PwP studies of NW. The mean score of the right and left tragus was used at each of the three time points.

#### Twenty-metre walk test (20 MWT) (Alldridge, 2019)

The pilot study by the lead researcher (SM), (McCracken et al., 2021) established that some PwP take time to initiate movement so their TUG and 10 MWT scores were impacted by freezing of gait (FoG), (Wróblewska et al., 2019). Due to this a decision was taken to include a newer, twenty metre walk test (20 MWT), using a 24-metre course and recording the 'best' 20-metre walking speed and number of steps. Like the 10 MWT, the 20 MWT has a two-metre walk to the starting line, a timed 20-metre walk using a stopwatch, while the researcher counts the number of full strides over the 20-metre course. There is a two-metre deceleration zone once the clock has stopped. This newer outcome measure is being used for personal independence payment (PIP) applications (Alldridge, 2019). A mean score from three measured walks was used in the data analysis.

# Berg balance scale (BBS) (Berg et al., 1992)

The BBS is a measurement of the quality of balance capacity during a series of physical tasks (Berg et al., 1992). The fourteen physical tasks incorporate nine items that assess static balance in sitting and standing, and five items that assess anticipatory balance during common daily activities: including turning, reaching, transferring weight, and retrieving objects from the floor. Each item is scored from zero (unable) to four (able to perform) and the final score is the sum of the task scores. This test was more time consuming to execute than previous measures and it was anticipated that few participants would demonstrate impaired balance, due to being at stage H&Y one, two or three. However, several individuals presented with difficulties with balance, some falls and moderate disease progression (15 years) and a BBS score was recorded.

#### Non-motor scale questionnaire (NMSS) (Chaudhuri et al., 2007)

This guestionnaire is a validated tool, developed by a panel of international experts in PD and published in 2007 (Chaudhuri et al., 2007) (Appendix 9). It was used, free of charge, with written permission from the Movement Disorders Society (Appendix 10). Usually there is a fee of around \$1,000, but as this was a research project for PwP the fee was waived. Non-motor symptoms (NMS) in PD are often under reported and they impact upon quality of life. A previous NMS questionnaire (NMS Quest) developed by the same team of experts, identified 30 NMS and this validated tool (Appendix 11) is routinely used in a clinical setting, where PwP tick yes or no to each symptom (Chaudhuri et al., 2006). One might argue that NMS Quest is easier to administer as it is simple, clear and many PD specialists use it as part of their toolkit for tailored, holistic assessments (Clayton et al., 2006). However, it does not assess frequency and severity of these symptoms. Thirty NMS were categorised into nine dimensions on the NMS scale questionnaire (NMSS): cardiovascular (two items), sleep/fatigue (four items), mood/cognition (six items), perceptual problems/ hallucinations (three items), attention/memory (three items), gastrointestinal (three items), urinary (three items), sexual function (two items) and miscellany; pain, taste/smell, weight change, sweating, (four items). A total score is calculated, for each dimension, by multiplying the scores for frequency (1-4) and severity (0-3). The NMSS was used to explore which non-motor dimensions were impacted by the NW intervention and whether there would be long-term carry over after the period of NW intervention.

# 2.1.5 Fidelity of the intervention

Fidelity is described as the extent to which an intervention follows the intended research model (Silverman, 2022). Fidelity to the intervention is important for the reliability, validity, replicability and potential scaling-up of the results of an intervention study (Feely et al., 2018). In evidence-based studies that are adapted to a local context, fidelity can preserve the components that make the model effective (Feely et al., 2018). Several steps were taken to attempt to maintain the fidelity of the intervention. The programme was delivered by an experienced PDNS who had a NWI qualification. The standardized (INWA) warm-up and cool down activities were delivered at each session and tailored to the needs of individuals, to optimize safety. These activities were recorded in the INWA manual (Mass, 2023). The INWA ten step technique model (Table 11) was delivered by the same NWI and revised orally, rehearsed and demonstrated practically by participants at every session. Step number two, a subtle lean forward, was taught to each participant with caution, to avoid over-reaching

and forward falls. In this study the NW programme was adapted to a local context (PwP) but delivered according to the protocol (Appendix 5). Fidelity to this protocol was checked by recording the number of sessions attended by each participant in a diary. In this study, eight out of eight sessions were pre-determined to demonstrate excellent fidelity.

# 2.1.6 Data storage

Each participant was assigned a study number, for use on study documents and the electronic database. Study documents were held securely in accordance with regulations. The lead researcher (SM) made a separate confidential record of the participant's name, study number and contact details, to permit identification of those enrolled in the study in case additional follow-up was required. Most documents were electronic and stored according to the data management plan (DMP). All paper forms and questionnaires were filled in using black ballpoint pen. Source documents were filed at the lead researcher's (SM) site and included consent forms, health risk assessments, environmental risk assessments, emergency contact details, pole length details, study records, field notes, paper, and electronic questionnaires. Only study staff had access to study documentation.

In compliance with the Good Clinical Practice guidelines, regulations and in accordance with the University of Nottingham Code of Research Conduct and Research Ethics, the Chief Investigator (the lead researcher's primary supervisor, Dr Vicky Booth), maintained all records and documents regarding the conduct of the study. These will be retained for at least seven years or for longer if required. If the responsible investigator is no longer able to maintain the study records, a second person from the research team will be nominated to take over this responsibility. The study documents held by the Chief Investigator shall be archived at secure archive facilities at the University of Nottingham. This archive shall include study databases and associated meta-data encryption codes.

# 2.1.7 Data analysis methods

Data from the outcome measures was stored on a Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) database (IBM SPSS Statistics Version 28.0, Chicago) and analysed initially using descriptive statistics (mean, median, range and standard deviation) and then used to compare changes over time.

Data was first analysed using descriptive statistics. The sample was described as a group using their personal non-identifiable characteristics (e.g., age, gender, time since Parkinson's diagnosis and H&Y stage of Parkinson's).

Data from participants, who completed eight weeks of NW intervention, was assessed for normal distribution and then two-tailed paired t-tests (within the same group) were used to compare results from baseline to week eight, from week eight to month six and from baseline to month six (Kirkwood, 2003). The p-value was set at 0.05 with confidence interval (CI) set at 95%. A p-value of 0.05 or less was considered statistically significant. Comparing the scores at the three time points provided useful data about the longitudinal impact of NW across specific motor and non-motor domains. Data from participants who did not complete eight weeks of intervention were recorded, but it was not possible to calculate paired t-tests for this sample.

The qualitative data from the field notes were an adjunct to the main study and were not analysed in detail.

# 2.1.8 Ethical approval

Ethical approval was granted in September 2021, by the University of Nottingham, Faculty of Medicine Research Ethics Committee (ref: FMHS 331-0821) (Appendix 1).

# 2.1.9 Public and patient involvement

Two PwPs, who were not participants, and one spouse contributed to the Patient and Public Involvement (PPI) of this study. There were no known conflicts of interest. One gentleman with PD (JP) was a participant in the previous proof-of-concept study, (McCracken et al, 2021). One PwP (SJ) and his wife (JJ) chaired the local PUK branch and disseminated study adverts and emails to their members during the recruitment phase. A BNWI (AC) was also part of the PPI group and subsequently joined the FG for Instructors and walk leaders.

All PPI members helped with proof reading, commented on all documents, and lay summaries. They attended project meetings and were sent updates on the research every three to four months. Their knowledge, perspective and experience of Parkinson's added depth to the study and they continued to support the NW group after the period of data collection.

# 2.2 Results

# 2.2.1 Recruitment

Recruitment commenced once ethical approval had been granted (September 2021). In total, 50 emails/ adverts were sent to professional colleagues, three emails to PUK, three emails to the local PUK branches, two emails to the Parkinson's East Midlands research interest group (PEMRIG), and three to the national PUK research team. BNW signposted PwP to the study and the lead researcher (SM) promoted the study by speaking at BNW conferences in November 2021 and 2022. The lead researcher also spoke at a PD nurse specialist association (PDNSA) conference at Warwick University (130 people) to raise awareness of NW for women with PD (Conference title: *EVEolution-A Woman's Journey with Parkinson's*; lecture title: *Exercise and Lifestyle*).

The number of participants recruited was; professional sources n=17, BNW n= 4, PUK local branches n=15, PEMRIG n=2, national PUK research advert n=5, participants who completed the previous pilot study n=6 (McCracken et al., 2021), and from indirect/snowball effect (e.g., participants telling their friends) n=4. The enrolment period ran from November 2021-September 2022.

During this time 53 PwP, who matched the inclusion criteria, expressed an interest in participating. However, four PwP chose not to consent, leaving 49 PwP in the final sample. Five PwP, who expressed an interest in the study, did not meet the inclusion criteria.

#### 2.2.2 Participant characteristics

Variables	Total sample (N=49)	Normal distribution
Age median (years)	69	No
Mean (± SD)	66.41 (± 9.98)	Positively skewed
Range	47-83	
IQR	59.50-74.50	
Sex, male	N=27 (55.1%)	
Years from diagnosis median	4	No
Mean (± SD)	5.47 (± 3.95)	Negatively skewed
Range (years)	1-17	
IQR	3-6.5	
H&Y median score	2	No
Mean (± SD)	2.20 (± 0.96)	Negatively skewed
Range	1-4	
IQR	1.00-3.00	

Table 22 Demographic characteristics of participants.

Abbreviation: H&Y=Hoehn and Yahr scale, IQR=Interquartile range from 25th percentile to 75th percentile, SD=Standard Deviation

Demographic data are reported in Table 22. The median age was 69, (mean 66 years) with an interquartile range from 59.3 to 74.5 years (standard deviation (SD) of 9.97 years). The range was 47-83 and age was not distributed normally (Figure 33). Twenty-seven participants (55.1%) were male. The overall H&Y mean value was 2.20 (± 0.96), placing the group at a mild to moderate disease with recovery on the balance pull test (Lindholm et al., 2021). The distribution curve for H&Y was negatively skewed, with a long kurtosis, indicating potential outliers or extreme values, as there were four participants at H&Y stage four. H&Y for all participants ranged from one to four, median value three, with H&Y interquartile range from one to three (Hoehn and Yahr, 2001).



# Figure 33 Histogram of age of participants (years)

Figure 33 represents the spread of ages with the histogram, positively skewed, with a peak value of 77 years, a group of younger PwP aged 48-54, and another peak at 65 years.

# Missing participant characteristics data

All 49 participants provided baseline data for characteristics, H&Y, and time since diagnosis (Table 22).

# 2.2.3 Attrition and intervention fidelity from field notes

Forty participants completed at least eight weeks of NW training. Reasons for attrition included: cause unknown (n=2), inclement weather (n=1), distance from home too far (n=1), increasing frailty and pre-existing back pain (n=2), struggling with menopause (n=2), poor sleep (n=1). One participant did not complete outcome measurements after their eighth lesson due to fatigue.

Reasons for stopping the programme early were reported and recorded in the field notes. After three lessons, one participant reported that the weather was too cold and wet (n=1). One participant attended twice and then stopped as the journey was too far on the train and tram (n=1). Two participants had long-standing back pain and stopped attending after three lessons each. An older participant (eighty-three years old) said that he enjoyed NW and the support of the group, but his PD was deteriorating, and he stopped due to increased frailty after attending four lessons. Two women in their late forties attended three lessons each but reported that they were struggling with peri-menopausal symptoms: poor sleep, pain, and fatigue. They said that they enjoyed the physical exercise of NW and the group support. However, they did not return to the group despite several email reminders. (The group was emailed if the class was cancelled due to extreme weather conditions). One participant stopped attending after three lessons due to growing workload demands after the COVID-19 pandemic. She was complimentary about her experience of NW, very keen to improve her physical fitness, and said she was disappointed to stop the classes. Field notes document the people who accompanied the participant and were invited to learn the NW technique. Their outcome measures were not recorded but field notes documented that they continued to NW after the eight-week programme. At the class there were usually one or two partners or a personal assistant. In total 20 people without Parkinson's joined the eight-week programme, including a neurological physiotherapist, a neurology nurse specialist, and a nursing student. These individuals, or NHS 'guests,' attended for one week to observe the intervention.

Field notes reported that 37 PwP continued to NW weekly after the eight-week course. Of the study sample, 22 participants continued to attend the NW classes after the eight-week intervention. Nineteen participants joined a new NW group, led by a PwP who trained to be a NWI, who was a physical education teacher before retirement. Three participants joined local NW groups, led by an NWI. Twenty-five PwP reported in the field notes that they planned to NW regularly with their partner, friends, or on their own after the study ended. Twelve PwP reported that they were going to regularly NW at parkrun with their friends and family.

# 2.2.4 Outcome measures

#### Missing data baseline and follow-up data

Twenty-four people (60%) returned baseline NMSS questionnaires (week zero). Thirty-nine (79.6%) of the initial 49 participants, completed the eight-week follow-up outcome measurements (Table 33). Thirty-four participants (70%) completed six-month follow up physical assessments. Of the six participants who did not return after six months, one PwP reported having several appointments due to waiting for deep brain stimulation (DBS) for PD (n=1). Three people had other commitments (moving house, caring for grandchildren, medical appointments). One PwP missed his outcome measures appointment due to emerging cognitive impairment (he missed the tram stop), but his wife facilitated a meeting two weeks later. The cognitive deficits were evident in his NMSS questionnaire, and his wife reported that she was thankful for this information, to inform the consultant at their next hospital PD review. Two participants returned a non-motor symptoms scale (NMSS) questionnaire after six months. Thirteen participants returned the NMSS after eight weeks and nine participants returned three NMSS questionnaires after both time points: eight weeks and six months (Table 55).

#### Baseline data

Baseline outcome measures data is presented in Table 2. Initially, the sample had an average gait speed over ten metres of 6.29 seconds, over 20 metres of 12.42 seconds, stepping cadence over ten metres of 13.68 steps, over 20 metres of 26.51 steps and TUG of 7.76 seconds. Tragus, a measurement of posture had a mean score 18.82 cm. The total NMSS score averaged 43.77 (out of a total 360). Data for all outcomes at baseline was normally distributed.

#### Comparison of baseline to eight-week data.

As reported in Table 33, after eight weeks of NW intervention, there appeared to be an improvement of the following motor scales: 10 MWT (time and cadence), 20 MWT
(time and cadence), TUG and Tragus. After calculating the mean difference between the two time points, data was analysed and found to be normally distributed (Figure 33). The mean difference ( $\pm$  SD) between time zero (baseline) and time one (after eight weeks of NW intervention) of motor and non-motor variables were computed with a two tailed paired sample t-test (confidence interval 95% and an alpha or p value =0.05). Non-motor symptoms scale (NMSS) scores were lower at week eight (indicating a potential improvement in symptoms), particularly the total NMS score (p < 0.03) and the score for sleep/ fatigue (p < 0.006).

Variable (n=39)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean difference	95% Cl around	p value	Cohen's d effect size and
(	baseline	8-weeks	(SD)	mean		its 95% Cl
	(ТО)	(T1)	T1-T0	difference		
10 MWT	6.29	5.68	-0.61	-0.84	<0.001	0.86
(secs)	(0.90)	(0.96)	(0.71)	to -0.38		(0.49 to 1.23)
10 MWT	13.68	12.84	-0.83	-1.15	<0.001	0.88
(steps)	(1.55)	(1.56)	(0.95)	to -0.52		(0.50 to 1.25)
20 MWT	12.42	11.14	-1.29	-1.66	<0.001	1.14
(secs)	(1.66)	(1.80)	(1.13)	to -0.91		(0.73 to 1.55)
20 MWT	26.51	25.17	-1.34	-1.81	<0.001	0.95
(steps)	(2.83)	(3.01)	(1.41)	to -0.87		(0.56 to 1.34)
TUG	7.76	6.61	-1.15	-1.61	<0.001	0.81
(secs)	(2.05)	(1.31)	(1.43)	to -0.69		(0.44 to 1.17)
TRAGUS	18.82	16.79	-2.03	-2.78	<0.001	0.87
(cm)	(4.27)	(4.15)	(2.33)	to -1.27		(0.50 to 1.24)
NMSS	43.77	33.69	-10.08	-19.21	0.03	-0.67
Total score	(32.80)	(24.02)	(15.11)	to -0.94		(-1.26 to -0.05)
NMSS	7.77	5.80	-2.00	-3.31	0.006	-0.93
sleep/fatigue	(5.29)	(4.64)	(2.16)	to -0.69		(-1.57 to -0.26)
NMSS	6.62	6.23	- 0.38	-3.22 to 2.45	0.77	-0.08
Mood/cognition	(8.77)	10.03)	(4.70)			(-0.61 to -0.46
NMSS	9.62	7.15	-2.46	-6.92 to 2.00	0.25	-0.33
Urinary	(10.81)	(9.39)	(7.38)			(-0.86 to 0.23)

Table 33 Effect of eight-week intervention (NW) in	n PwP from week 0 to week eight
--	---------------------------------

Abbreviations: CI= confidence interval, MWT=metre walk test, n=number of participants, NMSS=non-motor scale score, SD= Standard deviation, T0= Week 0, T1= Week 8, TUG=Timed Up and Go

#### 10 MWT, speed and cadence

The mean difference between the average mean values of the 10 MWT over eight weeks of intervention was normally distributed as shown in the histogram (Figure 44).





The mean change was -0.61 seconds for speed and -0.83 steps, indicating that on average the sample walked quicker and took fewer steps (cadence) at the end of eight weeks. The confidence interval (CI) between -0.38 and -0.84 did not span zero and the p value was <0.001. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected, this was not a chance finding. The primary hypothesis can be accepted: that an eight-week NW intervention, delivered in a group setting according to INWA guidelines, improves gait, speed and cadence on PwP. There appeared to be a positive effect on mobility following the period of NW intervention. The effect size was on average, 0.86 (with 95% CI around Cohen's d correction 0.49 to 1.23). The potential clinical implications and confounding factors are points for discussion in the next section of this chapter.

## Timed up and Go (TUG).

The mean change in TUG after the eight-week intervention was -1.15 seconds. Most participants showed improvements at this sit to stand test and walked faster. The CI (-1.61 to -0.69) around the mean difference (-1.15 seconds) had an effect size of 0.81 and p value < 0.001. Again, the null hypothesis was rejected as there seemed to be a positive impact following the NW intervention.

#### 20 MWT speed and cadence.

The mean difference between average mean values of the 20 MWT following eight weeks of NW was -1.29 seconds and -1.34 steps. Outliers were not excluded from the data set. On average, each participant walked faster with longer, fewer steps (cadence) after the

intervention. The CI around the mean difference was -1.66 to -0.91 seconds, with a p value of <0.001. In this instance, the null hypothesis can be rejected. There appeared to be a positive effect with mean effect size 1.14 applying Cohen's d correction.

## Tragus Wall Distance (TWD).

The mean change in Tragus after the eight-week NW intervention was -2.03 cm. The Cl (-2.78 to -1.27) did not span zero and the p value was <0.001. The effect size, applying a Cohen's d correction was 0.87. This sample of PwP appeared to have improve posture and were more upright after the intervention.

## Non-motor symptoms scale (NMSS) (0-8 weeks).

There was a mean reduction in the total NMSS score of -10.08. The CI did not span zero and the p value was <0.05. This sample appeared to have improved non-motor symptoms across all domains following eight weeks of NW intervention. Of the nine dimensions (groups of non-motor symptoms) on the scale, three (sleep, cognition, and urinary symptoms) had higher scores at baseline, indicating greater impact to the participant (frequency multiplied by severity of symptoms). These domains were analysed separately. The mean difference between the score for sleep/ fatigue was -2, with CI (-3.31 to -0.69) and p value of 0.006. There appeared to be compelling evidence for improvements in sleep following eight weeks of NW as p was less than 0.05. (This was also reported in the field notes by several participants over consecutive weeks). The mean change in mood/ cognition was -0.38 with a CI around the mean difference of -3.22 to 2.45. The CI spanned zero with a p value of 0.77. This was not statistically significant, but the general trend was maintenance or a slight improvement in mood and cognition. Outliers were included and some participants, with complex or later stage PD, had higher scores for cognition and mood at baseline.

An unexpected result was the improved NMSS score for urinary function after eight weeks of intervention. The mean change in score was -2.46 with a p value 0.25. Although this did not meet the threshold for statistical significance, it was included in the discussion as there were potentially clinical implications.

## Comparison of baseline to six-month data.

As reported in Table 44, six months after the NW intervention, the data suggests an improvement of the following motor scales: 10 MWT (time and cadence), TUG, Tragus and 20 MWT (time and cadence). Data was normally distributed. The mean (± SD) at time 0 (T0 baseline) and time 2 (T2 six months after the NW intervention) of motor and non-motor variables were computed with a two-tailed paired sample t-test (confidence interval 95% and an alpha or p value =0.05).

Field notes supported the physical improvements in speed, cadence and posture as participants reported that they could walk faster, with a longer stride. For some participants (n=5) their relatives had remarked that they were standing taller, with notable improvements in posture. Many participants (n=15) remarked that they felt more confident due to using two poles and expressed a reduced fear of falling.

All motor scores in this table had a p value of <0.001, suggesting longer-term benefits of the NW intervention. This p value contrasts with the interim paired t-tests, between eight weeks and six months, where p values ranged from 0.049 to 0.93 (Table 55).

Variable	Mean.	Mean.	Mean.	95% CI	p value	Cohen's d
(n=34)	(SD)	(SD)	(SD)	around		effect size)
	baseline	6-month	difference	mean		(95% CI)
	(T0)	(T2)	Т2-Т0	difference		
10 MWT	6.26	5.44	-0.82	-1.06	<0.001	1.22
(secs)	(0.93)	(0.99)	(0.67)	to -0.59		(0.77 to 1.66)
10 MWT	13.71	12.60	-1.11	-1.45	<0.001	1.13
(steps)	(1.57)	(1.75)	(0.98)	to -0.76		(0.69 to 1.55)
20 MWT	12.40	10.69	-1.71	-2.13	<0.001	1.43
(secs)	(1.73)	(1.87)	(1.20)	to -1.29		(0.94 to 1.90)
20 MWT	26.53	24.98	-1.55	-2.15	<0.001	0.90
(steps)	(2.85)	(3.45)	(1.73)	to -0.95		(0.49 to 1.29)
TUG	7.54	6.55	-1.00	-1.50	<0.001	0.69
(secs)	(1.80)	(1.87)	(1.45)	to -0.49		(0.31 to 1.06)
TRAGUS	18.24	15.51	-2.73	-3.49	<0.001	1.24
(cm)	(3.94)	(3.74)	(2.20)	to -1.96		(0.79 to 1.69)
NMSS	47.94	39.67	-8.28	-22.61 to	0.24	-0.29
total score	(44.32)	(37.42)	(28.81)	6.05		(-0.76 to 0.19)
NMSS sleep/	7.22	8.89	1.67	-1.93 to 5.26	0.34	-0.23
fatigue	(5.63)	(8.15)	(7.23)			(-0.24 to 0.70)
NMSS mood/	9.39	6.72	-2.67	-7.30 to 1.97	0.24	-0.29
cognition	(13.76)	(9.19)	(9.32)			(-0.75 to 0.19)
NMSS	10.61	9.94	-0.67	-4.11 to 2.78	0.69	-0.10
Urinary	(10.47)	(8.18)	(6.93)			(-0.56 to 0.37)

Table 44 Effect of eight-week intervention (NW) in PwP from week 0 to month six

Abbreviations: CI= confidence interval, MWT=metre walk test, n=number of participants, NMSS=non-motor scale score, SD= Standard deviation, T0= Week 0, T2= Month 6, TUG=Timed Up and Go

## 10 MWT, speed and cadence

The mean difference between the average mean values of the 10 MWT, six months after eight weeks of intervention was normally distributed. The mean change ( $\pm$  SD) was -0.82 ( $\pm$ 0.67) seconds for speed and – 1.11 ( $\pm$  0.98) steps. So, on average each participant walked faster with fewer steps (cadence) at the end of six months. The CI for 10 MWT steps (between -1.45 and -0.76) did not span zero and the p value was <0.001. Therefore, the null hypothesis can be rejected, this was not a chance finding. There was an emerging positive effect due to this intervention, the effect size was on average, 1.13 (applying Cohen's d correction).

## Timed up and Go (TUG)

The mean change in TUG six months after the intervention was -1.00 seconds. The CI around the mean difference was -1.50 to -0.49 seconds. Again, the null hypothesis can be rejected as there seemed to be a positive effect, with mean average effect size 0.69.

## Tragus

The mean Tragus six months after the eight-week NW intervention was -2.73 cm. The Cl (-3.49 to -1.96) did not span zero and the p value was <0.001. The effect size, applying a Cohen's d correction was 1.24. The overall effect suggests that NW positively influenced posture for PwP, and this appeared to be maintained up to six months after the period of NW rehabilitation.

## 20 MWT, speed and cadence

The mean difference between average mean values of the 20 MWT, six months after eight weeks of NW was -1.71 seconds and -1.55 steps. Each participant, therefore walked faster with fewer steps (cadence) after the intervention. The CI (-2.13 to -1.29) seconds did not cross zero, with p value of <0.001. Again, the null hypothesis can be rejected. There was an emerging positive effect with mean effect size 1.43 (with Cohen's d correction).

## Non-motor symptoms scale (NMSS) (0-six months)

Twenty-four NMSS questionnaires (60%) were returned at baseline, 13 (32.5%) were completed after eight weeks and 20 (50%) NMSS were posted to the researcher after six months of NW intervention. Most of the improvements in the NMSS were recorded after eight weeks of NW. However, the total NMSS score had a mean difference of -8.28 after six months and a p value of 0.24. There appeared to be a small improvement in mood and cognition in a population where these domains can fluctuate or deteriorate after six months. The mean difference in urinary scores was -0.67 with p value 0.69. None of the NMS on this table achieved strong statistical significance, but their potential implications for clinical application were points for discussion.

Field notes corroborated with the non-motor improvements, in particular the domains of mood and cognition, sleep, and fatigue. One female participant remarked that she always slept better on Thursdays after NW, even if the weather was poor. She expressed that she felt motivated by other people in the group and was always pleased that she had made the effort to attend. This was a recurring theme in the field notes: the motivating impact of exercising outdoors with fellow PwP. Participants rarely discussed urinary symptoms during the lesson. However, some male participants required a bathroom break during the one-hour session (n=4). Female participants (n=15) discussed sleep, fatigue and motivation, and the positive impact that NW had on their sleep pattern.

In addition to the NW sessions in the study, some participants chose to set motivational, personal goals such as a five km parkrun or parkwalk (parkrun, 2023), NW on holiday in the lake district or NW on the beach. These goals were recorded in the field notes. Some participants (n=19) introduced a friend or partner to NW and some partners (n= 10) joined the eight-week NW intervention. Their results were not recorded as this was not in the study protocol.

## Comparison of eight week to six-month data

As reported in Table 55 there was a small improvement or maintenance of function across most outcome measures between week eight and month six, apart from TUG. Changes in this dataset were not specific to the research question, so were not reported in detail. However, the net effect from baseline (week 0) to month six was useful and the p value

for all physical outcome measures was p < 0.001. The results indicated that there was no deterioration in outcome measures and that PwP continued to demonstrate small improvements, after the eight-week period of intervention. By applying a Cohen's d correction (1.43) for the 20 MWT (time) and for the Tragus measurement (1.24), these outcomes had the largest effect size in this sample of PwP. Maintenance of function in this population would be considered a positive outcome.

Variable (n=34)	Mean (SD) 8-week (T1)	Mean (SD) 6-month (T2)	Mean difference (SD) T2-T1	95% Cl around mean difference	p value	Cohen's d effec size (95% Cl)
10 MWT	5.63	5.44	-0.19	-0.04 to 0.42	0.109	0.28
(secs)	(0.98)	(0.99)	(0.67)			(-0.06 to 0.62)
10 MWT	12.84	12.60	-0.25	-0.03 to 0.52	0.08	0.31
(steps)	(1.59)	(1.75)	(0.78)			(-0.03 to 0.66)
20 MWT	11.10	10.69	-0.41	-0.82 to 0.00	0.049	0.35
(secs)	(1.87)	(1.87)	(1.18)			(0.00 to 0.69)
20 MWT	25.25	24.98	-0.27	-0.21 to 0.76	0.26	0.20
(steps)	(3.01)	(3.45)	(1.39)			(-0.14 to 0.54)
TUG	6.53	6.55	0.02	-0.44 to 0.41	0.93	0.01
(secs)	(1.22)	(1.87)	(1.22)			(-0.35 to 0.32)
TRAGUS	16.11	15.51	-0.60	-0.01 to 1.21	0.053	0.34
(cm)	(3.48)	(3.74)	(1.75)			(-0.01 to 0.69)

Table 55 Effect of eight-week intervention (NW) in PwP from week eight to month six

Abbreviations: CI= confidence interval, MWT=metre walk test, n=number of participants, NMSS=non-motor scale score, SD= Standard deviation, T1= Week 8, T2= Month 6, TUG=Timed Up and Go

#### Missing data due to attrition

Quantitative data from nine participants, who did not complete eight lessons, was not included in the analysis. Their follow up eight-week and six-month outcome measures were not recorded and uploaded to SPSS; therefore, two tailed paired t-tests could not be calculated. However, their reasons for not attending eight sessions, as recorded in field notes, provided rich qualitative data about adherence to an exercise intervention for PD rehabilitation. The participant who stopped attending due to harsh weather reported that she was also juggling a growing workload, following the pandemic. She felt tired on Thursdays (NW session) due to working long hours and other family commitments. A participant who stopped attending after two lessons reported that the one-hour travel time on public transport (train and tram) was very tiring, and he asked to join a local NW group. He was given information about an established, regional PD NW group, but he did not communicate with the research team again, so his follow-up data was not recorded. Of the two participants who stopped attending due to pre-existing back pain, one PwP returned to NW after a few weeks and said that he found it beneficial. His other PD symptoms were deteriorating, and he chose to stop the lessons. His back pain had been recorded on the health questionnaire, PARQa (Appendix 6), and may have been a reason to exclude him from the study, but his NHS physiotherapist had recommended NW, and he was keen to learn the technique. He contacted the research team after the study and expressed his gratitude for the early introduction to NW. The 83-year-old participant who stopped attending after four lessons, due to increased frailty, reported (in the field notes) that he was disappointed to withdraw from the programme. He enjoyed meeting other PwP who were active, especially as he enjoyed hill-walking and exercising outdoors. He returned to the lessons after a break of several weeks, but his PD symptoms were progressing, and he

said that he lacked stamina for a one-hour session. Another participant expressed her disappointment at stopping NW as her full-time job, for which she could work flexibly during the pandemic, was returning to an office-based routine with increasing demands on her time. She said that she had enjoyed learning how to NW and she valued exercising with other PwP who were also active and motivated.

Overall, there was good adherence to the NW intervention and most participants (80%) were willing, and available, to return to the University for repeated measures. There was a fair return rate of the NMSS questionnaires, either in person or by post. Twenty-four (60%) people returned baseline NMSS questionnaires (week 0), 13 people (32.5%) returned them after eight weeks and 20 (50%) were posted after six months. Nine participants (22.5%) returned all three NMSS questionnaires. A stamped-addressed envelope was provided at the six-month follow-up assessment, and this might account for the higher return rate of NMSS, compared to those who returned them in person (at the next session) after eight weeks.

## 2.3 Discussion

## 2.3.1 Principal findings

Nordic Walking, as a novel form of rehabilitation in PwP, was successfully implemented in a group community setting, and delivered with fidelity, with 40 out of 49 participants (81.6%) completing the eight-week intervention. Participants engaged with the intervention and appropriate outcome measures were collected on time and to target.

In participants who completed all eight sessions, the intervention appeared to deliver improvements in speed of walking and stride length, timed up and go (TUG) from a chair and posture. The improvements were statistically significant after eight weeks (p < 0.001) and there were further small improvements observed at the six-month assessment. The greatest improvement was seen in the Tragus, and 20 metre walk tests (speed). Participants in this sample walked with an improved gait speed, better upright stance, and with fewer steps (longer strides) than before the intervention. These findings were corroborated in the field notes.

These results could have positive clinical implications for PwP as the study sample reported feeling more confident with walking, with better balance and a reduced fear of falls due to using two NW poles. In addition, non-motor (quality of life) scores for sleep and fatigue, cognition and mood improved after eight weeks. An unexpected result was improved urinary symptoms, possibly due to enhanced engagement of core muscles including the pelvic floor during NW. These improvements were seen in a population that would routinely be expected to decline over time. The study results suggested that the benefits were due to NW as they were all outcomes related to the intervention, but a fully powered RCT is needed to evaluate clinical and cost-effectiveness. Field notes found that some participants continued to NW outside of the study sessions which could have been a motivator towards increased NW and exercise.

## 2.3.2 Strengths and weaknesses of the study

A strength of this study was that the NW intervention was delivered according to a protocol, and it had fidelity against pre-defined components: eight weeks of NW in a group with PwP, outside, following the INWA ten steps model, with a qualified BNWI for one hour.

The intervention included INWA defined warm-up and cool down exercises, tailored to meet the needs of individuals and the group for their safety.

Another strength was that almost 80% of outcome measures (79.6%) were completed on time. Once in the study, participants stayed in the study, although inclement weather during the initial recruitment phase (Winter 2021) and throughout could be viewed as a weakness. During the NW intervention that ran for 13 months twice per week, only one participant reported that cold and wet weather was a factor in their withdrawal from the programme. PwP were keen to take part and easy to recruit from a range of geographic locations, PD branches, PD research interest groups and professional sources. There were strong partnerships with PUK, BNW and NHS teams in the hospital and community.

A strength of the study was that p values were extremely low across all motor domains after eight weeks of NW intervention (p < 0.001), so these results were unlikely to be a chance finding. A further strength was that this statistical significance was maintained after six months and there appeared to be a further improvement or maintenance of function from eight weeks to six months.

Confounding factors should be considered in the light of these results. There were extraordinary external circumstances due the timing of the intervention from November 2021-December 2022. The Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic had a major impact on PwP and the provision of routine clinical and other support services. During the study lockdown measures were gradually lifted, with caution for at risk groups. PwP were keen to get outside, to meet other people, but they remained anxious about contracting Coronavirus or experiencing longer term complications of COVID, e.g., Long-COVID (Leta et al., 2021). Additional confounding factors were other health services and facilities that restarted, such as in person PD clinics. There was a possibility that medications might be radically changed, or new treatments started. One participant was commenced on a clinical pathway for deep brain stimulation (DBS) but did not undergo surgery during the data collection period. No participant undertook a new sport or treatment; however, some did resume previous exercise habits/routines. One PwP returned to golf, one enjoyed table tennis and a PwP who ran most days continued to do so. Another strength was that some PwP who had been inactive before the study became more active and this continued six months after the intervention, as if taking part in the NW programme was a stimulus for becoming more active.

A further strength was using a repeated measures design, thereby having the same sample throughout the study. This reduced the potential for variability within the group. The same sample was measured at three time points, so it was possible to draw comparisons and derive inference from the results. A weakness was the time commitment from each participant as there were eight weeks of face-to-face intervention (one hour per week) as well as a pre-study screening meeting and post-study repeated measures, and three NMSS questionnaires.

One might argue that there was potential for selection bias during recruitment, as PwP who volunteer to participate in exercise research studies might be more motivated than those who do not take part in either research or exercise (Smith and Noble, 2014). So, was this a representative sample and could these results be extrapolated or generalised to a wider population of PwP? A weakness of the study was that this was a motivated group who had all shown an interest in NW and therefore, not representative of all PwP.

Very few participants, who initially took part, stopped attending the programme after two or three lessons. If NW were provided as part of an NHS programme, to a wider cohort of PwP, there might be more who would not complete the eight-week intervention.

A weakness was that the quantitative data from the nine participants, who did not complete all eight sessions, was not included in the analysis. However, their reasons for attrition provided rich qualitative data about adherence and motivation regarding an exercise intervention for PD rehabilitation. This data was captured in the field notes.

A potential weakness of the study was information bias (Bryman, 2004). There could have been discrepancies or differences in the way that outcomes were measured. A strength was that the same person, using the same equipment (e.g., chair, stopwatch, measuring tape) at the same venue, at a similar time of day, recorded all the outcome measures. Another potential source of bias was that the lead researcher delivered the NW intervention and conducted the measurements. To mitigate this risk the protocol was followed with fidelity and integrity. A second researcher (FA) checked data and statistical analysis.

A further potential weakness of the study were the subjective measures recorded in the field notes, as participants' feelings, mood or fatigue were noted after each class. However, they were not formally reported in this study and served mainly as an adjunct to the NMSS questionnaire and physical measurements. Many participants expressed that they 'felt better' at the end of the eight-week NW intervention, but this could be attributed to many factors, not least their re-emergence into the community after the COVID-19 lockdown. The NMSS was recorded at the three time points, and there could have been subjective bias as the participant might have believed that the intervention contributed to some improvements. However, a strength was that the NMSS was a robust and appropriate questionnaire that has demonstrated consistency (reliability) and accuracy of measurement (validity) since its inception in 2007 (Chaudhuri et al., 2007). It was devised by a panel of international experts in PD and complex non-motor symptoms. It was the first comprehensive assessment of the range of NMS that occur in PD and was useful for the identification of problems and measurement of the impact of an intervention, as employed in our NW study. The NMSS was developed after the NMS Quest (NMSQ, Appendix 9). A weakness was that the NMSS was complex (30 questions with a frequency multiplied by severity rating scale from 0 to 4). Some questionnaires were completed inaccurately, and others were not returned. A strength was the specificity of symptoms in the questionnaire helped to elicit useful data, including emerging mild cognitive impairment in three participants.

The time of the day for recording outcome measurements was important for the participants due to Parkinson's medication efficacy and 'on-time' (the period when PD medication is most efficacious, yielding optimal motor symptoms). A weakness of the study was the restricted availability of the lead researcher to meet participants at various times of the week, according to their schedules and medications. This was ameliorated by the researcher adopting a flexible approach, to accommodate the needs of the participants and their partner or carer wherever possible. For example, an anxious participant, who struggled emotionally with the larger group, attended with their spouse for two NW lessons and then recorded outcome measurements at a time when their medication was optimal. Another PwP moved from the 1pm class to 2.30pm as their medications were more efficacious after 2pm.

#### 2.3.3 Results in relation to other studies

It was useful to explore the literature to compare these findings to previous studies, discussing particularly any differences in results.

The study design (methods, outcomes, and materials) resembled previous studies in this population, although results were different. It was difficult to compare such studies as there was heterogeneity of participants regarding H&Y stage, age, time since diagnosis and baseline motor function (Bang and Shin, 2017, Cugusi et al., 2017, Ebersbach et al., 2014, Monteiro et al., 2017).

It was difficult to compare these findings with similar research as few human subject research studies were conducted during the COVID pandemic in this population. However, a systematic review and meta-analysis was published that reviewed 12 studies conducted before the pandemic (Salse-Batán et al., 2022). In 2021 they studied the effects of NW in PwP by reviewing the available literature, using the preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses (PRISMA) guidelines. A strength of this study was the adherence to rigorous methods of critical appraisal of the literature. Salse-Batan (2022) included RCTs with a wide scope of outcome measures, using the Physiotherapy Evidence database (PEDro). The Cochrane collaboration's risk of bias tool was also employed. A potential weakness of their study was the discrepancy between the NW intervention frequency and intensity, between four and 24 weeks. There was also a bias towards physiotherapy interventions rather than those delivered by other members of the multi-disciplinary rehabilitation team. Despite differences in the study designs, most physical outcome measurements were comparable with the current study. For example, seven studies analysed data between pre- and post-intervention in basic functional mobility and reported significant effects due to NW. In this meta-analysis, comparing baseline with postintervention data (TUG in the intervention group), significant improvements were obtained (n=190; WMD = 1.75 seconds faster; 95% CI [1.33,2.18]; I<sup>2</sup> =94.1%), and included an assessment of heterogeneity. That is, an estimate of the proportion of variability that is explained by differences in the trials rather than sampling error (Kirkwood, 2003). The metaanalysis, pooling the standard mean difference (Cohen's effect) for the TUG showed a medium effect size (SMD = 0.77; 95% Cl, 1.09; I<sup>2</sup> = 89.3%). This was like the Cohen's effect size in this study 0.81 (0.44 to 1.17) and mean difference -1.15 seconds (TUG).

In contrast with the larger systematic reviews, a small study with 11 PwP, measured the biomechanical impact of NW on arm-swing (Leal-Nascimento et al., 2022). The sample in their feasibility study was small (n=11) so it was difficult to generalise their results to a wider population of PwP. However, if the NW technique has potential to improve bilateral arm-swing in PwP with unilateral impairment, this study could provide baseline material and outcome measures for further biomechanical research in this field. Our study did not measure arm-swing and could be an important additional outcome to consider in future NW research.

Few studies have employed the Tragus measurement in the context of PD (Giardini et al., 2018). The initial paper (Shipe et al., 2013) set out to assess the intra- and inter-rater reliability of the Tragus measurement in non-pathological participants aged 18-34. This contrasts with the current study where all participants have PD, representing an older cohort, who may experience concurrent spinal or postural challenges. A strength of the Tragus measurement was that it was simple to assess, using the same metal tape measure,

wall, and researcher. A weakness was the participants understanding of a natural, relaxed stance at each time point, if they thought that an upright posture was a positive outcome. A strength was calculating an average (mean) of the right and left ear Tragus to wall distance as cited in this study for PwP (Giardini et al., 2018).

Heterogeneity of participants' stage of PD, as described by H&Y (Hoehn and Yahr, 2001), was a confounding factor to comparing studies. Even in comparative studies, with a narrow range of H&Y stages (De Santis and Kaplan, 2020), participants varied in their clinical presentation. This was supported by a further small study with 11 participants, (stages 1-1.5) by Leal-Nascimento and colleagues (Leal-Nascimento et al., 2022). The De Santis and Kaplan study (2020) contrasted with the current study as it set out to systematically review 318 participants with early to moderate PD, (stages 1-2) across thirteen studies. The current study set out to recruit participants from a wide range of PD stages (1-4) as the NW intervention could be tailored to meet the needs of a diverse population, the individual and the group. The results indicated that this was achieved. A comparative study was conducted by Monteiro et al, (2017) who also recruited PwP at stages 1-4, although, with a lower sample size (33 participants compared to 49 in the current study). Monteiro's study was a small RCT, comparing NW to free walking (without poles). Outcome measures were similar, and in both studies PwP participants demonstrated significant improvements in TUG and walking speed (Monteiro et al., 2017). TUG was measured at a self-selected speed by participants in both studies and p values were the same (p< 0.001). Monteiro also recorded TUG at a forced speed and recorded data in a control group, in contrast to this study (p< 0.001). Their results indicated that NW was superior to walking (without poles) and NW could be considered a valuable method of rehabilitation for some PwP (Monteiro et al., 2017).

The Granziera (2021) study was like the current study as it employed a similar repeated measures method (single-blind RCT) and data was analysed using paired t-tests (Granziera et al., 2021). Thirty-two PwPs were recruited with H&Y stages 2-3, and NW was compared to walking. In their study, NW was found to be 'not superior' to walking. However, they documented that there was a beneficial effect of open-air exercise and guided group walking activities for PwP. This resonates with the non-motor improvements in the current study.

The use of NMSS questionnaire in this population was low in other studies (Chaudhuri et al., 2007, Cugusi et al., 2015, Ebersbach et al., 2014). Despite a well-recognised, reliable, and valid non-motor symptoms scale there may have been barriers to its use in studies for PwP. One weakness was the potential barrier of cost to the researcher. The fee would have been \$1,000, but as this was a postgraduate PD research study the cost was kindly waived by the Movement Disorders Society (MDS). A further weakness was the complexity and length of the questionnaire with nine non-motor domains comprising 30 questions. Some domains were of a sensitive nature, so participants may have felt uncomfortable disclosing personal information about their sexual drive or urinary symptoms, in the context of an exercise intervention. Similar studies utilised a range of non-motor assessment tools including the PD quality of life questionnaire (PDQ-39) (Peto et al., 1998) and the Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale (UPDRS) (Goetz et al., 2008), so different scores and outcomes could not be compared directly.

In summary, the results from this study have built upon previous literature regarding the potential impact of NW for PwP. Other studies in this population have not measured the

longer-term benefits on physical and psychological outcomes, following a global pandemic. Radder's meta-analysis of 191 trials with 7,998 participants (Radder et al., 2020) provides a comprehensive guide to treatment modalities for PD, from a physiotherapy perspective. They scrutinised the evidence for a range of novel, non-drug therapies and concluded that dance, Nordic walking, balance and gait training, and martial arts improved motor symptoms, balance, and gait. Exergaming improved balance and quality of life (Radder et al., 2020). In conclusion, Radder (2020) suggested that the evidence from their meta-analysis could allow policy makers, clinicians, and patients to make an evidence-based choice about specific treatment modalities. They recommended that further research was required to directly compare the various rehabilitation interventions, which this study contributes towards.

## 2.3.4 Conclusion

The study achieved its main aims and recruited 49 PwP (the target was 40-60), from a diverse population according to age, H&Y stage of PD, number of years since diagnosis and background. The NW intervention was delivered on time, to target, with fidelity and within resources allocated to it. The lead researcher (SM) delivered two NW sessions (one hour each) every week for 13 months. Participants came to the group every week and almost 80% of the outcome measures were collected (79.6%). PwP demonstrated motor and non-motor benefits, and these persisted up to six months post intervention.

Once we established that NW was feasible for PwP and there were benefits, the next stage was to explore the participants' opinions of the intervention. A qualitative FG method was chosen to ascertain the perceptions of PwP who undertook the repeated measures NW study. The aim was to determine facilitators and core components for future community NW groups and to build on the findings from the quantitative study.

Policy makers could consider a wider roll-out of NW instructor training for NHS PD specialists, to equip clinicians with the skills to deliver community rehabilitation groups in social and clinical settings. The cost for NWI instructor training is £485 per person (British Nordic Walking, 2023a). Once PwP have had guided specialist instruction they may feel confident to join mixed NW groups or NW with a partner or alone, as illustrated by the maintenance of improved outcomes and field notes from this study. This will be explored further in the FG study (Chapter 3).

Unanswered questions, and suggested future research, are considered in the context of the whole MPhil and will be included following the FG results in the overall discussion (Chapter 4).

## CHAPTER 3 FOCUS GROUP STUDY

#### 3.1 Methods

#### 3.1.1 Research design

This FG study sought to evaluate an eight-week rolling programme of NW being delivered to PwP in a community rehabilitation setting, to better understand the characteristics and core components needed for further implementation. The aspiration was to understand the practical, safety and individual aspects of setting up NW groups through the opinions and experiences of PwP, NWIs, and NW walk leaders (WL). The FGs intended to answer the research question: "What are the characteristics and core components needed to implement NW groups for PwPs in a community rehabilitation setting?"

The aim, as set out in Chapter 1, was to establish the characteristics and core components needed to implement NW groups for PwPs in a community rehabilitation setting.

An exploratory qualitative approach was employed to establish the facilitators/core components required to set up NW groups for PwP. A FG study design and thematic analysis (TA) were used to explore characteristics and enablers inductively, as reported by Braun and Clarke (Braun and Clarke, 2006).

FGs were chosen over individual interviews to facilitate interactive conversations between participants, with an aspiration to elicit a range of strong themes and subthemes. The strength of this method was to establish group dynamics, stimulate dialogue and elicit opinions about group norms. Three, one hour-long FGs had potential to yield a broad range of themes, in a brief period. An individual interview for fifteen participants would have been more time-consuming to deliver, to transcribe and to analyse. The subject matter was not emotive, nor sensitive, and the FG study captured the groups' experiences, rather than an individual's opinions or feelings. Had the subject been of a personal, sensitive nature, a different methodology would have been employed (e.g., individual interviews).

Kruger's study in 2019 was with undergraduate women and their disclosed feelings about body image. Kruger's research question was, "Individual interviews or focus groups? Interview format and women's self-disclosure", (Kruger et al., 2019). The subject matter was sensitive (body image). The results of the study suggested that individual interviews in a supportive environment were more conducive to disclosing sensitive feelings, compared to a FG design. A further study by Schuster et al aligned with Kruger's study. The subject was gender-based violence against women and the criminal justice system (Schuster et al., 2023). The lead researcher regarded the NW FG study as not sensitive and unlikely to elicit sensitive emotions. This qualitative approach, asking patients or participants about their opinions and experiences of a treatment plan, is growing rapidly in the field of medicine and dentistry research (Gill and Baillie, 2018).

#### 3.1.2 Recruitment

## Identifying participants

PwP and any partners who were able to NW, having accompanied their partner with PD in the NW intervention study, were invited to attend one of two FGs. NWI and WL were invited to join the third group. The aim was to encourage discussion from a variety of experiences and perspectives, to add to the richness of data. A decision was taken to convene all three FGs, irrespective of whether saturation was achieved after two groups. Homogeneity of participant characteristics was partially achieved as most participants had an interest in NW. However, there was sufficient variation in background, age, disease duration and H&Y stage to allow for contrasting opinions, as suggested by Willig et al (2017).

## Participant recruitment

The PwP participants (and one spouse) were a sub-group/sample from the main NW for Parkinson's study (n=53, Chapter 2). The spouse had accompanied throughout the eight NW sessions and had learned the NW technique (their physical outcome measures were not recorded as this was not specified in the protocol). It was not initially planned for them to attend the FG, but they provided transportation, a one hour journey each way, to the NW sessions. The spouse added their perspective to the FG discussion. Other partners and carers were invited to join the FG study, but they chose not to attend.

All the NW research participants from the pre-post measures feasibility study were emailed and invited in person, at the end of the NW class, to establish expressions of interest. Any participant who was interested, and available, was invited to join the FG. PwP were offered one of two FG times (am or pm).

NWI and WL were recruited via the BNW regional and national networks via social media (a closed Facebook group for NWI and WL). Prospective participants sent an email to the lead researcher, expressing an interest to take part in the study.

#### Consent

Once a participant had shown interest in attending a FG, they were given a participant information sheet (PIS, Appendix 12), 24 hours before the FG. In addition to the electronic copies, sent via email, at the start of each FG, hard copies of the PIS were available. Additional time was given to consider the contents of the PIS and ask questions. Signed, informed consent was obtained at the beginning of each FG from all participants.

#### Setting

The FGs were held in a meeting room, at university premises, close to the location of the NW intervention.

## 3.1.3 Eligibility

## Inclusion criteria (PwP)

- Eligibility criteria included experience of NW, by attending the NW intervention sessions, as well as meeting the inclusion criteria for the pre-post measures feasibility study (Chapter Two).
- Any spouse/ partner who had accompanied a PwP for the whole eight-week NW intervention.

## Inclusion criteria (NWI/WL)

• Inclusion criteria for the NWI was an instructor's qualification with BNW and recent experience of running NW groups for PwP. The WL also had a BNW qualification.

## Exclusion criteria (PwP)

- Complex comorbidities including frequent falls and significant postural hypotension (reduction of 20mmHg systolic or greater, with adverse symptoms), assessed by SM with the adapted PARQ (Appendix 6).
- H&Y stage five (Hoehn and Yahr, 2001).
- Advanced dementia.

## Exclusion criteria (NWI/WL).

- No experience of leading NW groups for PwP.
- No continuing professional development (CPD) or professional qualification for PD.

#### Sample size

The ideal number of participants in a FG is deemed to be between five and eight (Willig, 2017). In the marketing sector, numbers could be between ten to 12 people, according to the Sage Handbook (Willig, 2017). However, this number would be too large for a healthcare setting, especially with PwP who may have quiet, dysarthric voices and might be hard of hearing (Bloem et al., 2020).

#### 3.1.4 Process during the FG

The lead researcher (SM), with support of the supervisory team (VB and FA), hereafter called the research team (RT) compiled the FG interview schedules (Appendix 13). A separate schedule (Appendix 14) was developed for the NWI/WL FGs, based upon the experience of the RT, and current research about NW groups for PwP.

A member of the RT, not the lead researcher (SM), took the lead during the FG and asked an ice-breaker question. This served to facilitate the transcriber, as participants said their name and gave some background information. The discussion was audio recorded and each FG lasted one hour. The lead researcher interjected, when appropriate, but did not ask leading

or prompt questions, to reduce introducing bias (Silverman, 2022). Participants were encouraged to engage and conduct peer discussion. Quieter members of the group were actively encouraged to contribute to the discussion to ensure that their views and opinions were heard. There was no break during the FG, but refreshments were served beforehand and a light meal afterwards, during a debriefing period (30 minutes). Travel expenses were reimbursed.

#### Data analysis

Each FG was recorded on a digital voice recorder and audio files were electronically transferred to a University of Nottingham approved transcriber for transcription. The audio was transcribed verbatim. Three separate, pseudonymised transcripts were returned securely to the researcher for detailed coding. A pseudonym name was given to each participant and used as identifiers on the transcript.

Transcripts were shared with a second researcher (FA) for scrutiny and to complete independent data analysis. The additional researcher served to increase the credibility and validity of the research findings. Triangulation in research was described by Helen and Roberta and this study adopted investigator triangulation for the FG study and methodological triangulation for the MPhil studies (Helen and Roberta, 2019). Triangulation aimed to reduce researcher bias and helped to explore complex human behaviour by employing a variety of methods for data collection.

Thematic analysis was utilised (Braun and Clarke, 2006). Coloured highlighters, and the comments feature, were used on the electronic documents. Sub-themes were distilled and poignant quotes, captured. Thematic analysis was chosen for this qualitative research, following Braun and Clarke's (2006) six step approach. Data familiarisation (step one) was embedded by reading the transcripts several times, checking for errors, and accurately matching the quotations to the participants. Two researchers coded inductively for characteristics and core components to implement NW groups for PwP (step two). The researchers then reviewed and refined the codes and identified initial patterns or themes (step three). Further discussion involved reviewing the themes, to ensure that they answered the research question (step four) and in step five the themes were named and defined, including subthemes for each overarching theme. Themes from all three groups were combined and checked with the original transcripts for accuracy. Inductive codes and themes came from the data but were considered in the context of available literature. Step six was the formal report, the synthesis of the data, including a comparison with existing literature, methods, results, observation and recommendations for future practice or research.

Michie's BCW provided a framework as main themes were mapped onto the behaviour change model (Michie et al., 2011). Michie's BCW, Figure 22, found in Chapter 1 (Michie et al., 2011) provided a framework to investigate complex factors including: the *capability* of the participant to engage with NW classes, the *opportunity* to attend the group and the *motivation* to change and continue to exercise (lifestyle factors). Motivation to exercise and to embed this into a routine are key features in maintaining fitness (White et al., 2023). Some PwP are apathetic, and lack drive, so there is a barrier to initiating and engaging with rehabilitation programmes (Ramaswamy et al., 2018).

## 3.1.5 Ethical approval

Ethical approval was granted in April 2022 (Appendix 15), by the University of Nottingham, Faculty of Medicine Research Ethics Committee (Ref: FMHS 331-0821).

## 3.1.6 Public and patient involvement

The FG study was supported by the same PPI team who proof-read the lay summaries and documents for the repeated measures feasibility study (see section 2.1.9). They represented PUK, PwPs, carers, BNW and a retired senior nurse in the NHS. The phrasing on one document (participant information sheet, PIS, Appendix 12) was changed following feedback from the PPI team.

## 3.2 Results

## *3.2.1 Description of the sample*

In total, 15 participants were recruited into three FGs; groups one and two for PwP (and one spouse), and group three for instructors/walk leaders (WL) (Table 66). Six participants attended the first FG (n= 5 males), five PwP attended the second (n=1 male) and four NWI/WL the third (n=1 male). The mean (SD) FG duration was 60 (5) minutes. The groups were conducted in May and June 2022.

Participant number (n=15)	PwP/NWI/WL/ Spouse PwP	Male/Female	Time since PD diagnosis (years)	Group type	Group number	am/pm FG
1	PwP	F	1	PwP	1	pm
2	PwP	М	7	PwP	1	pm
3	PwP	М	5	PwP	1	pm
4	PwP	М	13.5	PwP	1	pm
5	PwP	М	4.5	PwP	1	pm
6	PwP	М	6	PwP	1	pm
7	PwP	F	4	PwP	2	am
8	PwP	F	3	PwP	2	am
9	Spouse PwP	М	-	PwP	2	am
10	PwP	F	2	PwP	2	am
11	PwP	F	3	PwP	2	am
12	NWI	F	-	NWI	3	am
13	NWI	F	-	NWI	3	am
14	NWI	М	-	NWI	3	am
15	WL	F	-	WL	3	am

#### Table 66 Focus group study. Description of the sample.

Abbreviations: PwP=People with Parkinson's, NWI=Nordic Walking instructor, WL=Walk Leader, PD=Parkinson's Disease, FG=Focus group, F=Female, M=Male, pm=post meridiem, am=ante meridiem.

## 3.2.2 Thematic analysis

Six over-arching themes were distilled from the multiple codes. Table 77 shows the six themes and minor sub-themes. Quotations from the participants highlight the sub-themes. How these themes related to Michie's Behaviour Change Wheel are identified in brackets.

Themes	Sub-themes
1. NW is physically beneficial for PwP (Capability)	Improves mobility by facilitating an increase in upright posture, gait, balance, and improved arm-swing
	A whole person approach rather than medical model of therapy, full body workout
	Compliments other forms of exercise
2. NW facilitates group interaction	Social interaction in a relaxed environment
(Motivation)	Peer motivation to engage and continue to exercise
	Parkrun/ Parkwalk
3. Practical aspects of implementing	Accessibility, parking, public transport, amenities
NW groups for PwP	Time of class and medication.
(Opportunity)	Location, weather, and terrain.
	Funding.
4. Qualities and characteristics of the NW Instructor	Specialist experience of Parkinson's and other disabilities builds confidence.
(Motivation & Opportunity)	Communication and motivation.
	WL enhances group safety.
5. Optimising the safety of the group &	Outdoor exercise after lockdown.
risk management.	Risk assessments: Health, Parkinson's & COVID-19.
(Opportunity)	
6. Facilitators for setting up community	Adaptable to diverse levels of ability, age, disease severity.
rehabilitation NW groups for PwP.	Publicity, equipment, and partnerships.
(Capability, Opportunity & Motivation)	Accessibility and inclusivity.
	Lifestyle and enjoyment.

Table 77 Focus group themes and sub themes

Abbreviations: NW=Nordic Walking, PwP=People with Parkinson's, COVID-19= Coronavirus.

Six main, strong, recurring themes were identified across the three FGs. These themes point to the characteristics and core components required to set up NW groups for PwP in a community rehabilitation setting. The main themes are supported by 19 sub-themes (represented below in italics).

#### Theme one: NW is physically beneficial for PwP (Capability).

*NW improves mobility by facilitating an increase in upright posture, gait, balance, and improved arm-swing.* 

Most of the FG participants reported improvements in their overall, physical health and were positive about many motor benefits of NW. Some people indicated that they struggled with other forms of exercise, running, or going to a gym. In addition, some reported that their families noticed that they were more upright, had improved confidence and better balance when walking. They intentionally moved both arms, even when poles were not present, and this improved bilateral arm swing. This was reflected in these comments:

"The big thing with the poles is that it gets your arms working. I had stopped swinging my left arm, but I swing it now when I walk with poles." (PwP 4).

"You feel more confident with the poles. It is energising I think." (PwP 5).

"The thing I take away is step number one, posture. See, I have remembered something. I do think it makes a difference. My family have noticed a difference." (PwP 8).

#### A whole person approach rather than medical model of therapy, full body workout.

Several participants (n=5) expressed a view that they believed NW could potentially improve the body and mind. They talked about exercise as a form of therapeutic treatment, in addition to medication and lifestyle choices. They spoke positively about a full body workout and one participant spoke with passion about alternative, non-drug therapies. She concluded:

"I was bit anxious about being seen with PD because I didn't really want to go down too much of a medical route. For me I wanted to find alternative ways. Once I heard exercise was the key component to keep on going, I thought I would give it my best shot." (PwP 8).

#### Compliments other forms of exercise.

Several participants enjoyed other sports and NW was part of their array of activities. As restrictions lifted one participant returned to golf and two others increased their running goals. On-line exercise classes were available during lockdown but getting outside with others was very appealing. As one participant exclaimed:

"It was the fact that we could all meet up and be outside, get fit, it put us in a different position to a lot of other activities. Much better than Zoom!" (PwP 2).

The NW instructors were knowledgeable about adapting exercises for older people or those who have disabilities. One NWI explained that NW uses two special poles and so the mechanical load of the body is spread over four limbs. He said that this lowers the impact on knees and hips, so NW is deemed to be a relatively safe sport that could be beneficial for PwP. Another instructor explained:

"I have a painful knee, so sometimes I need to walk slowly, and the poles help me to keep moving. We run a Nordic Amblers group with a gentler pace." (NWI 13).

#### Theme two: NW facilitates group interaction (Motivation)

#### Social interaction in a relaxed environment

Most participants (n=12) expressed that the social aspect of meeting others with PD was motivating. Some felt that they would not attend a PD social gathering or formal support group, yet they felt comfortable meeting PwP at an exercise class. Two participants were recently diagnosed with Parkinson's and remarked that they found discussing PD with friends and family an emotive topic. This view was echoed by another participant who reported:

"This is a bit more relaxed and that's why I joined was to meet other people, but not in a let's all sit down and talk about Parkinson's because I think I would find that a bit daunting at the moment." (PwP 1).

Walking and talking was conducive to rich conversations as most participants expressed that they felt more relaxed outside, in nature, in the fresh air. Several people commented that they were grateful to meet others and for the opportunity to exercise together. As one individual stated:

"I think the other thing that strikes me is the actual social aspect of this is quite important as well because I think with any sort of illness you can get rather down about it and just to meet other people and have a bit of natter as you walk without being self-conscious and worrying about things." (PwP 11).

#### Peer motivation to engage and continue to exercise.

The NW participants who attended the FGs were motivated to be there. Many had completed the eight-week programme of NW intervention and continued to attend the classes. A common view amongst the participants was that they wanted to increase their fitness, particularly after the COVID-19 lockdown, but they valued the motivation of others as a stimulus to continue and persevere. For example, this comment was frequently expressed, even if the weather was inclement:

"Yes. It is the kind of encouragement or peer pressure depending on which way you look at it from anything from when you are here, if you feel a bit tired you keep going because that is what everyone else is doing." (PwP 5).

However, the same participant added balance to the group dynamic, by expressing an opposing view. He felt that some people may find it difficult to attend the NW classes. He argued that:

"We are a self-selecting group. It would be useful to get feedback from the people who are not here! We are people who have flexibility in our work so that we can attend the Nordic walking class some weeks and attend work meetings on other weeks. Other people might be excluded from joining the Nordic walking for Parkinson's classes, because they have work or family commitments". (PwP 5).

Some of the participants were of working age (n=2), but the range was from 51-80 years, with some older participants remaining highly active (enjoying yoga, Pilates, and running). Meeting other people, who were regularly active, was motivating and there was a strong

sub-theme that peoples' mental health, motivation and mood were elevated by attending the NW classes, as expressed here:

"Yes, it worked both physically and mentally, yes. It has been good to meet up with people, to meet other people that are active." (PwP 10).

#### Parkrun/parkwalk

Three participants commented that NW gave them motivation and confidence to take part in other exercise settings, specifically, NW weekly at parkrun. They were positive about regular NW with a group of friends and set personal goals re distance and frequency. They reported that NW was the stimulus to get them outside and exercise after lockdown, and NW opened new opportunities and adventures. As one participant reported:

"And I did a parkrun didn't I? But I am lucky because this friend is taking early retirement and is looking for some interests so when I said I was doing the pole walking, she said she might be interested. She is going to be quite a good motivation." (PwP 8).

This was echoed by a PwP in the other FG who was keen to set achievable goals, but who disliked running. They enjoyed the atmosphere and the peer support at parkrun and one participant commented:

"I feel if I do something like parkwalk, I have achieved a goal to do some activity each day. If you have got a motivation for doing it, then that is always a good thing. You want a bit of variety; running is not my thing." (PwP 4).

#### Theme three: Practical aspects of implementing NW groups for PwP (Opportunity)

#### Accessibility, parking, public transport, amenities.

These practical subthemes resonated strongly across all three FG's and stimulated a rich discussion. If there was inadequate parking on a sunny day during the school holidays, participants expressed their disappointment and rising stress levels. Three people arrived early to secure a parking space or chose to travel on public transport. The location was accessible by tram, bus and car and a minority of participants travelled for over an hour (n=2). When they arrived for class, there was a café and easy access toilets. Without these core components in place, the NW group would not function smoothly. Several participants commented:

"It has got decent parking, can be a bit crowded, good public transport, so you can come on the tram or the bus and there is a café and toilets, without those things it would be difficult for some people." (PwP 6).

Access to the toilet in a timely manner is of paramount importance, especially in a mixed group of participants with PD at various stages. One instructor expressed their concerns:

*"If they need to stop at the toilet. In a normal mixed abilities group, they might feel embarrassed" (NWI 13).* 

#### Time of class and medication

The participants chose a morning or afternoon FG, and factors included the timing and impact of their medication. Three participants commented that they wanted more flexibility in the time of NW classes as they were more 'active' in the morning. Some reported that their medication regimen worked well in the afternoon and one participant chose to join the later (red/advanced) group as his medication 'kicked in' by 2.30pm. One NWI explained:

"I have a lady who jabs (Apomorphine injection), and she will be half-way through the walk, and you see her winding down. We stop, want a water break? "Yes" and she will slip off, do her injections. She is like clockwork again." (NWI 12).

Another NWI for PwP emphasised that flexibility was important, by listening to the needs of her group. Consensus was reached several years ago that they preferred an earlier class. In response to their requests, she commented:

"Mine are in the morning because they are up and ready and took all their pills and their system is working properly, so we go at 11 o'clock". (NWI 12).

#### Location, weather, and terrain

When asked about the location, the participants were unanimous in their view that the central, free access, parkland setting was ideal for NW. There were flat areas for warm up exercises and cool down stretches. A beginner's group could do all their NW on level ground and there was a variety of terrain, on the downs (hills), the lake and through the woodland area. Short, dry grass was preferable to muddy paths and participants preferred sunny, dry days to cold, wet afternoons. Despite the seasonal changes, participants attended the classes all year round, with a few class cancellations due to weather risk assessments (extreme heat wave, high winds or electric storm). Three participants expressed that rainy days were energising and helped them to sleep better. They discussed the feel-good factor of exercising outdoors in all weathers and one participant commented:

"But even not on a day like this, some days have been horrible, haven't they? Even then it still felt good." (PwP 1).

This was echoed by another participant who spoke positively about the location:

"And when you think about the variety you have got from this end of University Boulevard to that end through the park, the walk with stepping-stones. Parkinson's can affect you and this is a good place to use your poles when going up a hill. The terrain, I think is great for it." (PwP 2).

#### Funding

A question that several participants asked and discussed was "who pays for the NW groups?" As this was a research project the participants were provided with the NW intervention/ tuition and poles for free. There were different models of funding across the region, and it was beyond the scope of this study to answer this question. One instructor volunteered her perspective:

"I think it just depends, because like with C, she is getting paid, so she may well be charged to use the venue. For me because I am a volunteer and I only take enough to cover my expenses which is the other thing about organising it, who is running it, what is their status in the organisation, are they paid, or unpaid?" (NWI 12).

## Theme four: Qualities and characteristics of the NW Instructor (Motivation and Opportunity).

#### Specialist experience of Parkinson's and other disabilities builds confidence.

Almost two-thirds of participants, who took part in the FGs, reported that the NWI was pivotal to the success of the group. Six PwP indicated that the personality, motivation, and experience of the lead researcher (SM) as a NWI was crucial. Their specialist, NHS, clinical experience of PD and other disabilities enhanced the study's quality and authenticity. They 'trusted' the instructor because she had a wealth of knowledge about PD at all stages. The comment below illustrated this point:

"I think you feel comfortable about asking about Parkinson's because of the knowledge that she has. I would be quite open to have people without Parkinson's walking in the same group. I think to normalise it is an issue to try and be part of life. You want that understanding but primarily yes, we want someone who will take control of and understands Parkinson's." (PwP 11).

#### Communication and motivation

The NW research groups received information in written and verbal form most weeks from the lead researcher, in their role as a NWI. This included news about dedicated community events, parkrun with the NW group, cancelled classes and FGs. The NW participants were encouraged and motivated by the NWI to set personal goals regarding distance, a parkwalk, NW with family members and taking NW poles on holiday. They were motivated by the NWI and spurred on by others. They thanked the instructor for the email reminders and said that they enjoyed the special events. As one participant remarked:

"You have been a good motivator, incredibly positive person that I can spot straight away now in that red outfit at parkrun or our sessions. So, I never thought, where is this group?" (PwP 8).

#### WL enhances group safety.

The NWI and WL FG expressed strongly that a WL was essential for the safety of the group. This could be a mixed abilities group for people with or without PD. Sometimes carers or relatives joined the NW groups. A skilled NWI has experience of a range of disabilities and can tailor the exercises, and structure the NW programme, to suit the group. Several models of NW delivery exist, and it was beyond the scope of this paper to define best practice. As one instructor emphasised:

"I have worked with Parkinson's only groups, and I have worked with mixing them into other groups, and I find both works well. I had some reservations about doing Parkinson's only groups especially if they are seeing people further along the line. I think the main issue for me is having worked with people with a range of illness and health problems you do need a walk leader or a helper. So, in all my groups, I have a helper." (NWI 14).

The WL, in response, offered her perspective. This was inciteful as she had supported both research NW groups for PwP every week since the start of the project (eight months). She illustrated this point:

"It does mean as a walk leader I have done the warm-up and cool down training and so if people do arrive late, I can be dealing with that while SM is getting on with the group. And there has been on at least one occasion when somebody needed to stop and go back and so we did the cool down together and I made sure they were safe to get home." (WL 15).

She explained a further point:

"You can go to the Nordic walking instructor level, it teaches you how to teach the Nordic walking strategies, how to manage the groups, how to do a risk assessment. Then if you go on to the Parkinson's CPD modules they give you a better awareness of what is normal, if you call it 'normal' to a range of Parkinson's symptoms. That is useful because then you think, this must be their Parkinson's or is it something else? So, you have graded awareness and a lot of it comes from experience as well". (WL 15).

## Theme five: Optimising the safety of the group and risk management (Opportunity)

#### Outdoor exercise after lockdown

PwP were pleased to start exercising together in groups as they emerged from the COVID-19 lockdown. Some PwP had spent months indoors, 'shielding from the virus' away from family and friends. This had resulted in physical deconditioning, and it impacted upon their well-being. To optimise safety, risk assessments were conducted for the venue, the group, the individual, and COVID-19. The NW for PwP classes started in November 2021, so COVID was still a potential threat to health and welfare. Participants met outside, near the café and the group maintained social distancing, two metres apart. All NW classes were delivered outside and the overall response from participants was positive. This participant summarized the sentiments of the group:

"I think it was picking up from where you stopped. The first activity when you found out everybody had been living the sense all their lives in lockdown and were glad to be heading out and getting back to normal, whatever normal is going to be. It was the fact that we could all meet up and be outside and get fit!" (PwP 2).

#### Risk assessments: Health, Parkinson's & COVID-19

The NWI and WL group discussed safety and risk assessments, in particular the specific health assessment for PwP. Two PwP participants expressed their gratitude that they felt safe, and this enabled them to walk further and to participate in 5k community events. The PD risk assessment contained more detail about falls, medication, blood pressure (low or high) and cognition. One NWI voiced her concerns about the standard physical activity readiness (health) questionnaire (PARQ) (Appendix 8) for PwP:

*"I always fill in the back of it and say the person has told me this is their norm, I have observed this when I have been walking with them, so I have made additional notes on* 

the back of the assessment because you don't get it all on the straight-forward PARQ health risk assessment". (NWI 13).

# Theme six: Facilitators for setting up community rehabilitation NW groups for PwP (Capability, Opportunity and Motivation).

#### Adaptable to diverse levels of ability, age, disease severity

The practical facilities of transport, toilets and location were noted in theme three. In addition, participants commented that NW was adaptable for people with diverse backgrounds. Having a choice between the beginners' (blue) group and the faster paced (red) group provided a flexible approach. One participant brought a personal assistant with her, and a gentleman with mild cognitive impairment, was accompanied by his partner. A man who was very anxious had two 'private' NW lessons with his wife in the morning, as he struggled in a group setting. The participants were appreciative of this approach and one PwP commented:

"I have been to other walking groups but sometimes the pace is a little bit fast, but when it is set for a Parkinson's group the leader knows the level to set it for and it is more appropriate with the warm and cool down is more specific to the needs of Parkinson's." (PwP 7).

## Publicity, equipment, and partnerships.

Several FG participants (n=5) commented that publicity and partnerships with Parkinson's UK, Parkinson's East Midlands research interest group (PEMRIG), BNW and NHS physiotherapists had motivated them to take part in the study. Publicity from the local chair of a PD group was raised by three participants:

"Nordic walking is something I have always wanted to try, and I was interested, looking at the fun point. I was told about this trial by S who is someone who has PD and very active in the community so he sent out emails to those that might be interested." (PwP 11).

NW requires little equipment, but special NW poles are essential. Most participants expressed gratitude that NW poles were provided. A quieter PwP joined the conversation at this point:

"They are quite sporty they don't look like a walking aid and that is a real sale it is more of a sporty image than a disability. You feel confident with them. It is energising, I think". (PwP 10).

#### Accessibility and inclusivity

Accessibility and availability of classes were reported as major factors and participants commented that choice was important regarding the time, day, and location. Some participants found alternative NW classes, nearer to home on a different day of the week. Two people joined an evening group, after work and there were classes on offer at the weekend at beautiful country parks. A walk leader made this valid point:

"I had a gentleman who swapped from a one o'clock class to two thirty, because his medication worked better by then and he enjoyed the company of the other participants." (WL 15).

## Lifestyle and enjoyment

The NW intervention was inclusive and potentially enjoyable for people with mixed abilities and backgrounds. Some members of the FG reported that they had started to attend parkrun and enjoyed taking part with others who did not have PD. They also commented that they were motivated to include NW as part of their lifestyle by an enthusiastic NWI and friends, in a group.

A subtheme to conclude this section was that most of the participants said that NW was fun. They enjoyed the group interaction, the warm-up and cool down exercises, the variety of conversation and the physical exercise. In summary, the NW classes were relaxed, accessible, suitable for people with diverse backgrounds and they were fun. Two couples attended the FG and NW class together. They have both adopted NW into their weekly routines and left this parting comment:

"I think what P is trying to say there is the embarrassment of walking with sticks. I wouldn't walk around the village on my own but to come to a group and do it and enjoy it and I don't feel embarrassed at all. This got me out of that anyway." (PwP 7).

## Summary of themes

Following thematic analysis of the FGs, the lead researcher summarised the key themes and subthemes regarding the core characteristics and components needed to implement a NW intervention in the community for PwP. An acronym table of subthemes and recommendations for future practice is discussed in 3.3.4. (Table 88).

## 3.3 Discussion

## 3.3.1 Principal findings.

Three FGs were successfully conducted and delivered according to the protocol. Participants engaged with the FGs, and appropriate themes and subthemes were derived from the transcripts of the discussions captured. The six main themes as reported by PwP and NWI/WLs were: 1) NW is physically beneficial for PwP, 2) NW facilitates group interaction, 3) Practical aspects of implementing NW groups for PwP, 4) Qualities and characteristics of the NW instructor, 5) Optimising the safety of the group and risk management, 6) Facilitators for setting up community rehabilitation NW groups for PwP.

## 3.3.2 Strengths and weaknesses of the study

A strength of the FG study design was that there was an opportunity for conversation among participants about a shared experience of a novel intervention. However, the lead researcher, who delivered the NW classes, was in the room, so participants may not have felt that they could freely express negative comments. This may have led to information bias (Smith and Noble, 2014). A strength was that all FGs were facilitated by experienced researchers in qualitative methods. Themes and subthemes were therefore checked by a second or third researcher (FA and VB), to add validity and reliability to the study.

Confounding factors to this study, delivering the NW intervention, was the COVID-19 pandemic. It would be hard to replicate this FG study in its entirety as the environment and situation were impacted by the lockdown and fear of the virus. A weakness of the FG study could be that participants were incredibly positive about exercising in a social setting, outdoors as a group. As discussed in Chapter 2, PwP may have self-selected to participate due to preconceived ideas or attitudes towards NW, therefore giving a skewed perspective of the intervention. The NW intervention met a need for PwP to exercise in a safe space, with robust risk assessments in place, during a difficult and unusual time. This was reflected in the FG discussion and therefore can be considered a strength for the novelty of the study.

The participants were recruited from another study (Chapter 2) and so only a subset of these (n=11) were involved. A weakness in this study was the time commitment required from each participant, specifically attending eight weekly one-hour classes of NW and contributing to the FG. Both points might have led to selection bias (Smith and Noble, 2014) as the sample, who contributed, had time to attend the study, and were motivated to do so, whereas people who were working, or who had other responsibilities, were excluded. A strength was that the people in the FG had recent lived experience of attending, or leading, a NW group and they spoke with first-hand knowledge about the NW intervention.

A further strength of the study was having a second researcher (investigator triangulation), who checked the FG transcripts, assisted with coding, and checked themes with the lead researcher (Helen and Roberta, 2019). A limitation to triangulation was the time commitment for both researchers. This was fundamental to thematic analysis and yielded strong themes and subthemes (Braun and Clarke, 2006).

## 3.3.3 Results in relation to other studies

## NW is physically beneficial for PwP (Capability)

Improvements in physical health found in the literature were also experienced and reported by FG participants. They received oral feedback from their families that they had notable improvements in their posture, balance, and bilateral arm-swing (often lacking on one side by PwP) (Granziera et al., 2021). The FG participants reported enjoying a full body workout (Cugusi et al., 2017), that complimented other forms of exercise (Yang et al., 2022). Previous studies in this population have reported a growing trend towards a whole person approach to treatment, rather than a traditional medical model of therapy for PwP (Salse-Batán et al., 2022).

Another strength was that the integrated approach to PD treatment, found in the literature, was reported by PwP in the FG study. However, this could be a biased sample, as the intervention on offer was a novel NW intervention that was not routinely provided by the NHS. The physical impact of NW is well documented in the literature for PwP with many studies reporting improvements in health outcome measures (Granziera et al., 2021). The specific health outcomes include; increased walking speed (Monteiro et al., 2017), improvements in adopting the correct upright posture (Berg et al., 1992), balance (Bullo et al., 2018), gait (Silva et al., 2016), upper body strength and core stability (Fischer et al., 2015), augmented arm-swing (Bombieri et al., 2017), and better coordination (Monteiro et al., 2015).

al., 2017). Other FG studies, exploring NW as an intervention for rehabilitation in this population found similar themes, such as benefits for PwP using the NW poles in daily life, belonging to a therapeutic NW group, group support to cope with perceptions about PD, and facing the future with PD (Casarotto et al., 2022).

## NW facilitates group interaction (Motivation)

Social interaction in a relaxed environment was a strong subtheme from this FG study and was supported by previous studies involving community exercise groups (Lamont et al., 2012, Yang et al., 2022). Lamont's qualitative study used a similar research design of FGs and TA (Braun and Clarke, 2006). Yang's comprehensive meta-analysis addressed community exercise on motor symptoms in PD, involving 22 studies and 809 participants. The heterogeneity of participants was cited as a confounder, and this is echoed across many studies, including (Szefler-Derela et al., 2020). No two PwP are identical, even if they are a similar age with the same disease duration (Radder et al., 2020).

A strength of the FG study was that peer motivation was important, and participants were inspired by meeting others who were highly active, in the weekly NW exercise classes. This is echoed in a recent qualitative paper (Dabkowski et al., 2021), who carried out a thematic analysis of the perceptions of a community exercise programme for older adults. Their results, like the current FG study, reinforce the need for exercises to be adapted to the needs of the group, to promote inclusivity and accessibility. A weakness of this study could be that PwP with higher levels of motivation participated in the study and had a desire to take part in parkrun or other community events. The results might not be representative of the wider PD population, as some PwP have reduced levels of motivation.

Parkrun/parkwalk was raised by three FG participants and is a growing area of research interest for PwP and other disabilities (Quirk and Haake, 2019, Newson, 2022). It is outside the scope of this MPhil study to discuss this in detail but parkrun, as a weekly, accessible, free, community running or walking event (parkrun, 2023) has potential to contribute to ongoing engagement with exercise for this population. A recent study employed semistructured interviews with people with long-term health conditions and explored the public health impact of parkrun (Quirk and Haake, 2019, parkrun, 2023). It was found that inclusivity and accessibility are key to the success of parkrun. A recent initiative, launched in October 2022, parkwalk, demonstrates this ethos well as people are welcome to walk, NW and use mobility aids (parkrun, 2023).

## Practical aspects of implementing NW groups for PwP (Opportunity)

The location of the NW intervention at a university campus, next to a lake, with public amenities, accessible by public transport and with parking facilities, were strong subthemes across the three FGs. A strength of the FG study was the results compared to previous studies, regarding the practical aspects of setting up community exercise groups (Domingos et al., 2022a). However, a weakness was that few studies had a Parkinson's specific focus. This is an emerging novel area of rehabilitation for PwP.

The flexibility of the instructor to hold two classes, at separate times, for a diverse range of abilities and demographics, were important practical considerations for this feasibility study, identified by the FGs. It was found that the NW group was sensitive to the needs of its members (such as when they needed to stop for medication or to use the bathroom).

Other practical elements, such as completing risk assessments for the terrain and adverse weather, increased the safety for those participating. Communication was another crucial element identified in the FGs (e.g., emails were sent if a class was cancelled, due to high winds or a heatwave). Some of these practical components were described in Elsworth's study (2011), a facilitated community exercise programme for people with diverse long-term neurological disorders (Elsworth et al., 2011). However, the context and setting were different to our NW study as they examined the feasibility and safety of using inclusive fitness gyms for supported, supervised, community exercise programmes. The population was heterogeneous; people living with a range of long-term neurological conditions, including multiple sclerosis, cerebral palsy and motor neurone disease, not solely PD.

## Qualities and characteristics of the NW Instructor (Motivation and Opportunity)

The FGs identified that the NWI was pivotal to the success of the group. Their knowledge and experience of Parkinson's at every stage of the disease was acknowledged and reported by several participants. This finding was echoed in the literature in a newly published paper by White et al, where they described the social context of exercise and the motivating role of the instructor (White et al., 2023). The expertise of a physiotherapist, as a NWI, was acknowledged in the 2019 paper regarding NW and freezing of gait in PD (Wróblewska et al., 2019). Several papers cite physiotherapists delivering a NW intervention (Bassett et al., 2012, Domingos et al., 2022b, Ebersbach et al., 2014, Radder et al., 2020). Following a thorough literature search, only one paper cited a Parkinson's Disease Nurse specialist (PDNS) who trained as an INWA NW instructor, and who delivered NW for PwP, (McCracken et al., 2021). This was the proof-of-concept study that preceded the current research project. This lack of comparable literature could be interpreted as a weakness of the current study. However, it demonstrates a gap in research that this MPhil aims to address. It also opens new opportunities and avenues for NW intervention delivery that could be further explored.

#### Optimising the safety of the group and risk management (Opportunity)

NW remains a novel area of research interest for rehabilitation in PwP. The timing of the study, after the COVID-19 lockdown, may have influenced participant recruitment and motivation to exercise, in a group setting. Participants in the FGs expressed that they preferred exercising outside, rather than in a gym or indoor rehabilitation setting. They reported that they felt protected from harm because the relevant safety measures were in place to mitigate risk. This was echoed in the literature by similar studies, (Schirinzi et al., 2020) although, to the best of knowledge, this was the first FG study for PwP who NW in a community rehabilitation setting.

# Facilitators for setting up community rehabilitation NW groups for PwP (Capability, Opportunity, Motivation).

The partnerships between the lead researcher and PUK, BNW and NHS colleagues, facilitated broad sources of recruitment to the repeated measures study and in turn to the FGs. However, it was also identified, within the FGs, as a core aspect by the participants for offering authenticity to the intervention. Despite a thorough literature search, there were few comparable studies that identify this novel finding.

Studies that were published with a similar population, employed different methods and materials. For example, an RCT of a community exercise study for people with long-term neurological conditions recruited a sample of 99 participants but did not use utilise professional networks to do so (Elsworth et al., 2011). The intervention group (n=51) received 12 weeks of supported exercise in a community rehabilitation setting. The control group (n=48) received standard care for 12 weeks and were then offered the intervention. Main measures included physical activity, adherence to exercise, measurements of mobility, health, and well-being. Elsworth concluded that people with long-term neurological conditions can safely exercise in community gyms if they receive practical and physical support. They may achieve similar attendance/ adherence to standard exercise schemes. However, they may reduce other hobbies and activities to attend a supported place at a community gym (Elsworth et al., 2011).

These practical facilitators, for setting up community rehabilitation interventions, had similarities to our study. The results were comparable as the attainment of a physically active lifestyle benefited mobility, health, and well-being. This in turn had potential to reduce the impact of disease burden and reduce health care costs in people living with neurological conditions (Elsworth et al., 2011).

Another aspect about setting up the NW groups was that there were minimal overhead costs as the venue (outside, in a park on university grounds) and the intervention, were free to the participants. The main cost would have been the cost of the NWI, but this was covered by the research budget. Other studies cited low cost of NW and ease of access to a variety of locations as compelling reasons to take up this form of exercise (Salse-Batán et al., 2022). In their systematic review and meta-analysis, Salse-Batan (2022) conducted an indepth review of high-quality literature, to guide practitioners in prescribing NW for PwP. They concluded that NW appeared to improve walking ability and quality of life. They recommended further research in the latter outcome.

Eight participants from the FG study continued to NW regularly as well as all the instructors and NWL. This served to highlight potential lifestyle choices for the participants; to continue to exercise and maintain fitness. Having fun was important for engagement, resilience, and perseverance and this was echoed in similar studies, (Bloem et al., 2015, Dabkowski et al., 2021, Farnsworth and Burtscher, 2010).

# **3.3.4** Meaning of the study: possible mechanisms and implications for clinicians or policymakers

This was a small qualitative study with three FGs that were held during a COVID-19 pandemic. Participants were easy to recruit from the main pre-post measures study and engaged with the research schedule. The study has started to answer this research question, "What are the characteristics and core components needed to implement NW groups for PwP in a community rehabilitation setting?"

By using the derived themes and subthemes, a service model could be designed for third sector organisations, clinicians, and policymakers for the roll out of further community NW groups for PwP, in various locations, led by appropriately trained NW instructors, with knowledge and experience of PD. The six main themes could help to provide a replicable framework or model. A clinician could train to become a NWI, in order to deliver NW according to the ten step INWA method (International Nordic Walking Federation, 2023).

The clinician would motivate and encourage PwP to start NW and signpost or accompany them to parkrun/parkwalk community events. The clinician, as a NWI would address the practical aspects for implementing NW in a suitable location that is accessible for people with mixed abilities. The clinician could offer sessions to suit the group regarding their medication efficacy and timing, PD symptoms and stage of disease. The clinician would have specialist knowledge of PD and would conduct appropriate risk assessments (Appendix 6). The PD specialist would have an established clinical and professional network and could partner with PUK, BNW, and social prescribing, for the sustainability of future NW groups in the community. Some subthemes were grouped under the initial letters of the word Parkinson's and became a useful aide-memoire, for teaching and disseminating results (table 8).

#### Table 88 Parkinson's acronym of subthemes.

P= Physical activity
A= Adventure and not Apathy
R= Reconditioning
K= Kindred spirits. Exercising with new friends/spouses/ partners
I= Inclusive. Available to people of all ages and diverse backgrounds
N= Non-motor benefits (improved sleep, mood, motivation, less pain, and constipation)
S= Sporty poles, not walking aids
O= Outdoors and the benefits of exercising in the green gym/ healing balm effect
N= Nature and well-being
'= Belonging. Some PwP felt very isolated during lockdown. NW was one of the first activities to re-start as well as golf. They enjoyed meeting people outside with a shared interest
S= Spouses and friends

#### 3.4 Conclusion

PwP reported physical and psychological benefits from participating in an eight-week course of NW during a series of three FGs. They enjoyed the social aspect of exercising as a group with like-minded, motivated peers. Practical facilitators included access to public transport, parking, café and toilet facilities, NW poles and varied terrain with beautiful scenery. The personality, motivational skills, and PD expertise of the NWI were key to the delivery of the NW intervention. Risk assessments for PD, complex comorbidities and COVID-19 optimised the safety of the group. Overhead costs were minimal and future NW community rehabilitation programmes for PwP could seek NHS, social values, social prescribing, or third-party funding sources, in partnership with BNW and PUK.

## **CHAPTER 4 DISCUSSION**

## 4.1 Statement of Principal Findings

The overarching research question for this MPhil was explored through a narrative literature review, a quantitative repeated measures feasibility study (involving motor and non-motor outcomes) and a qualitative FG study. The aspiration was to understand the impact and accessibility of NW for PwP from a diverse background regarding age, stage and duration of disease, following the COVID-19 pandemic. The repeated measures study recruited 49 participants. Qualitative data from three FGs (n=15) reinforced and complimented quantitative statistical analysis. Previous studies recorded motor and non-motor outcome measures following a NW intervention in PwP (Cugusi et al., 2015), (Salse-Batán et al., 2022). However, few used FGs to understand the impact and core components of such an intervention and fewer were conducted during the COVID-19 pandemic (McCracken et al., 2021).

## 4.2 Comparison of Findings to Other Literature

Previous studies reported the immediate benefits, after a short intervention of NW (six to eight weeks), in this population (Reuter et al., 2011, Cugusi et al., 2015). Few NW studies researched the longer-term impact (six months or more) of a NW programme (van Eijkeren et al., 2008). Some studies delivered the NW intervention over a longer period (up to 24-weeks) (Reuter et al., 2011, Salse-Batán et al., 2022), but did not report on the longer-term impact of that extended 24-week intervention. This study found that an eight-week intervention was sufficient time to identify a change and that change remained in some outcomes at six months. For instance, the outcomes of improved posture (Tragus), speed and cadence over 10 and 20 metres, TUG and some NMS.

PwP often have a shorter stride, shuffling gait, and reduced arm-swing in one or both arms (initially unilateral) (Bloem et al., 2016). This NW intervention aimed to address some of these motor deficits. This study was like the Ebersbach study (Ebersbach et al., 2010). They reported on large amplitude movements, comparing the Lee Silverman 'Big' intervention to walking and NW (Ebersbach et al., 2010). Data from their studies shaped and continues to influence current PD rehabilitation delivery models, by focussing therapy interventions on exaggerated and augmented limb movements (Ebersbach et al., 2014).

A popular, current intervention facilitating large movements, delivered by neuro physiotherapists is PD Warrior© (Warrior, 2023). The NW intervention delivered in this MPhil study also emphasises exaggerated movements of both the arms and legs, with the potential to optimise the benefits of walking by intentionally pushing through the NW poles, as described by (Silva et al., 2016). Therefore, it could be argued that NW is a non-healthcare delivered intervention, that uses these same 'big' movement principles, which is accessible in the community. Further research, that directly compares the effectiveness between these interventions, is needed.

Heterogeneity of PwP in the repeated measures study (age, years since diagnosis, H&Y stage) was a confounding factor in comparing similar studies (Appendix 2). This MPhil aimed to recruit participants from a diverse background as shown in participant characteristics in Chapter 1. There was a wide range of ages (48-82 years), years since diagnosis (1-15 years) and stage of disease (H&Y 1-4). Therefore, it was feasible to deliver a NW intervention in a

diverse sample of PwP, but the sample was equally heterogeneous compared to other literature in this field. Future effectiveness trials or RCT studies would need to take this into account in the design.

Persuading or motivating PwP to exercise, or start a novel sport, was explored through Michie's research, knowledge and experience of health psychology and sociology. The BCW served to shape intervention delivery and policy, by understanding the capabilities, opportunities, and motivation of PwP to change, or in the case of this study to undertake a NW intervention (Michie et al., 2011). Radder's meta-analysis of physiotherapy interventions for PwP (191 trials with 7998 participants) served to inform policy makers and clinicians about the merits and potential scope of NW as a rehabilitation intervention (Radder et al., 2020). Radder concluded that NW has a beneficial effect on motor symptoms, balance, and gait. The evidence base facilitates clinicians and PwP to make choices regarding treatment modalities, and the uptake of novel sports (Radder et al., 2020). Ramaswamy's (2018) practical approach to exercise, provides clinicians and policymakers with a choice about rehabilitation interventions for PwP at various stages of PD (Ramaswamy et al., 2018). It is hoped that this MPhil study can be used to help change practice.

A further practical approach, whose goal was to enable and facilitate PwP to exercise, was the health risk assessment performed before the NW intervention (Appendix 6). This assessment served to reduce risk, for example, falls as cited by (Reuter et al., 2011), but also to anticipate and manage risk and to encourage PwP to start new challenges and activities. Positive risk taking is widely cited in literature for adults with intellectual disabilities (Seale et al., 2013), and indeed was found to be important in the field notes and FGs. Therefore, this study corresponds with existing literature in the field and adds to the evidence base to support changes in practice.

The context and challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic (World Health Organisation, 2021) played a significant role in recruitment, intervention delivery (two NW groups per week for 13 months) and data collection of the 49 participants, in this repeated measures study (Chapter 2). It also makes this study difficult to replicate as the societal influences at that time were impacted by fear of coronavirus and the inevitable disruption to NHS service provision. This was corroborated in the FGs findings (theme 5) which found that participants appreciated the safety measures, and regular risk assessments, which had been put in place to mitigate the spread of infection. That said, one aspect of COVID-19's legacy could be its influence on the resilience, determination, and innovation of the PD community and of those delivering PD services.

This claim was supported in the literature by Dorsey et al (2020) and Bloem et al (2021). Bloem, a Dutch neurologist, researched personalised management of PD for many years. He described an optimal multidisciplinary (MDT) approach from diagnosis, in addition to tailored medication and non-pharmacological interventions, such as novel sports, exergaming and NW (Bloem et al., 2021). Dorsey et al, (2018b) acknowledged the rise in the incidence and prevalence of PD and a call to action to be ready for a potential PD pandemic (Dorsey et al., 2018b). The same authors collected data, made observations and recommendations for PwP following the COVID-19 pandemic regarding telemedicine and innovative interventions, that would reshape care for people with movement disorders (Dorsey et al., 2020). This MPhil study adds to this body of research with a novel
rehabilitation intervention, delivered outdoors by an NHS clinician, with the potential for psycho-social benefits of the 'green gym' and 'healing balm' effect (Priest, 2007).

Priest (2007) wrote about the experiences of participants who used a walking group for their well-being, by exploring the psychological benefits of a physical activity outdoors. Priest collected data via interviews, a group discussion and participant observation. Their grounded theory approach, as defined by Glaser and Strauss (1967), served to develop the model 'Healing Balm Effect' (Glaser, 1967). This model had seven categories that were comparable to the results of the FG study and NMSS questionnaire; 'closer to what is more natural,' 'feeling safe', 'being part', 'striving', 'getting away', 'being me', and 'finding meaning'. The first three categories mirrored the FG study as safety, being outdoors in nature, and being part of a group were strong themes and subthemes. Getting away and finding meaning were also articulated during the FG study, particularly as NMSS scores for mood and cognition, sleep and fatigue improved after the eight weeks NW intervention.

Principal findings, from the repeated measures study, were statistically significant improvements in the following motor assessments: 10 MWT (speed) and cadence (steps), TUG, Tragus (posture), 20 MWT (speed) and cadence (steps), all with p values <0.001. The mean change in posture (Tragus) was -2.03 cm after eight weeks and this appeared to improve further, six months post intervention (-2.73 cm). These improvements (p <0.001) indicated potential longer-term benefits of a NW programme, after the period of intervention. These findings of improvement in motor outcomes are comparable to other studies, such as (Bang and Shin, 2017, Monteiro et al., 2017, Cugusi et al., 2017, van Eijkeren et al., 2008).

There was a mean reduction in the total NMSS of -10.08 points after eight weeks of NW, which showed statistical significance (p value 0.03). Specific NMSS domains showing improvements included sleep and fatigue (p value 0.006), cognition and mood (p value 0.77) and urinary symptoms (p value 0.24). These quality-of-life improvements were substantiated in the field notes and persisted, six months after the NW intervention.

A similar study, investigating the motor and non-motor impact of exercise for PwP, recruited 44 PwP and employed the NMSS questionnaire (Schaible et al., 2021). The NMSS results were comparable to our study after an eight-week period of exercise intervention, with intensive LSVT Big exercise being superior to routine care. However, our repeated measures study did not compare NW to other exercise modalities.

In another similar study, in the presence of PD, the effectiveness of NW on functional performance, gait quality and quality of life was reported (Szefler-Derela et al., 2020). In contrast, their study assessed quality of life with the PDQ-39 questionnaire and not the NMSS, so it was difficult to compare the studies and they did not report on urinary symptoms. There could be a positive clinical impact if NW were found to improve core stability and pelvic floor musculature. Pellegrini et al, (2018) explored muscular and metabolic responses to different NW techniques and described the influence of NW on pelvic movement and muscle activities (Pellegrini et al., 2018). This warrants further exploration in the literature and additional studies.

Results from the FGs elicited six main themes, or components required to deliver NW as an intervention in this population. A similar qualitative study addressed the perception of PwP practicing NW and its potential impact upon daily life in different contexts and cultures

(Casarotto et al., 2022). The Casarotto FGs had similar findings to this MPhil study. Five main themes included: NW benefits for PwP, using the NW poles in daily life, belonging to a therapeutic NW group, group support to cope with perceptions about PD, facing the future with PD (Casarotto et al., 2022). Similar qualitative studies with different populations yielded similar themes and results.

A study in 2015 delivered NW as an intervention for breast cancer survivors (Fischer et al., 2015). Participants were invited to attend a group interview six months after the ten-week NW intervention. They reported physical and psychological benefits, their vitality had improved, and they had measurable improvements in upper body strength and condition. They concluded that participant selection and risk assessment should take place under (para)-medical supervision and NWI should have knowledge and skills to work with this patient group (Fischer et al., 2015).

These findings were echoed in the 2020 NW intervention and FG study with people with rheumatoid arthritis (Domaille et al., 2020). Their use of FGs yielded similar themes: enjoyment, walking taller, better posture, better balance, and improved well-being. Participants expressed their appreciation that rheumatology specialists and physiotherapists had contributed to the design of the intervention.

There were no adverse events reported during the MPhil NW intervention nor in the FGs. This contrasts with a systematic review and meta-analysis by Salse-Batán et al (Salse-Batán et al., 2022) who reported adverse events in the following studies (Cugusi et al., 2015, Monteiro et al., 2017, Szefler-Derela et al., 2020). Hypotension after a brisk uphill NW in hot weather and falls, but no significant injuries were reported in a RCT comparing three treatment modalities (NW, flexibility and relaxation, and walking) (Reuter et al., 2011).

Taking the results from both studies, the aims were fulfilled, and recommendations were made for future research and practice.

# 4.3 Strengths and Weaknesses of the MPhil

The lead researcher (SM) delivered the NW intervention and helped to facilitate the FG study, so there was a risk of researcher bias (Smith and Noble, 2014). To mitigate this risk, the lead researcher used the same methods and materials to record the outcome measures. The FGs were led by a different member of the research team, and all data, statistical analysis, codes, and themes were checked by a second and third researcher (VB, FA, and PL). Despite this potential limitation, a strength was the consistency of the lead researcher, throughout the various stages of the MPhil. This approach accumulated knowledge from each study, with the pre-post study experience leading into the FGs.

The MPhil comprised a narrative literature review in addition to quantitative and qualitative research methods. A weakness of the study design was the length of time required to deliver a NW intervention over 13 months, to collect and analyse the data and deliver three FGs. These challenges for the researcher, collecting and analysing written and numeric data, and being familiar with quantitative and qualitative research, were described in Creswell's book (Creswell, 2018), p205. Silverman reported the complexities of mapping one data set onto another by combining different methods: interviews, observation, recording. He warned the novel researcher against multiple methods as they may not reveal the bigger picture and may lead to incomplete or *"scrappy research and under-analysed data"*, (Silverman, 2022, p. 99). However, despite these challenges, FG quotations, themes,

subthemes, and field notes complimented the physical outcome measures and NMSS questionnaire findings. Data triangulation, as described by Rooshenas (Rooshenas et al., 2019), facilitated complex interpretation of the data. In addition, involvement of multiple researchers added depth and reliability to the studies (Helen and Roberta, 2019). The benefit of this approach yielded complimentary quantitative and qualitative results that add to the growing body of research in this field.

A weakness of the study was that physical measurements were not recorded for all participants (nine PwP did not complete eight weeks of NW; n= four males). These participants were reminded via email but chose not to attend for follow-up intervention sessions or measurements. This level of attrition was not considered when writing the study proposal. There had been an intention to treat 40-60 participants, and 49 PwP consented to take part in the study. All participants received regular emails about the NW sessions and were encouraged to engage with the programme. Despite not returning for physical measurements, qualitative data was captured in the NMSS and field notes. Reasons for stopping the programme early were described in Chapter 2, and they gave useful insights into why PwP might struggle to engage with, and commit to, a weekly exercise class. Examples given were cold weather, travel time to class, too far, other family and work commitments, poor sleep, and menopausal symptoms. This was supported by Ellis's study, addressing barriers to exercise in PwP (Ellis et al., 2013). They reported that regular physical exercise declined with increasing age and that women over 65 years old were less likely to engage with, and adhere to, an exercise programme (Ellis et al., 2013). A recent study into the unmet needs of women with Parkinson's raised important issues facing women of all ages (Subramanian et al., 2022). Exercise adherence, lifestyle and personalised medicine were cited as key factors for meeting the clinical and psychosocial needs of women with PD. Whilst not all the participants who left the study were women, there is comparable literature which has similarities and provides additional rationale for this attrition.

Aliberti's study (2023) explored the push-pull motivational framework for engagement in physical activity (Aliberti, 2023). Similarities with the MPhil study were NW post COVID-19, but, by contrast, their study addressed perceptions on motivations and future intentions regarding NW in women, without PD. They acknowledged that COVID-19 had led to a reduction in psychological, social, and physical well-being which they attributed to sedentary behaviours and social isolation. They recommended ecological exercise (outdoors, in a group) and reported many benefits (e.g., improved humour, self-esteem, physical fitness, reduced anxiety and depression). In contrast to our study, Aliberti's methods did not involve an interventional study. Their research methods included a literature review and semi-structured interviews with 65 women (50.07 ± 7.85 years old). In conclusion, Aliberti recommended that future studies could address an innovative NW protocol, which was not focussed on exercise performance. Instead, the goal of NW could be to improve social and mental well-being. This in turn could provide information to wellness instructors who might motivate more women to participate in physical exercise (Aliberti, 2023).

A strength of the MPhil was the professional network of the lead researcher (a PDNS for 18 years) with strong links to partners in industry, PUK, and BNW. Their endorsement and support facilitated recruitment to a wide audience and may have assured the participants. A potential weakness was organisational bias towards BNW as this was the not-for-profit organisation that trained the lead researcher. Other NW providers (e.g., Nordic walking UK)

offered groups for PwP, but it was not in the scope of this MPhil to comment on the structure, evidence base or ethos of different NW organisations. A strength for BNW was its founder and chief executive officer (CEO), Dr Hughes, who had a PhD in Chemistry and maintained a scientific approach to the vision and leadership of BNW. However, future research needs to consider different organisations involved in NW.

A further strength was the patient and public involvement (PPI) team who supported the MPhil study. They read all study documents, lay summaries, attended meetings, and received regular research updates. An additional strength was the collective experience of the PPI team. One member was both a NWI and a retired NHS senior nurse manager. Two PPI representatives were living with PD and a married couple were the chair and secretary of the local PUK branch. However, there are no PPI data included in this MPhil and their involvement was not formally documented. This could be viewed as a limitation of the whole MPhil and would need to be addressed in future research.

A strength of the MPhil was its timing, as lockdown restrictions were gradually eased, following the COVID-19 pandemic (World Health Organisation, 2021). Several similar studies were published after the pandemic (Aliberti, 2023, Domingos et al., 2022b, D'Iorio et al., 2022, Dommershuijsen et al., 2021), but to the best of knowledge, none delivered a practical, outdoors NW intervention for PwP, by a PDNS, within this context. An opportunity arose to trial a novel exercise modality in this population. A weakness was that the lead researcher was working clinically, so balancing studying and clinical responsibilities during the uncertainty of a pandemic was challenging. However, as described by the PwP FGs, this clinical expertise was important so that the intervention could be tailored to the needs of PwP, by focussing on large amplitude movements and adapting some balance exercises, to reduce the risk of falls. The knowledge and skills of the lead researcher, as a PDNS, built confidence and participants reported that this was a motivating factor (Chapter 3). Another strength was the research funding that was allocated to buy equipment (Nordic walking poles, hand sanitizer and cleansing wipes) so the intervention was widely accessible, relatively safe, and inclusive. Participants were invited to keep the NW poles after the period of intervention.

A further strength of the MPhil was harnessing the growing interest in NW for PwP over the past ten years and building upon results of previous studies. In 2014, a PwP attended an international Parkinson's conference and asked her local PUK branch in Herefordshire to pay for a NWI (Bradley Blake) to teach their PD group. Blake (2014) consulted neurological physiotherapists and PUK, recorded TUG and 10MWT measurements and delivered an eight-week NW intervention for PwP. Results from this feasibility study were presented as a poster at a BNW conference for instructors, an article in a PUK magazine and the BNW website (Blake, 2014, Blake, 2015a, Blake, 2015b). Blake's research was the inspiration for the proof-of-concept study by McCracken et al (2021). BNW established a continuing professional development (CPD) teaching programme for NWI in 2019, led by Blake and Hughes (Chief executive officer for BNW). This was a further trigger for the lead researcher to investigate the potential for NW as a rehabilitation intervention. A proof-of-concept study, exploring the benefits and barriers for NW indicated that it was conceptually feasible for PwP to NW (McCracken et al., 2021). During lockdown, many NWI undertook PD training

and subsequently new groups for PwP were established. It could be viewed as a weakness for future implementation, that few clinicians are trained in NW instruction, and it remains a novel exercise intervention. Proof of concept in an NHS setting, including clinical and cost effectiveness justifies further exploration through a randomised controlled trial (RCT).

# 4.4 Meaning of the Study: Possible Mechanisms and Implications for Clinicians or Policymakers

A question that warrants further exploration is, 'What have we learned from this MPhil, what is the consequence of this research and its application to future practice?'

Improvements in posture (Tragus) combined with faster speed of walking (20 MWT and 10 MWT) appeared to have a positive impact on upright stance and core stability. This could lead to improved core strength, balance and more confidence with mobility and fewer falls. The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) reports that the cost of falls to the NHS amounts to more than £2.3 billion per annum, which equates to over £6 million every day (NICE, 2023). This MPhil study did not set out to measure falls risk reduction, but future effectiveness studies could significantly contribute to the NHS regarding rehabilitation, maintenance of mobility and function (activities of daily living) in this population.

The improved scores for 20 MWT (time and cadence) seemed to complement the Tragus scores and there appeared to be a cumulative positive effect, in the context of improved NMS benefits (sleep, cognition and mood). The cost of NMS to the NHS is high, but hard to quantify precisely. Depression, low mood, back pain, social isolation, and poor sleep contribute to a lower quality of life for PwP. This is well documented by Abate et al, (2017) in their study about the global burden of neurological disorders, taking a global, regional, and national perspective (Abate et al., 2017). Nordic walking appeared to improve many of these NMS, so there could be potential cost savings to the NHS if quality of life, sleep and mood are elevated, as reported by De Santis (2020).

A further implication for NW was its potential longer-term impact as a driver for positive change (in behaviour) towards exercise engagement (Domingos et al., 2022b). Outcome measures were recorded immediately after the eight-week period of NW, to establish whether the intervention had any impact on function, and this mirrored previous studies (Ebersbach et al., 2010, Monteiro et al., 2017, van Eijkeren et al., 2008). However, the sixmonth follow-up data was suggestive of longer-term benefits as the NW intervention might have been a stimulus for increasing activity. This was supported by the FG participants who spoke about NW on holiday and parkwalk with friends. Encouraging PwP to exercise, and to remain active throughout their disease trajectory, is well documented as being crucial to living well with PD, physically and psychologically (Ramaswamy et al., 2018). Finding an exercise programme that is enjoyable, accessible, effective, adaptable, and sustainable remains a challenge for the providers of rehabilitation programmes (Radder et al., 2020, White et al., 2023).

Previous studies have investigated NW in the presence of a range of long-term health conditions including chronic back, knee, and hip pain (Silverberg and Prejserowicz, 2018). Silverberg's 12-week NW study with 100 participants (aged 60 or more) indicated a reduction in pain on walking and an increase in the distance walked, which they attributed to the use of NW poles. They questioned why health care providers did not offer, signpost,

or provide NW as part of a treatment plan. They concluded that NW held promise for the effective treatment of chronic pain and recommended further RCTs (Silverberg et al., 2016). As found in this MPhil, NW appears to hold promise for PwP. Further studies are needed to establish NW as part of an exercise prescription that has potential to be endorsed or delivered by the NHS. Ramaswamy cites NW on the PUK excellence network as an exercise modality, with recommendations for frequency of NW, up to three times per week (Ramaswamy et al., 2018).

Domaille's study (2020), for individuals living with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) cited NW as both an exercise and a support network, and people were 'plotted' on a bell-shaped normal distribution curve, somewhere between sport and support (Domaille et al., 2020). The Domaille study resonated with the core findings of this MPhil. Domaille suggested that interventions delivered in a clinical setting had measurable short-term benefits, but sustaining longer term physical activity posed several challenges. Their abstract was presented at a UK physiotherapy conference in 2019. The aim was to establish the acceptability of a tailored NW intervention for people with RA (Domaille et al., 2020). In contrast to the MPhil pre-post measures study with 49 participants (n=27 males), Domaille did not record physical outcome measures and their study sample was smaller, 24 participants (n=6 males). In their study, participants with RA completed a quality of life (RAND) health questionnaire and attended a FG or interview. It was difficult to compare the studies due to heterogeneity of subjects with different long term health conditions (RA and PD). However, the themes from Domaille's FG and interviews were similar: participants enjoyed exercising together outdoors, they reported walking taller with better posture, balance, and improved well-being. Participants expressed their appreciation that the intervention was tailored to the needs of each small NW group. They were reassured that rheumatology specialists and physiotherapists had been consulted regarding the design, methods, and delivery of the intervention. Peer support was cited as a motivating factor and people living with RA preferred to NW with others with RA, rather than a mixed group. There appeared to be longer term engagement after the RA NW intervention as at least ten participants (41.7%) purchased NW poles and continued to NW independently (Domaille et al., 2020). Their recommendations for future research and practice resonated with this MPhil study findings, to establish whether the NW intervention was replicable and scalable. This warrants further exploration.

Another question that merits further discussion is which FG themes could have the most influence on current healthcare services and in the future? The specialist Parkinson's knowledge of the NWI (theme four) and their experience of managing health risks (theme five) were important to healthcare services. Controversially, facilitating some PwP to become more active could augment their risk of falls, due to their overall increase in activity (Goswami et al., 2015). However, the NW intervention addressed and appeared to improve posture, core stability and gait, so the risk of falls was mitigated. As a further safety measure, the group were instructed, and supervised, by a NWI and WL, both of whom were experienced with PD at various disease stages. Encouraging PwP to be more active, and to exercise outside, had measurable and statistically significant benefits regarding improved physical and mental health outcome measures. These findings corroborated with previous studies (Cugusi et al., 2015, Reuter et al., 2011).

A challenge for policymakers and clinicians could be the cost of delivering NW to PwP, especially, as budgets in the NHS are scrutinised, and models of self-care and self-efficacy are widely promoted (Bloem et al., 2015, Tuijt et al., 2020). The intervention was free to the participants at time of delivery as it was part of a research study. Subsequently, if PwP chose to attend an established NW group with a BNWI it would cost around £6.50 per person for a one-hour session, unless the instructor was a volunteer (British Nordic Walking, 2023b). Other models of NW service delivery are suggested in the conclusion, and this is a rapidly evolving area of research interest following the COVID-19 pandemic with new technologies (Bloem et al., 2020, Dorsey et al., 2020), and innovative models of acute and community PD service provision (Yang et al., 2022). It is likely to cost more if an NHS physiotherapist, or PDNS, are INWA trained and deliver NW, approximately £15 per person, per hour depending on the number of PwP in the NW group (British Nordic Walking, 2023a). However, a suggested model could be that the PwP receives eight weeks of NW instruction from their NHS specialist, who has experience of the complexities of PD. The clinician would conduct the necessary health risk and physical activity assessments (Appendix 6) thereby facilitating reassurance to the individual. After eight sessions they could be signposted to established NW groups and adopt a model of self-efficacy (Tuijt et al., 2020) or self-care (Bloem et al., 2015). They might choose to set up their own NW group for PwP, with support from PUK, BNW and third-party funding.

## 4.5 Unanswered Questions and Future Research

Future research could address the health economics of establishing community rehabilitation groups for PwP. This MPhil did not set out to calculate cost implications nor savings to the NHS. However, NW groups tend to have low overhead costs as one NWI and one WL can instruct a group of several PwP to NW outdoors (n=2, up to n=15, depending on H&Y stage and other comorbidities). The cost savings to the NHS could be significant if PwP were found to have a reduced risk of falls (due to improved mobility, confidence with walking, coordination, balance, and gait: theme one). Another cost implication was that the NW groups seemed to be adaptable to people at different stages of PD, were accessible and inclusive. This could facilitate more PwP to become, and remain, active and enjoy their local area, using the NW poles. These PwP might be 'seldom heard' in research contexts or individuals who do not enjoy traditional exercise settings (gymnasium, using equipment, team sports or running). Well-being and lifestyle choices are of paramount importance to good mental health (theme six) and the cost of depression, low mood and anxiety is high in this population (De Santis and Kaplan, 2020, Szefler-Derela et al., 2020).

An unanswered question from the FG study was, 'How generalisable were the results (themes) of the study to PwP in different geographic locations, stages of PD and local contexts?' Could NW be delivered in different locations, using the enablers and facilitators described in this study? Theme six included practical components such as publicity and partnerships with BNW, PUK and the NHS. Subthemes included the adaptability and inclusivity of NW for PwP with a diverse range of symptoms, stage of disease and demographic background. Enjoyment and lifestyle changes were important for engagement with future NW groups. Theme three (practical, core components: toilets, parking, café, public transport, accessibility) complemented theme six and both were deemed essential to implement NW groups successfully, in future community rehabilitation settings.

As many BNW instructors have undertaken specialist PD courses after the COVID-19 pandemic, the time might be right for a national, multi-site RCT with a larger sample of PwP. NW could be compared to standard treatment or to a facilitated community walking intervention without NW poles.

Reflecting on the repeated measures study, one may enquire which outcome measurements were the most appropriate for the sample population? The Tragus measurement for posture, 20 MWT (speed of walking and cadence) and the NMSS appear to be appropriate outcome measurements for studies of NW in PwP. These measures had the greatest effect after applying a Cohen's d coefficient (standardizer) to all the outcome measures used in this study. The TUG and 10MWT were secondary, reliable, and valid outcomes and were useful for comparing this study to previous studies, using similar or the same health measures. However, no data was collected on the acceptability of these measures, or exploration of what other measures could have been used. Future research could use PPI members, or other PwP, to identify which measures are most meaningful to them.

A further question to explore at the conclusion of both studies was, 'overall, what was important for the participants?' This was partly explored with the FG participants and the six themes derived from their data were underpinned and corroborated with improved NMSS scores, physical measurements, and field notes (data triangulation) as described by (Rooshenas et al., 2019). Most participants were keen to improve, or maintain, their fitness. They were keen to know whether their scores for posture, speed of walking, and TUG had improved after the physical outcome measures were recorded. Some participants expressed that NW poles improved their balance, confidence and posture and reduced their risk of falls. Others reported improved sleep and well-being after the NW class (as reported in field notes and NMSS questionnaires). Future research could incorporate other qualitative methods, such as interviews, to explore at an individual level what is important, particularly for those that didn't engage in the NW intervention, or who are from a more diverse background or those with protected characteristics that are seldom heard.

### 4.6 Conclusion

The data from these studies will inform new models of NW delivery, which will be suitable for larger effectiveness trials (RCTs). Future research could consider an RCT, using a control intervention, to address the efficacy (under ideal circumstances) and effectiveness (under 'real-world' conditions) of NW. A suggested control intervention could be a community rehabilitation walking group, without walking poles, but with similar warm-up exercises and cool down stretches, facilitated by a NHS clinician. Similar community exercise group intervention studies have been delivered (Lamont et al., 2012, Elsworth et al., 2011), but to the best of knowledge, none have addressed the impact and accessibility of NW for PwP with diverse backgrounds, age, and stage of disease following the COVID-19 pandemic.

# CHAPTER 5 REFERENCES

- Abate, K. H., Abyu, G. Y., Ahmed, M. B., Alvis-Guzman, N., Ansari, H., Anwari, P., Asayesh, H., Atey, T. M., Frinel, E., Barac, A., Barboza, M., Bärnighausen, T., Bedi, N., Bensenor, I. M., Betsu, B. D., Biryukov, S., Boneya, D. J., Bulto, L. N. B., Carabin, H., Castañeda-Orjuela, C. A., Chowdhury, R., Christensen, H., Do, H. P., Ellenbogen, R. G., Gillum, R. F., Giussani, G., Goldberg, E. M., Gona, P. N., Gugnani, H. C., Hachinski, V., Hay, S. I., Heydarpour, P., Kastor, A., Khalil, I. A., Tawfih, A., Kulkarni, C., Kim, D., Kim, Y. J., Kokubo, Y., Kravchenko, M., Krishnamurthi, R. V., Defo, B. K., Kumar, R., Liben, M. L., Massano, J., Mehata, S., Mehndiratta, M. M., Miller, T. R., Mishra, S. R., Ibrahim, N. M., Mokdad, A. H., Musa, K. I., Ngunjiri, J. W., Ningrum, D. N. A., Nong, V. M., Noubiap, J. J. N., Ogbo, F. A., Pandian, J. D., Parmar, P. G., Pereira, D. M., Phillips, M. R., Piradov, M. A., Qorbani, M., Rafay, A., Rai, R. K., Ranta, A., Rawaf, S., Rezai, M. S., Roth, G. A., Rubagotti, E., Safiri, S., Sahathevan, R., Sahraian, M. A., Samy, A. M., Sawhney, M., Sepanlou, S. G., Shaikh, M. A., Shakir, R., Shigematsu, M., Shoman, H., Silva, D. a. S., Sobngwi, E., Sposato, L. A., Stanaway, J. D., Stein, D. J., Stovner, L. J., Tanne, D., Theadom, A. M., Thrift, A. G., Tirschwell, D. L., Tran, B. X., Vlassov, V. V., Woldu, M. A., Xavier, D., Xu, G., Yano, Y., Yu, C., El Sayed Zaki, M., Murray, C. J. L. & Vos, T. 2017. Global, regional, and national burden of neurological disorders during 1990-2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. Lancet neurology, 16,877-897.
- Ahern, L., Timmons, P. S., Lamb, P. S. E. & Mccullagh, D. R. 2022. Can behavioural change interventions improve self-efficacy and exercise adherence among people with Parkinson's? A systematic review protocol. *HRB open research, 5*, 15.
- Aliberti, S. 2023. Perceptions on Nordic Walking in women post COVID-19 pandemic: motivations and future intentions. *Journal of Physical Education and Sport*, 23, 143-151.
- Alldridge, P. 2019. On Being Able to Walk Twenty Metres: The Introduction of Personal Independence Payments. *Journal of law and society*, 46, 448-475.
- American Psychological Association. 2022. *Rehabilitation Psychology* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.apa.org</u> [Accessed 2023].
- Bang, D.-H. & Shin, W.-S. 2017. Effects of an intensive Nordic walking intervention on the balance function and walking ability of individuals with Parkinson's disease: a randomized controlled pilot trial. *Aging clinical and experimental research*, 29, 993-999.
- Bassett, S., Stewart, J. & Giddings, L. 2012. Nordic walking versus ordinary walking for people with Parkinson's disease : a single case design. *New Zealand journal of physiotherapy*, 40, 117-122.
- Behrman, A., Cody, J., Elandary, S., Flom, P. & Chitnis, S. 2020. The effect of speak out! and the loud crowd on dysarthria due to parkinson's disease. *American journal of speech-language pathology,* 29, 1448-1465.
- Berg, K. O., Wood-Dauphinee, S. L., Williams, J. I. & Maki, B. 1992. Measuring Balance in the Elderly: Validation of an Instrument. *Canadian journal of public health*, 83, S7-S11.
- Blake, B. 2014. Nordic Walking for Parkinson's Disease.
- Blake, B. 2015a. Striding with poles. . Parkinson's network news. .
- Blake, B. 2015b. A study of Nordic Walking and Parkinson's in Herefordshire. [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.britishnordicwalking.org.uk</u> [Accessed].
- Bloem, B. R., De Vries, N. M. & Ebersbach, G. 2015. Nonpharmacological treatments for patients with Parkinson's disease. *Movement disorders*, 30, 1504-1520.

- Bloem, B. R., Henderson, E. J., Dorsey, E. R., Okun, M. S., Okubadejo, N., Chan, P., Andrejack, J., Darweesh, S. K. L. & Munneke, M. 2020. Integrated and patientcentred management of Parkinson's disease: a network model for reshaping chronic neurological care. *Lancet neurology*, 19, 623-634.
- Bloem, B. R., Marinus, J., Almeida, Q., Dibble, L., Nieuwboer, A., Post, B., Ruzicka, E., Goetz, C., Stebbins, G., Martinez-Martin, P. & Schrag, A. 2016. Measurement instruments to assess posture, gait, and balance in Parkinson's disease: Critique and recommendations. *Movement disorders*, 31, 1342-1355.
- Bloem, B. R., Okun, M. S. & Klein, C. 2021. Parkinson's disease. *The Lancet (British edition)*, 397, 2284-2303.
- Bombieri, F., Schena, F., Pellegrini, B., Barone, P., Tinazzi, M. & Erro, R. 2017. Walking on four limbs: A systematic review of Nordic Walking in Parkinson disease. *Parkinsonism & Related Disorders*, 38, 8-12.
- Bovenzi, R., Conti, M., Degoli, G. R., Cerroni, R., Simonetta, C., Liguori, C., Salimei, C., Pisani, A., Pierantozzi, M., Stefani, A., Mercuri, N. B. & Schirinzi, T. 2023. Shaping the course of early-onset Parkinson's disease: insights from a longitudinal cohort. *Neurological sciences*, 44, 3151-3159.
- Braun, V. & Clarke, V. 2006. Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative research in psychology*, 3, 77-101.
- British Nordic Walking. 2023a. Instructor training for fitness professionals [Online]. Available: <u>https://britishnordicwalking.org.uk</u> [Accessed 2023].
- British Nordic Walking. 2023b. *Nordic Walking for Parkinson's* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.britishnordicwalking.org.uk</u> [Accessed 27/8/2023].
- Brock, P., Fisher, J. M., Hand, A. & Walker, R. W. 2019. Highlighting the goals for Parkinson's care: commentary on NICE Guidelines for Parkinson's in Adults (NG71). *Age and ageing*, 48, 323-326.
- Brooks, S. K., Weston, D. & Greenberg, N. 2021. Social and psychological impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on people with Parkinson's disease: a scoping review. *Public health (London),* 199, 77-86.
- Bryman, A. 2004. *Social research methods / Alan Bryman,* Oxford, Oxford : Oxford University Press.
- Bullo, V., Gobbo, S., Vendramin, B., Duregon, F., Cugusi, L., Di Blasio, A., Bocalini, D. S., Zaccaria, M., Bergamin, M. & Ermolao, A. 2018. Nordic Walking Can Be Incorporated in the Exercise Prescription to Increase Aerobic Capacity, Strength, and Quality of Life for Elderly: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Rejuvenation Research*, 21, 141-161.
- Casarotto, V. J., Bubols, M. N., Figueiredo, A. I., Baptista, R. R., Peyré-Tartaruga, L. A. & Mestriner, R. G. 2022. Intersubjectivity and the meaning of Nordic Walking practice in the view of people with Parkinson's disease: a pilot study. *Scientia medica*, 32, e39969.
- Chaudhuri, K. R., Healy, D. G. & Schapira, A. H. V. 2006. Non-motor symptoms of Parkinson's disease: diagnosis and management. *Lancet neurology*, *5*, 235-245.
- Chaudhuri, K. R., Martinez-Martin, P., Brown, R. G., Sethi, K., Stocchi, F., Odin, P., Ondo, W., Abe, K., Macphee, G., Macmahon, D., Barone, P., Rabey, M., Forbes, A., Breen, K., Tluk, S., Naidu, Y., Olanow, W., Williams, A. J., Thomas, S., Rye, D., Tsuboi, Y., Hand, A. & Schapira, A. H. V. 2007. The metric properties of a novel non-motor symptoms scale for Parkinson's disease: Results from an international pilot study. *Movement disorders*, 22, 1901-1911.
- Clayton, L., Martinez-Martin, P., Odin, P., Stocchi, F., Bonuccelli, U., Sethi, K., Schapira, A. H. V., Brown, R., Rabey, J. M. & Chaudhuri, K. R. 2006. I.P2 Prevalence of non

motor symptoms in Parkinson's Disease: An international survey using NMSQuest in 525 patients. *Parkinsonism & related disorders*, 12, 21-21.

- Creswell, J. W. 2018. *Research design : qualitative, quantitative & mixed methods approaches / John W. Creswell & J. David Creswell*, Los Angeles : SAGE.
- Cugusi, L., Manca, A., Dragone, D., Deriu, F., Solla, P., Secci, C., Monticone, M. & Mercuro, G. 2017. Nordic Walking for the Management of People With Parkinson Disease: A Systematic Review. *Pm&R*, 9, 1157-1166.
- Cugusi, L., Solla, P., Serpe, R., Carzedda, T., Piras, L., Oggianu, M., Gabba, S., Di Blasio, A., Bergamin, M., Cannas, A., Marrosu, F. & Mercuro, G. 2015. Effects of a Nordic Walking program on motor and non-motor symptoms, functional performance and body composition in patients with Parkinson's disease. *Neurorehabilitation*, 37, 245-254.
- D'iorio, A., Baiano, C., Maraucci, G., Vitale, C., Amboni, M. & Santangelo, G. 2022. A longitudinal study on the effects of COVID-19 pandemic on non-motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease. *Neurological sciences*, 43, 4605-4609.
- Dabkowski, E., Porter, J. E. & Barbagallo, M. 2021. A thematic analysis of the perceptions of a community-based exercise program on the health and well-being of ageing adults. *Health & social care in the community*, 29, 1990-1997.
- Davis, R., Campbell, R., Hildon, Z., Hobbs, L. & Michie, S. 2015. Theories of behaviour and behaviour change across the social and behavioural sciences: a scoping review. *Health Psychol Rev*, 9, 323-44.
- De Santis, K. K. & Kaplan, I. 2020. The motor and the non-motor outcomes of Nordic Walking in Parkinson's disease: A systematic review. *Journal of bodywork and movement therapies*, 24, 4-10.
- Domaille, M., Whybrow, P., Carver-Richardson, L., Dures, E., Greenwood, R., Richards, P., Robson, J., Stellinga, R. & Cramp, F. 2020. Developing and refining an acceptable nordic walking intervention for people with inflammatory rheumatic diseases. *Physiotherapy*, 107, e11-e11.
- Domingos, J., Dean, J., Fernandes, J. B., Massano, J. & Godinho, C. 2022a. Community Exercise: A New Tool for Personalized Parkinson's Care or Just an Addition to Formal Care? *Frontiers in systems neuroscience*, 16, 916237-916237.
- Domingos, J., Família, C., Fernandes, J. B., Dean, J. & Godinho, C. 2022b. Is Being Physically Active Enough or Do People with Parkinson's Disease Need Structured Supervised Exercise? Lessons Learned from COVID-19. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 19, 2396.
- Dommershuijsen, L. J., Van Der Heide, A., Van Den Berg, E. M., Labrecque, J. A., Ikram, M. K., Ikram, M. A., Bloem, B. R., Helmich, R. C. & Darweesh, S. K. L. 2021. Mental health in people with Parkinson's disease during the COVID-19 pandemic: potential for targeted interventions? *NPJ Parkinson's Disease*, *7*, 95-95.
- Dorsey, E. R., Bloem, B. R. & Okun, M. S. 2020. A New Day: The Role of Telemedicine in Reshaping Care for Persons With Movement Disorders. *Movement disorders*, 35, 1897-1902.
- Dorsey, E. R., Elbaz, A., Nichols, E., Abbasi, N., Abd-Allah, F., Abdelalim, A., Adsuar, J. C., Ansha, M. G., Brayne, C., Choi, J.-Y. J., Collado-Mateo, D., Dahodwala, N., Do, H. P., Edessa, D., Endres, M., Fereshtehnejad, S.-M., Foreman, K. J., Gankpe, F. G., Gupta, R., Hamidi, S., Hankey, G. J., Hay, S. I., Hegazy, M. I., Hibstu, D. T., Kasaeian, A., Khader, Y., Khalil, I., Khang, Y.-H., Kim, Y. J., Kokubo, Y., Logroscino, G., Massano, J., Mohamed Ibrahim, N., Mohammed, M. A., Mohammadi, A., Moradi-Lakeh, M., Naghavi, M., Nguyen, B. T., Nirayo, Y. L., Ogbo, F. A., Owolabi, M. O., Pereira, D. M., Postma, M. J., Qorbani, M., Rahman, M. A., Roba, K. T., Safari, H., Safiri, S., Satpathy, M., Sawhney, M., Shafieesabet, A., Shiferaw, M. S., Smith, M., Szoeke, C. E. I., Tabarés-Seisdedos, R., Truong, N. T., Ukwaja, K. N.,

Venketasubramanian, N., Villafaina, S., Weldegwergs, K. G., Westerman, R., Wijeratne, T., Winkler, A. S., Xuan, B. T., Yonemoto, N., Feigin, V. L., Vos, T. & Murray, C. J. L. 2018a. Global, regional, and national burden of Parkinson's disease, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *Lancet neurology*, 17, 939-953.

- Dorsey, E. R., Sherer, T., Okun, M. S. & Bloem, B. R. 2018b. The Emerging Evidence of the Parkinson Pandemic. *J Parkinsons Dis*, 8, S3-s8.
- Dos Santos, W. M., Secoli, S. R. & Püschel, V. a. D. A. 2018. The Joanna Briggs Institute approach for systematic reviews. *Revista latino-americana de enfermagem*, 26, e3074-e3074.
- Ebersbach, G., Ebersbach, A., Edler, D., Kaufhold, O., Kusch, M., Kupsch, A. & Wissel, J. 2010. Comparing exercise in Parkinson's disease The Berlin LSVT®BIG study. *Movement disorders*, 25, 1902-1908.
- Ebersbach, G. M. D., Ebersbach, A. M. D., Gandor, F. M. D., Wegner, B., Wissel, J. M. D. & Kupsch, A. M. D. 2014. Impact of Physical Exercise on Reaction Time in Patients With Parkinson's Disease—Data From the Berlin BIG Study. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 95, 996-999.
- Ellis, P. K., Davies, M. L., Gray, W. K., Barber, M., Bolnykh, I., Sadler, M. & Walker, R. W. 2022. The Cause and Duration of Emergency Admissions to Hospital in People with Idiopathic Parkinson's Disease, Under the Care of a UK Service, During the First Year of the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Journal of Parkinson's disease*, 12, 1833-1840.
- Ellis, T., Boudreau, J. K., Deangelis, T. R., Brown, L. E., Cavanaugh, J. T., Earhart, G. M., Ford, M. P., Foreman, K. B. & Dibble, L. E. 2013. Barriers to Exercise in People With Parkinson Disease. *Physical therapy*, 93, 628-636.
- Elsworth, C., Winward, C., Sackley, C., Meek, C., Freebody, J., Esser, P., Izadi, H., Soundy, A., Barker, K., Hilton-Jones, D., Lowe, C. M., Paget, S., Tims, M., Parnell, R., Patel, S., Wade, D. & Dawes, H. 2011. Supported community exercise in people with long-term neurological conditions: a phase II randomized controlled trial. *Clinical rehabilitation*, 25, 588-598.
- Farnsworth, M. & Burtscher, P. 2010. Nordic walking: Global trend set to make an impact on Australia's health and fitness. *Journal of science and medicine in sport*, 12, e3-e3.
- Feely, M., Seay, K. D., Lanier, P., Auslander, W. & Kohl, P. L. 2018. Measuring Fidelity in Research Studies: A Field Guide to Developing a Comprehensive Fidelity Measurement System. *Child & adolescent social work journal*, 35, 139-152.
- Fischer, M. J., Krol-Warmerdam, E. M. M., Ranke, G. M. C., Vermeulen, H. M., Van Der Heijden, J., Nortier, J. W. R. & Kaptein, A. A. 2015. Stick Together: A Nordic Walking Group Intervention for Breast Cancer Survivors. *Journal of psychosocial oncology*, 33, 278-296.
- Franzoni, L. T., Monteiro, E. P., Oliveira, H. B., Da Rosa, R. G., Costa, R. R., Rieder, C., Martinez, F. G. & Peyré-Tartaruga, L. A. 2018. A 9-Week Nordic and Free Walking Improve Postural Balance in Parkinson's Disease. *Sports medicine international* open, 2, E28-E34.
- Giardini, M., Nardone, A., Godi, M., Guglielmetti, S., Arcolin, I., Pisano, F. & Schieppati, M. 2018. Instrumental or Physical-Exercise Rehabilitation of Balance Improves Both Balance and Gait in Parkinson's Disease. *Journal of neural transplantation & plasticity*, 2018, 5614242-17.
- Gibson-Moore, H. 2019. UK Chief Medical Officers' physical activity guidelines 2019: What's new and how can we get people more active? *Nutrition bulletin,* 44, 320-328.
- Gill, P. & Baillie, J. 2018. Interviews and focus groups in qualitative research: An update for the digital age. *British dental journal*, 225, 668-672.

- Glanz, K. & Bishop, D. B. 2010. The role of behavioral science theory in development and implementation of public health interventions. *Annual review of public health*, 31, 399-418.
- Glaser, B. G. 1967. The discovery of grounded theory : strategies for qualitative research / Barney G. Glaser and Anselm L. Strauss, New York, New York : Aldine.
- Goetz, C. G., Tilley, B. C., Shaftman, S. R., Stebbins, G. T., Fahn, S., Martinez-Martin, P., Poewe, W., Sampaio, C., Stern, M. B., Dodel, R., Dubois, B., Holloway, R., Jankovic, J., Kulisevsky, J., Lang, A. E., Lees, A., Leurgans, S., Lewitt, P. A., Nyenhuis, D., Olanow, C. W., Rascol, O., Schrag, A., Teresi, J. A., Van Hilten, J. J. & Lapelle, N. 2008. Movement Disorder Society-sponsored revision of the Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale (MDS-UPDRS): Scale presentation and clinimetric testing results. *Movement disorders*, 23, 2129-2170.
- Goswami, P., Prabhu, Bhattacharya, U. & Boruah, K. 2015. A comparative study on prediction of falls in Parkinson's disease subjects using timed up and go test with tinetti mobility test. *International journal of physiotherapy*, *2*, 972-980.
- Gougeon, M.-A., Zhou, L. & Nantel, J. 2017. Nordic Walking improves trunk stability and gait spatial-temporal characteristics in people with Parkinson disease. *NeuroRehabilitation (Reading, Mass.)*, 41, 205-210.
- Granziera, S., Alessandri, A., Lazzaro, A., Zara, D. & Scarpa, A. 2021. Nordic Walking and Walking in Parkinson's disease: a randomized single-blind controlled trial. *Aging clinical and experimental research*, 33, 965-971.
- Hariton, E. & Locascio, J. J. 2018. Randomised controlled trials the gold standard for effectiveness research. *BJOG : an international journal of obstetrics and gynaecology*, 125, 1716-1716.
- Helen, N. & Roberta, H. 2019. Triangulation in research, with examples. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 22, 67.
- Hoehn, M. M. & Yahr, M. D. 2001. Parkinsonism: onset, progression, and mortality. 1967. *Neurology*, 57, S11-26.
- International Nordic Walking Federation. 2023. *Nordic Walking and Parkinson's* [Online]. Available: <u>https://inwa-nordicwalking.com</u> [Accessed 28/8/23 2023].
- Kirkwood, B. R. 2003. *Essential medical statistics / Betty R. Kirkwood, Jonathan A.C. Sterne*, Malden, Massachusetts : Blackwell Science.
- Kruger, L. J., Rodgers, R. F., Long, S. J. & Lowy, A. S. 2019. Individual interviews or focus groups? Interview format and women's self-disclosure. *International journal of social research methodology*, 22, 245-255.
- Lamont, R. M., Morris, M. E., Woollacott, M. H. & Brauer, S. G. 2012. Community Walking in People with Parkinson's Disease. *Parkinson's disease*, 2012, 856237-8.
- Leal-Nascimento, A. H., Da Silva, E. S., Zanardi, A. P. J., Ivaniski-Mello, A., Passos-Monteiro, E., Martinez, F. G., Rodrigo De Carvalho, A., Baptista, R. R. & Peyré-Tartaruga, L. A. 2022. Biomechanical responses of Nordic walking in people with Parkinson's disease. *Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports*, 32, 290-297.
- Leta, V., Rodríguez-Violante, M., Abundes, A., Rukavina, K., Teo, J. T., Falup-Pecurariu, C., Irincu, L., Rota, S., Bhidayasiri, R., Storch, A., Odin, P., Antonini, A. & Ray Chaudhuri, K. 2021. Parkinson's Disease and Post–COVID-19 Syndrome: The Parkinson's Long-COVID Spectrum. *Movement disorders*, 36, 1287-1289.
- Lindholm, B., Franzén, E., Duzynski, W., Odin, P. & Hagell, P. 2021. Clinical usefulness of retropulsion tests in persons with mild to moderate parkinson's disease. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 18, 12325.

- Lindop, F. & Skelly, R. 2022. *Parkinson's Disease: An Interdisciplinary Guide to Management: Parkinson's Disease: An Interdisciplinary Guide to Management,* Derby, UK., Elsevier Health Sciences.
- Liu, Y., Xie, W. & Ossowski, Z. 2022. The effects of Nordic Walking on health in adults: A systematic review. *Journal of education, health and sport,* 13, 188-196.
- Mass, D. B., Takahashi (ed.) 2023. *INWA Nordic Walking Instructor Course Manual,* Zwanenburg: Koopmans printmedia Zwanenburg.
- Mccracken, S., Logan, P., Anthony, K. & Parr, J. 2021. Exploring the benefits and barriers to Nordic walking in people with Parkinson's disease: a feasibility study. *British journal* of neuroscience nursing, 17, 193-202.
- Mcdonald, C., Gordon, G., Hand, A., Walker, R. W. & Fisher, J. M. 2018. 200 Years of Parkinson's disease: what have we learnt from James Parkinson? *Age and ageing*, 47, 209-214.
- Michie, S., Van Stralen, M. M. & West, R. 2011. The behaviour change wheel: A new method for characterising and designing behaviour change interventions. *Implementation science : IS,* 6, 42-42.
- Monteiro, E. P., Franzoni, L. T., Cubillos, D. M., Oliveira Fagundes, A., Carvalho, A. R., Oliveira, H. B., Pantoja, P. D., Schuch, F. B., Rieder, C. R., Martinez, F. G. & Peyré-Tartaruga, L. A. 2017. Effects of Nordic walking training on functional parameters in Parkinson's disease: a randomized controlled clinical trial. *Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports*, 27, 351-358.
- National Service Framework. 2005. *National Service Framework for long term conditions* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.gov.uk</u> [Accessed].
- Neuro Heroes. 2023. *Parkinson's Disease power* [Online]. Available: <u>https://neuroheroes.co.uk</u> [Accessed 8/8/23 2023].
- Newson, T. P. 2022. parkrun unintended benefits. *British journal of general practice,* 72, 519-519.
- Nice 2017. Parkinson's Disease in Adults (NG71). London, UK.
- Nice. 2023. Falls in older people:assessing risk and prevention [Online]. Available: https://nice.org.uk [Accessed 2023].
- Parkinsons.Org.Uk. 2023a. *Excellence Network data dashboards* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.parkinsons.org.uk</u> [Accessed 8/8/23 2023].
- Parkinsons.Org.Uk. 2023b. *Parkinson's exercise framework* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.parkinsons.org.uk</u> [Accessed 2023].
- Parkrun. 2023. parkrun [Online]. Available: https://parkrun.org.uk [Accessed 21/9/23 2023].
- Pellegrini, B., Boccia, G., Zoppirolli, C., Rosa, R., Stella, F., Bortolan, L., Rainoldi, A. & Schena, F. 2018. Muscular and metabolic responses to different nordic walking techniques, when style matters. *PloS one*, 13, e0195438-e0195438.
- Pellegrini, B., Peyré-Tartaruga, L. A., Zoppirolli, C., Bortolan, L., Bacchi, E., Figard-Fabre, H.
  & Schena, F. 2015. Exploring muscle activation during nordic walking: A comparison between conventional and uphill walking. *PloS one*, 10, e0138906-e0138906.
- Persson, C. U., Danielsson, A., Sunnerhagen, K. S., Grimby-Ekman, A. & Hansson, P.-O. 2014. Timed Up & Go as a measure for longitudinal change in mobility after stroke -Postural Stroke Study in Gothenburg (POSTGOT). *Journal of neuroengineering and rehabilitation*, 11, 83-83.
- Peto, Jenkinson, C. & Fitzpatrick, R. 1998. PDQ-39: a review of the development, validation and application of a Parkinson's disease quality of life questionnaire and its associated measures. *Journal of neurology*, 245, S10-S14.

- Podsiadlo, D. & Richardson, S. 1991. The Timed "Up & Go": A Test of Basic Functional Mobility for Frail Elderly Persons. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 39, 142-148.
- Priest, P. 2007. The Healing Balm Effect: Using a Walking Group to Feel Better. *Journal of health psychology*, 12, 36-52.
- Quirk, H. & Haake, S. 2019. How can we get more people with long-term health conditions involved in parkrun? A qualitative study evaluating parkrun's PROVE project. *BMC sports science, medicine & rehabilitation,* 11, 22-22.
- Radder, D. L. M., Silva De Lima, A. L., Domingos, J. M. M., Keus, S. H. J., Nimwegen, M. L. V., Bloem, B. R. & Vries, N. M. D. 2020. Physiotherapy in Parkinson's Disease: A Meta-Analysis of Present Treatment Modalities. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair*, 34, 871-880.
- Ramaswamy, B., Jones, J. & Carroll, C. 2018. Exercise for people with Parkinson's: a practical approach. *Practical neurology*, 18, 399-406.
- Reuter, I., Mehnert, S., Leone, P., Kaps, M., Oechsner, M. & Engelhardt, M. 2011. Effects of a Flexibility and Relaxation Programme, Walking, and Nordic Walking on Parkinson's Disease. *Journal of aging research,* 2011, 232473-18.
- Rogers, G., Davies, D., Pink, J. & Cooper, P. 2017. Parkinson's disease: summary of updated NICE guidance. *BMJ : British Medical Journal (Online)*, 358.
- Rooshenas, L., Paramasivan, S., Jepson, M. & Donovan, J. L. 2019. Intensive Triangulation of Qualitative Research and Quantitative Data to Improve Recruitment to Randomized Trials: The QuinteT Approach. *Qualitative health research*, 29, 672-679.
- Salse-Batán, J., Sanchez-Lastra, M. A., Suarez-Iglesias, D., Varela, S. & Ayán, C. 2022. Effects of Nordic walking in people with Parkinson's disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Health & social care in the community,* 30, e1505-e1520.
- Sapir, S., Ramig, L. O. & Fox, C. M. 2011. Intensive voice treatment in Parkinson's disease: Lee Silverman Voice Treatment. *Expert review of neurotherapeutics*, 11, 815-830.
- Schaible, F., Maier, F., Buchwitz, T. M., Schwartz, F., Hoock, M., Schönau, E., Libuda, M., Hordt, A., Van Eimeren, T., Timmermann, L. & Eggers, C. 2021. Effects of Lee Silverman Voice Treatment BIG and conventional physiotherapy on non-motor and motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease: a randomized controlled study comparing three exercise models. *Therapeutic advances in neurological disorders*, 14, 1756286420986744-1756286420986744.
- Schenkman, M., Moore, C. G., Kohrt, W. M., Hall, D. A., Delitto, A., Comella, C. L., Josbeno, D. A., Christiansen, C. L., Berman, B. D., Kluger, B. M., Melanson, E. L., Jain, S., Robichaud, J. A., Poon, C. & Corcos, D. M. 2018. Effect of High-Intensity Treadmill Exercise on Motor Symptoms in Patients With De Novo Parkinson Disease: A Phase 2 Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA neurology*, 75, 219-226.
- Schirinzi, T., Di Lazzaro, G., Salimei, C., Cerroni, R., Liguori, C., Scalise, S., Alwardat, M., Mercuri, N. B., Pierantozzi, M., Stefani, A. & Pisani, A. 2020. Physical Activity Changes and Correlate Effects in Patients with Parkinson's Disease during COVID-19 Lockdown. *Movement disorders clinical practice (Hoboken, N.J.),* 7, 797-802.
- Schuster, R. C., Brewis, A., Wutich, A., Safi, C., Vanrespaille, T. E., Bowen, G.,
  Sturtzsreetharan, C., Mcdaniel, A. & Ochandarena, P. 2023. Individual interviews versus focus groups for evaluations of international development programs:
  Systematic testing of method performance to elicit sensitive information in a justice study in Haiti. *Evaluation and program planning*, 97, 102208.
- Seale, J., Nind, M. & Simmons, B. 2013. Transforming positive risk-taking practices: the possibilities of creativity and resilience in learning disability contexts. *Scandinavian journal of disability research : SJDR,* 15, 233-248.

- Shipe, N. K., Billek-Sawhney, B., Canter, T. A., Meals, D. J., Nestler, J. M. & Stumpff, J. L. 2013. The intra- and inter-rater reliability of the tragus wall distance (TWD) measurement in non-pathological participants ages 18-34. *Physiotherapy theory and practice*, 29, 328-334.
- Silva, F. C. D., Iop, R. D. R., Arancibia, B. a. V., Ferreira, E. G., Hernandez, S. S. S. & Silva, R. D. 2016. Effects of Nordic walking on Parkinson's disease: a systematic review of randomized clinical trials. *Fisioterapia e pesquisa*, 23, 439-447.
- Silverberg, D., Goodman, C. & Prejserowicz, A. 2016. The Effect of Nordic Pole Walking on Chronic Low Back, Hip, and/or Knee Pain on Walking and on Distance Walked - A Prospective Community Study in Ambulatory People Over Age 60. *International Journal of Physical Therapy & Rehabilitation*, 2.
- Silverberg, D. S. & Prejserowicz, A. 2018. Nordic Walking can Reduce Back, Hip and Knee Pain While Walking but is Rarely Utilized as a Form of Treatment for These Conditions by Health Professionals. *International Journal of Neurorehabilitation*, 5.
- Silverman, D. 2022. Doing qualitative research / David Silverman, Los Angeles : SAGE.
- Smith, J. & Noble, H. 2014. Bias in research. *Evidence-based nursing*, 17, 100-101.
- Subramanian, I., Mathur, S., Oosterbaan, A., Flanagan, R., Keener, A. M. & Moro, E. 2022. Unmet Needs of Women Living with Parkinson's Disease: Gaps and Controversies. *Movement disorders*, 37, 444-455.
- Szefler-Derela, J., Arkuszewski, M., Knapik, A., Wasiuk-Zowada, D., Gorzkowska, A. & Krzystanek, E. 2020. Effectiveness of 6-week nordic walking training on functional performance, gait quality, and quality of life in Parkinson's disease. *Medicina (Kaunas, Lithuania),* 56, 1-10.
- Tuijt, R., Tan, A., Armstrong, M., Pigott, J., Read, J., Davies, N., Walters, K. & Schrag, A. 2020. Self-Management Components as Experienced by People with Parkinson's Disease and Their Carers: A Systematic Review and Synthesis of the Qualitative Literature. *Parkinson's disease*, 2020, 8857385-10.
- Van Eijkeren, F. J. M., Reijmers, R. S. J., Kleinveld, M. J., Minten, A., Bruggen, J. P. T. & Bloem, B. R. 2008. Nordic walking improves mobility in Parkinson's disease. *Movement disorders*, 23, 2239-2243.
- Warrior, P. 2023. *PD Warrior* [Online]. Available: <u>https://pdwarrior.com</u> [Accessed 21/9/23 2023].
- Watson, M. J. 2002. Refining the Ten-metre Walking Test for Use with Neurologically Impaired People. *Physiotherapy*, 88, 386-397.
- White, R. L., Ryan, D., Young, C., Elston, R. & Rossi, T. 2023. How does the context of physical activity influence perceived mood and wellbeing after exercise? *Mental health and physical activity*, 100504.
- Willig, W. S. R. C. W. W. S. R. 2017. *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research in Psychology,* United Kingdom, United Kingdom: SAGE Publications.
- World Health Organisation. 2021. *Coronavirus disease (COVID-19)* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.who.int</u> [Accessed 25/8/23].
- WróBlewska, A., Gajos, A., SmyczyńSka, U. & Bogucki, A. 2019. The Therapeutic Effect of Nordic Walking on Freezing of Gait in Parkinson's Disease: A Pilot Study. *Parkinson's disease*, 2019, 3846279-10.
- <u>Www.Gov.Uk</u>. 2021. *Guidance and regulation about COVID-19* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.gov.uk</u> [Accessed 10/10/2021 2021].
- Yang, C.-L., Huang, J.-P., Wang, T.-T., Tan, Y.-C., Chen, Y., Zhao, Z.-Q., Qu, C.-H. & Qu,
  Y. 2022. Effects and parameters of community-based exercise on motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease: a meta-analysis. *BMC neurology*, 22, 505-505.

# CHAPTER 6 APPENDICES

Appendix 1.	Ethical approval letter. September 2021.
Appendix 2.	Comparative NW studies.
Appendix 3.	Advert for social media.
Appendix 4.	Participant information sheet (PIS).
Appendix 5.	Study protocol.
Appendix 6.	PARQa (adapted) for PwP.
Appendix 7.	Consent form repeated measures study.
Appendix 8.	PARQ standard.
Appendix 9.	NMSS questionnaire.
Appendix 10.	Written permission from Movement Disorders Society.
Appendix 11.	NMS Quest (30 NMS).
Appendix 12.	FG PIS
Appendix 13.	FG Interview schedule (PwP).
Appendix 14.	FG Interview schedule (NWI/WL).
Appendix 15.	Ethical approval letter. April 2022.
Appendix 16.	Consent form FG study.

#### Appendix 11. Ethical approval letter. September 2021.



Faculty of Medicine & Health Sciences Research Ethics Committee Faculty Hub

Room E41, E Floor, Medical School Queen's Medical Centre Campus Nottingham University Hospitals Nottingham, NG7 2UH Email: <u>FMHS-ResearchEthics@nottingham.ac.uk</u>

23 September 2021

#### Sarah McCracken

MPhil student; Ageing and Rehabilitation Centre for Ageing and Rehabilitation Research School of Medicine, University of Nottingham QMC Campus Nottingham, NG7 2UH.

Dear Ms McCracken

Ethics Reference No: FMHS 331-0821 – please always quote						
Study Title: Nordic Walking & Parkinson's Disease: Understanding the impact, accessibility and						
diversity of Nordic Walking in People with Parkinson's	s disease after the Covid-19 pandemic.					
Chief Investigator/Supervisor: Dr Vicky Booth, Ass	istant Professor, Centre for Ageing and					
Rehabilitation Research, School of Medicine						
Lead Investigators/student: Sarah McCracken, MPI	hil Ageing and Rehabilitation, School of Medicine					
Other Key investigators: Prof Pip Logan, Director of Research and Knowledge Exchange, School of						
Medicine, Dr Kevin Anthony, Research Lead, Nottingham CityCare, Catherine Sears, Research						
Assistant, School of Medicine, Alison Clarke, British Nordic walking instructor and mentor, John Parr,						
Steve and Jennifer Johns, Patient and Public Involvement representatives.						
Proposed Start Date: 01.10.2021 Proposed End Date: 30.09.2023						
Medicine, Dr Kevin Anthony, Research Lead, Nottingham CityCare, Catherine Sears, Research Assistant, School of Medicine, Alison Clarke, British Nordic walking instructor and mentor, John Parr, Steve and Jennifer Johns, Patient and Public Involvement representatives.						

Thank you for submitting the above application which was considered at the meeting on 17 September 2021 and responding to the comments made. The following documents were received:

• FMHS REC Application form and supporting documents version 3.0: 23.09.2021

These have been reviewed and are satisfactory and the project has been given a favourable ethics opinion.

A favourable ethics opinion has been given on the understanding that:

- 1. The protocol agreed is followed and the Committee is informed of any changes using a notice of amendment form (please request a form).
- 2. The Chair is informed of any serious or unexpected event.
- 3. An End of Project Progress Report is completed and returned when the study has finished (Please request a form).

Yours sincerely

pp Louiscasi

Dr John Williams, Associate Professor in Anaesthesia and Pain Medicine Chair, Faculty of Medicine & Health Sciences Research Ethics Committee

# Appendix 22. Comparative NW studies

Author	Country	Number of participants and if split into groups	Level of disability	Duration of NW	Comparator	Main findings
Bang and Shin 2016 Intensive NW intervention on the balance function and walking ability of individuals with PD. An RCT	Republic of Korea	20: 10 NW 10 TT	H&Y 1-3	60 min 5 times/ week 4 weeks	Treadmill training (Nordic walking was carried out on treadmill)	All outcomes improved. Significant improvement of NW over treadmill in UPDRS, BBS, 10mWT, TUG, 6MWT
Monteiro et al 2016 Nordic walking training on functional parameters in PD: a randomized controlled clinical trial	Brazil	33: 16 NW 17 FW	1-4	35-50 min 2 times / week 6 weeks	Free walking	All outcomes improved. NW significantly more improvement in TUGSS, TUGFS, SWS
Cugusi et al 2015 Effects of a Nordic walking programme on motor and non- motor symptoms, functional performance and body	Italy	20: 10 NW 10 controls	1-3	60 min twice / week 12 weeks	Conventional care/ no exercise	NW group showed significant improvement in all tests: Motor symptoms UPDRS-III H&Y scale Functional performance 6MWT, FTSST, HGT, BBS,

Author	Country	Number of participants and if split into groups	Level of disability	Duration of NW	Comparator	Main findings
composition in patients with PD						TUG, SRT, BST Anthropometric profile and body composition QOL and non-motor symptoms PFS-16, BDI-II, SAS, NMSS
Ebersbach et al 2010 Comparing exercise in Parkinson's disease- the Berlin LSVT®BIG study, Ebersbach et al 2014, Impact of physical exercise on reaction time in patients with Parkinson's disease	Germany	58: 19 NW 20 LSVT BIG 19 Home	1-3	NW: 60 min 2 times / week 8 weeks LSVT: 60 min, 4 times / week 4 weeks Home: 60 min	LSVT BIG and similar home exercise programme	UPDRS improved by LSVT BIG and mild deterioration in NW group. LSVT BIG superior to NW in TUG and 10MWT. No sig difference in QOL. Sig difference in cRT between LSVT BIG group and home group and between NW group and home group. No sig. difference between LSVT BIG and NW in cRT. Supervised physical exercise with LSVT Big or NW is associated with improvement in cognitive aspects of movement preparation.

Author	Country	Number of participants and if split into groups	Level of disability	Duration of NW	Comparator	Main findings
Reuter et al 2011 Effects of a flexibility and relaxation programme, walking, and Nordic walking on PD	Germany	90: 30 NW 30 F&R 30 W	2-3	70 min 3 times / week 24 weeks	Walking Flexibility and relaxation	All reduces pain, increase QOL. W and NW significantly improved stride length, gait variability, 12MWT, 24MWT, MWS at exercise test, and UPDRS-III score. NW was superior to the F&R and W in improving postural stability, stride length, gait pattern and gait variability.
Monteiro et al 2016 Nordic walking training on functional parameters in Parkinson's disease: a randomized controlled clinical trial.	Brazil	14	1-4	60 min 2 times / week 9 weeks	Free walking	NW superior to free walking in improving TUG and SSW
Van Eijkeren et al 2008 Nordic Walking improves mobility in PD	The Netherlands	19 10 NW 9 NW + 5-month retest	1-3	60 min 2 times / week 6 weeks	Baseline, 6 weeks and 5 month follow up	Significant improvement in 10MWT, TUG, 6minWT and QOL (PDQ-39) in NW arm. Improvements persisted in follow up testing after 5 months

Author	Country	Number of participants and if split into groups	Level of disability	Duration of NW	Comparator	Main findings
Salse-Batan, 2022. Effects of NW in PwP: a systematic review and Meta-Analysis.	Spain	12 papers/ studies in the final analysis Studies assess motor and non- motor symptoms.		4-24 weeks. Different intensity and frequency of NW	Shown in a table.	Potential benefits of NW seem to be limited to improvements in walking ability and Quality of life.
Leal-Nascimento, 2022. Biomechanical responses of Nordic walking in people with PD.	Brazil	11 PwP	H & Y One to 1.5.		9 healthy controls	NW can be a useful strategy in rehab for PwP due to potential for improving functional mobility, increasing the pendulum-like mechanism in PD.
Granziera 2021 NW and Walking in	Switzerland	32	H & Y Two-three		NW v Walking	NW was not superior to walking in this population.
PD: A randomized single-blind controlled trial.					Paired t-tests General linear models	However, there was a beneficial effect of open-air exercise and guided group walking activities for PwP.
Bombieri 2017		Nine studies, including 4 RCTs. 127 subjects.			repeated measure.	Most studies reported beneficial effects of NW on either motor/non-motor symptoms or

Author	Country	Number of participants and if split into groups	Level of disability	Duration of NW	Comparator	Main findings
Walking on four limbs: A systematic review of NW in PD						both. Further large RCT's were recommended.
Gougeon 2017. NW improves trunk stability and gait spatial-temporal characteristics in PwP.	Canada	12 PwP No control group			NW with or without a verbal fluency task. To assess gait rehabilitation with cognitive impairment.	NW improved stride length and increased the base of support, to stabilize the upper body. Use of poles can assist with balance despite mild cognitive impairment. NW poles might help PwP to remain physically active and have a beneficial impact upon their independence and quality of life.
De Santis 2020 The motor and the non-motor outcomes of NW in PD: A systematic review. (and three observational studies with cross-over designs).	Germany	318	Early stages of PD. H & Y 1-2		Large table of comparative studies, including recent papers.	NW may contribute to the maintenance of overall mobility in addition to pharmacotherapy. NW may require regular and supervised training.

Author	Country	Number of participants and if split into groups	Level of disability	Duration of NW	Comparator	Main findings
Radder 2020 Physiotherapy in PD: A meta-analysis of present treatment modalities.	191 trials	7998 participants	H& Y 1-4		Meta-Analysis of 191 trials.	NW has a beneficial effect on motor symptoms, balance, and gait. The evidence base allows clinicians and PwP to make a choice regarding treatment modalities.

# Key to outcome measures & terms

Hoehn & Yahr stage (H&Y)	24 metre walking tests (24MWT)	PD quality 39 (PDQ-39)
Unified Parkinson's disease rating scale (UPDRS)	Five Time Sit to Stand Test (FTSST)	Berg balance scale (BBS)
6 min walking test (6MWT)	Hand grip-strength evaluation (HGT)	Parkinson's fatigue scale (PFS)
10 metre walking tests (10MWT)	Sit and Reach Test (RST)	Beck depression inventory (BDI)
Timed up and go test (TUG)	Back scratch test (BST)	Starkstein apathy scale (SAS)
Sit to stand performance (STS)	Self-selected speed (SSW)	Non-motor symptoms scale (NMSS)
12 metre walking tests (12MWT)	Locomotor rehabilitation index (LRI)	Cued reaction time (cRT)

#### Appendix 33. Advert for social media



Parkinson's UK and British Nordic Walking .



#### What are the aims of the study?

This study aims to add to the body of research, determining the impact of a Nordic walking programme on the physical and mental wellbeing of people with Parkinson's. We'd like to recruit people from a variety of backgrounds and start new Nordic walking classes in Nottinghamshire.

#### What is involved?

The study involves 8, weekly, one hour group sessions with a trained instructor, with data on your physical and mental wellbeing collected before and after the programme. There will be short questionnaires as well as some physical measurements regarding walking and posture. We'd like to follow up your progress after six and nine months. The study is based in Nottinghamshire.

#### Participant information sheet

#### Am I eligible?

If you are an adult with Parkinson's disease, who is able to walk for up to an hour without a walking aid and have no other major health conditions, you may be eligible for this study. This study has obtained approval from the FMHS Research Ethics; 331-0821

#### If you are interested in participating please contact Sarah McCracken

Email: sarah.parkesoo7@gmail.com

#### https://nordicwalkingforparkinsons.org.uk/

Appendix 44. Participant information sheet (PIS).

### Study Title: NORDIC WALKING & PARKINSON'S DISEASE

# Understanding the impact, accessibility and diversity of Nordic Walking in People with Parkinson's disease after the Covid-19 pandemic

# PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET

Research Ethics Reference: FMHS 331-0821. Version 3.0 <u>16/07/2021</u>

We would like to invite you to take part in a research study. Before you decide, it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. One of our team will go through the information sheet with you and answer any questions you have. Please take time to read this carefully and discuss it with others if you wish. Ask us anything that is not clear.

### What is the purpose of the research?

The purpose of this study is to increase the accessibility of Nordic Walking following Covid-19 lockdown; for people who have Parkinson's disease. There is a growing body of evidence that Nordic Walking can help people walk better and have an improved feeling of wellbeing. The charity Parkinson's UK is working collaboratively with British Nordic Walking to train accredited Nordic Walking instructors in Nottinghamshire who have a special interest in Parkinson's. This study explores whether Nordic Walking improves walking ability, posture, and well-being. It also aims to offer Nordic walking as a safe, outdoor, supportive exercise group after a period of Covid related restrictions. We would like to recruit people from diverse backgrounds; especially those who struggle to access exercise groups.

### Why have I been invited to take part?

You have been invited to take part in this research because you have been diagnosed as having Parkinson's disease and have expressed an interest in Nordic Walking. You have indicated that you are physically capable of walking for an hour at a weekly class, without a walking aid, are over 18 years of age and can attend a Nordic Walking group. Unfortunately, we are unable to accept people into the study who have the later stages of Parkinson's, complex or acute health problems or advanced dementia. We aim to recruit 40 to 60 participants in this study.

#### Do I have to take part?

No. It is up to you to decide if you want to take part in this research. We will describe the study and go through this information sheet with you to answer any questions you may have. We will check that you will be able to take part. If you agree to participate, we will ask you to sign a consent form and will give you a copy to keep. However, you would still be free to withdraw from the study at any time, without giving a reason and without any negative consequences, by advising the researchers of this decision. This would not affect your legal rights.

#### What will happen to me if I take part?

A researcher will contact you to complete some simple assessments to measure your walking speed, posture and your feelings of well-being; taking about 30 minutes to complete. There is an optional extra measurement addressing balance (BERG) that takes a further 20 minutes. You will then be asked to join the Nordic Walking group which is led by a trained Nordic Walking Instructor.

You will need to attend the Nordic Walking class for one hour per week for eight weeks. The first week will be a taster session/ introduction to Nordic Walking and then we will progress to being in a public space with a group of people who have Parkinson's disease. The poles and gloves/straps will be provided, but you will have to provide walking shoes/trainers and a raincoat. You will also need to get yourself to the David Ross Sports village; Main University Park Campus, University of Nottingham, NG7 2RD or to an alternative venue; agreed by the research team. During the Nordic Walking sessions, the instructor will ask you questions about how you are finding it, and she will write these in her field notes. These notes will be used in the research.

After eight weeks of the Nordic Walking, you will be asked to complete the same assessments on walking and well-being. You will then be given information about established Nordic Walking groups to give you the chance to continue. We'd like to follow and record your progress over the next six to nine months and so will contact you to repeat the assessments you have done before and after the Nordic Walking programme.

#### What is Nordic Walking?

Nordic walking is a total body workout utilising 90% of skeletal muscles. It's a version of walking that is performed with specially designed 'sport' walking poles similar to cross country ski poles. It focuses on large movements through the arms and legs and is superior to 'just walking'. It's usually enjoyed in a group setting, outdoors in green spaces. It was one of the first outdoor sports to start again after the Covid-19 lockdown.

#### Are there any risks in taking part?

The main risks of taking part are that you may have slight muscle pain as you may be using muscles in a different way. You will be taught how to warm-up and cool down as part of each session. The instructor will talk about this with you and tailor the walks to your ability. There is no evidence that Nordic Walking causes people to fall, but there is a slight chance that by walking more, you have more chance of falling. However, Nordic walking should improve your balance, posture and gait. The instructor is trained in falls prevention and will be undertaking risk assessments before each session.

### Are there any benefits in taking part?

You may benefit from taking part in Nordic Walking as it is a tailored exercise programme and exercise has been shown to have a positive impact on mood and muscle strength. The researcher is an experienced Parkinson's Nurse Specialist and Nordic walking instructor.

#### Will my time/travel costs be reimbursed?

Participants will not receive an inconvenience allowance to participate in the study, but you are very welcome to keep the poles to support you continuing to Nordic Walk with established groups.

#### What happens to the data provided?

The research data will be stored confidentially. We will allocate each participant a number and all research data will be stored using that number so that none of the data will have your real name or other individual identifiers associated with them. Your name and any information about you will not be disclosed outside the study centre. Your personal data and consent form will be kept separate to the research data. The researcher and supervisor will have access to your personal and research data. We would like your permission to use fully anonymised direct quotes in research publications. All research data and records will be stored for a minimum of seven years after publication or public release of the work of the research.

We would like your permission to use anonymised data in future studies, and to share our research data (e.g., in on-line databases) with other researchers in other Universities and organisations both inside and outside the European Union. This would be used for research in health and social care. Sharing research data is important to allow peer scrutiny, re-use (and therefore avoiding duplication of research) and to understand the bigger picture in particular areas of research. All personal information that could identify you will be removed or changed before information is shared with other researchers or results are made public.

## What will happen if I don't want to carry on with the study?

Even after you have signed the consent form, you are free to withdraw from the study at any time without giving any reason and without your legal rights being affected. Any personal data will be destroyed. If you withdraw, we will no longer collect any information about you, or from you, but we will keep the anonymous research data that has already been collected and stored as we are not allowed to tamper with study records. This information may have already been used in some analyses and may still be used in the final study analyses. To safeguard your rights, we will use the minimum personally identifiable information possible.

### Who will know that I am taking part in this research?

Data will be used for research purposes only and in accordance with the General Data Protection Regulations. All such data are kept on password-protected databases sitting on a restricted access computer system and any paper information (such as your consent form, contact details and any research questionnaires) would be stored safely in lockable cabinets in a swipe-card secured building and would only be accessed by the research team.

Under UK Data Protection laws, the University is the Data Controller (legally responsible for the data security), and the Chief Investigator of this study (Prof Pip Logan) is the Data Custodian (manages access to the data). This means we are responsible for looking after your information and using it properly. Your rights to access, change or move your information are limited as we need to manage your information in specific ways to comply with certain laws and for the research to be reliable and accurate.

You can find out more about how we use your information and to read our privacy notice at: <u>https://www.nottingham.ac.uk/utilities/privacy.aspx/</u>

Designated individuals of the University of Nottingham may be given access to data for monitoring and/or audit of the study to ensure we are complying with guidelines.

Anything you say during an interview/focus group will be kept confidential, unless you reveal something of concern that may put yourself or anyone else at risk. It will then be necessary to report to the appropriate persons. Due to the professional responsibilities of some University staff, if you mention something during the focus group which may require reporting the research team will discuss it with you and decide on a course of action. This may involve implementing the University of Nottingham Safeguarding policy.

#### What will happen to the results of the research?

The research may be published in nursing or medical journals and will be presented at health-related conferences. A report will be written for Parkinson's UK and then disseminated to clinical teams in the East Midlands. All participants will be anonymous within the report, and you will be sent a copy.

#### Who has reviewed this study?

All research involving people is looked at by an independent group of people, called a Research Ethics Committee, to protect your interests. There are three patient and public involvement representatives who have reviewed all the study documents, and they actively contribute to research project meetings. The study papers have all been reviewed by an academic supervisor and the project team.

### Who is organising and funding the research?

This study is being organised by Professor Pip Logan and Dr Vicky Booth through the University of Nottingham and partially funded by the National Institute for health research (NIHR) through their Capacity Development Scheme. Additional funding for this innovation has been granted by Nottingham CityCare partnership with mentor support from British Nordic Walking.

### What if there is a problem?

If you have a concern about any aspect of this project, please speak to the lead researcher Sarah McCracken, Principal Investigator Professor Pip Logan or the Chief Investigator, Dr Vicky Booth who will do their best to answer your query.

The researcher should acknowledge your concern and give you an indication of how she intends to deal with it. If you remain unhappy and wish to complain formally, you can do this by contacting the FMHS Research Ethics Committee Administrator, Faculty Hub, Medicine and Health Sciences, E41, E Floor, Medical School, Queen's Medical Centre Campus, Nottingham University Hospitals, Nottingham, NG7 2UH or via E-mail: <u>FMHS-ResearchEthics@nottingham.ac.uk</u>. Ref: FMHS 331-0821.

### **Contact Details**

If you would like to discuss the research with someone beforehand (or if you have questions afterwards), please contact: Lead researcher: Sarah McCracken Community Neurology Team The Meadows Health Centre 1, Bridgeway Centre, The Meadows Nottingham, NG7 2UH Tel: 0755 758 9080. 0115 8834830. Email: sarah.mccracken1@nottingham.ac.uk Appendix 55. Study protocol



#### **<u>Title. NORDIC WALKING & PARKINSON'S DISEASE</u>**

#### Understanding the impact, accessibility, and diversity of Nordic Walking in People with Parkinson's disease after the Covid-19 pandemic. REC ref: FMHS 331-0821

#### Abstract.

There is a growing body of research supporting the use of Nordic Walking as a means of regular, outdoor exercise for people with a variety of physical and mental health problems. Research shows promising outcomes for people with Parkinson's disease, with significant improvements in quality of life, increased walking speed and stride length, postural stability, gait improvements and in cognitive aspects of movement preparation. Although the benefits appear reasonable, there are several barriers to Nordic Walking for people with Parkinson's, such as accessibility and availability of specialist training, time, stigma of using two poles, cost of poles and it being predominantly an activity for middle-aged females and older adults.

Nordic Walking has been endorsed by PUK and BNW. There is currently a roll-out programme through this partnership; training instructors nationally to deliver Nordic Walking specifically to people with Parkinson's. The East Midlands is an early pilot site, and one Parkinson's disease nurse specialist is an accredited Nordic Walking instructor. However, there has been little research to explore the wider implementation, or benefits, of such programmes.

A quasi-experimental pre-post study of Nordic Walking for people with Parkinson's Disease (PwP) (n= 40-60) at The University of Nottingham and at Gedling Country Park will be conducted. Standard outcome measures of walking (ten metre and twenty metre walk test) timed up and go test, the Tragus test for posture, the Parkinson's non-motor scale questionnaire and field notes will be recorded before, and after, the eight-week programme of Nordic Walking. Participants will be recruited from the Nordic Walking group, which will be advertised via PUK branches and website, British Nordic walking website/social media and Social prescribers. A small sample (n=10-15) will complete optional advanced outcome measures for PD: the Berg balance test; to explore acceptability and feasibility of completing a wider range of measures in this population. This will take an additional 20 minutes per participant.

The cost of the programme will be calculated, and all the data will be used to inform either an implementation strategy, or a larger randomised controlled trial protocol. An overarching aim is to develop referral pathways from the NHS and to set up a new Nordic Walking service in the Nottinghamshire area for people with Parkinson's disease.

#### **Ethics and dissemination.**

Ethical approval is being sought from the School of Medicine, University of Nottingham, Ethics Committee.

The results of the study will be presented in a report to the funder and community neurology team; as well as a presentation at a Nottingham CityCare Partnership Nurses and Allied Health Professionals event.

Results will be presented at relevant conferences: a Parkinson's nurse specialist forum (100 people) and British Nordic Walking Instructors' convention (80 people). Results will be shared with all participants, and via an article in CityCare communications, and a short report to the research and audit team. A paper will be published in a peer reviewed journal.

### **Introduction**

Nordic Walking (NW) started in the 1930's when Finnish cross-country skiers used their ski poles for summer training. In 1967 Leena Jääskeläinen, a Professor in sport sciences, introduced walking with ski poles and within a few years had rolled it out as a recognised sport in Finnish schools.

In 1997 the name Nordic Walking (NW) was coined (britishnordicwalking.org.uk) and International Nordic Walking Federation (INWA inwa-nordicwalking.com) celebrated 20 years in 2020 with a plethora of global sporting events. The INWA is the global governing body promoting Nordic Walking. It collaborates with international scientific and medical communities to offer research resources and teaching. Nordic Walking is an evidence-based sport and is suitable for people with a range of disabilities including neurological diseases, arthritis, leg amputation, people recovering from breast cancer surgery, back pain, hip pain and mental illness. It has been endorsed by the UK Chief Medical Officer (Physical Activity guidelines, 2019).

In 2014, a British woman with Parkinson's disease attended an international conference and encountered Nordic Walking for Parkinson's disease for the first time. She asked her local branch for some funding and started the first NW group for PwP. The INWA instructor Brad Blake has been taking this regular class for the past seven years and published his findings through a conference presentation (Blake, 2015). He trains NW instructors due to his passion for Parkinson's. His study, of 10 participants, indicated that NW improved walking ability and might have a positive impact on mental health. It also hypothesized that Nordic Walking could be disease modifying, as it might slow down the progression of the disease. However, this study was very small and did not collect any standardised outcomes.

In addition to this small but inspirational study, there have been larger studies to support an evidence base for the benefits of NW in PwP. Reuter et al (2011) studied 90 participants and randomised them to three different forms of exercise: flexibility exercises and relaxation, NW, 'just walking'. NW was superior to the alternatives in improving stride length, gait and balance. In a Dutch study by Van Eijkeren et al; where subjects were tested at baseline, after

six weeks of bi-weekly intervention and followed up at five months, there were significant improvements in the 10-metre walk test, Timed Up and Go test (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991) and in quality of life (PDQ-39). These persisted up to the five-month follow-up assessment.

An Italian study (Cugusi, 2015) had similar findings: with improvements from baseline on the Timed Up and Go test, Non-Motor Symptom Questionnaire (Chaudhuri, 2007) scores and a 6-metre walk test.

Nordic Walking has been endorsed by Parkinson's UK and British Nordic Walking and training of instructors for PwP is on-going but there is little research to guide implementation of this novel intervention in a UK setting. The East Midlands is an early pilot site, and one Parkinson's disease nurse specialist has been trained as an accredited Nordic Walking Instructor (NWI). However, we do not know whether PwP will join NW groups and continue to NW after the intervention. We also do not know the motor and non-motor impact of NW at the end of an eight-week programme, or the longer-term benefits at six months.

Lockdown has had a huge impact upon the physical and psychological health of PwP. People have deconditioned due to lack of physical exercise, and this has negatively impacted upon their mental health. We know that exercise has a positive impact on well-being, resilience and coping strategies.

We chose to use the validated outcome measures from previous randomised controlled trials, cohort studies and the small feasibility study (McCracken et al, 2020) to inform this cohort study. Could this become the blueprint for a wider uptake of NW for PwP across the country?

Many PwP are keen to take part in research and this is a non-drug innovation study that is accessible and empowering. It builds on a model of self-care, rather than attending a rehab unit or expensive gym. It is a flexible model that can reach diverse groups and is ideal for people who struggle to exercise alone or who do not enjoy traditional fitness settings.

#### Aims of the study

The primary aim of the study is to determine the impact of NW by PwP on their physical health and mental well-being, especially after the Covid-19 lockdown.

The secondary aim is to increase the accessibility, availability and uptake of NW by PwP by better understanding the diversity and accessibility of those engaging in an eight-week programme. This will develop our knowledge on how to better meet the needs of 'hard to reach' groups within this population and inform the set-up of new NW services.

#### **Research questions**

The primary research question is.

1. Does an eight-week Nordic Walking programme improve mobility, posture, balance, mental health and well-being in people with Parkinson's disease?

The secondary research questions are.

- 2. What is the long-term impact after six months, of an eight-week NW programme on PwP? Do people join a regular group and continue to Nordic walk after the initial programme?
- 3. What is the diversity of PwP who are engaged in a NW programme?
- 4. How do PwP access a community-based NW programme?

#### **Method**

A quasi-experimental pre-post study will be conducted collecting qualitative and quantitative data.

A sample of 40-60 PwP will be recruited and consented to participate in the project by the researcher. The participants will be recruited from the local PUK branches and relevant websites and social media, including the BNW and social prescribers. The lead researcher (SM) will liaise with the local PUK branch chairs and BNW website contacts to request the distribution of the study materials to their members. The study materials (advert) will include the contact details of the researcher (SM) and anyone who is interested in taking part will then contact the research team directly. The researcher (SM) will also use social media to advertise and distribute the study materials to other relevant groups, including local social prescribers, charities or other professionals working with PwP. Once a potential participant has been in contact with the researcher (via phone or email), a Participant Information Sheet (PIS), including all details of the study, will be sent to them (via email or post, depending upon preference) and a repeat contact arranged to gain informed consent.

Once consent has been obtained, the participant will meet the researcher to complete the health screening questionnaire (Physical activity readiness questionnaire/ PARQ), descriptive information (e.g., name, age, time since diagnosis, gender, ethnicity, contact details) and baseline measures before starting the NW. This will be conducted within one month before the start of their NW programme and within two weeks of them finishing.

Participants will complete eight (one hour) sessions of NW at The University of Nottingham main campus. They will be signposted to existing NW groups afterwards with the intention of encouraging their continued uptake of NW following the initial eight-week programme. New groups will also be established by the project team as the longer-term vision is to set up a new NW service for people with PD. All outcome measures and questionnaires will be repeated at eight weeks and again, six months after the intervention.

The costs of delivering the NW programme will be recorded and will include the instructors' time and travel, the provision of new poles, infection control measures and equipment, telephone calls, leaflets, refreshments and training. There will be additional costs to improve the safety of the intervention. A trained Nordic walk leader will be available to support the instructor, and to supervise slower walkers, or if participants feel unwell. A

second, experienced NW Instructor (AC) from the research project team will be available to cover for holiday/sickness and to attend some group sessions. There will be small costs associated with expenses for three patient and public involvement representatives; two of whom have Parkinson's disease.

Qualitative data will be collected in the form of field notes and informal comments. These will be informally noted by the NW instructor during the classes and formally documented immediately after every class. They will not be audio recorded.

## **Outcomes**

Participant characteristics will be recorded to enable a description of the sample, including age, gender, ethnicity, socio-economic characteristics, medical history, and route into the NW class (e.g., from PUK, BNW, social media, etc.)

Participants will complete the following standardised quantitative measurements at baseline, at the end of the eight sessions and again after six months, with the NW instructor. It has been calculated that it will take 20 to 30 minutes to collect this information. The outcomes include:

- Time taken to walk 10 metres without a walking aid (Watson, 2002)
- Number of steps taken to walk 10 metres (Watson, 2002)
- Time taken to walk 20 metres without a walking aid (Motyl et al, 2013)
- Number of steps taken to walk 20 metres.
- Well-being will be assessed using the Non-Motor Scale questionnaire (Chaudhuri et al, 2007). This questionnaire has 30 questions, answered with a scale of 0-5. It asks questions about mood, falling, sleep, leg pain, weight etc. It has been used successfully in numerous PD trials.
- Tragus to wall test (Shipe, 2013) for measuring posture.
- Timed up and go test (Podsiadlo et al, 1991)

Participants can wear an optional fitness tracker or use the Strava/ Garmin App on their mobile phones. This is a growing area of research in Parkinson's and may be a useful adjunct to the other outcome measures that may aid motivation and give the individual positive feedback (Lamont et al, 2018). In the feasibility study, 2020, McCracken used video as a feedback mechanism for teaching and correcting technique. Participants found this extremely helpful for their personal use.

A small sample of participants (n=5-10) will be asked to complete an optional, enhanced outcome measure: The Berg balance test (Berg, 1989). This takes 20 minutes longer to complete but is a validated tool for measuring balance. This will be recorded by the research team at the University campus and participants can opt to have the lengthier outcome

measures. It will be offered to all participants, but difficult to implement in the timescales allocated. A shorter balance score is the Uni-pedal stance test (Springer et al, 2005), but this is not advisable for people with complex Parkinson's as it carries an increased risk of falls.

#### Lay Summary

Nordic Walking has been proposed as an effective, enjoyable outdoor activity for people with Parkinson's disease, which may have mental health benefits. It is growing in popularity, but the research evidence is patchy, with researchers using different outcome measures, different durations of Nordic Walking and a wide variation in physical ability between participants. Nordic Walking poles improve stability, are not walking aids, are sporty in appearance and do not look clinical, but some people are reluctant to use two walking poles in public.

As Nordic Walking is relatively easy to learn, not expensive and available to anyone who can walk unaided for 20 minutes or longer; we now need good quality published research to encourage uptake in clinical and non-clinical settings. This study will focus on increasing the accessibility, availability, and uptake of NW for people with Parkinson's Disease; and to look for any indications of physical or psychological benefit. We hope to recruit people from diverse backgrounds and to help people to get fit after the Covid-19 lockdown.

This study will recruit around 40 to 60 people with Parkinson's; offering them an eight-week programme of outdoor Nordic Walking (one hour per session, with breaks as required for technique teaching and rest) at University of Nottingham's campus. Measurements will be taken before, and after, the Nordic Walking programme. We will record walking speed and stride length, quality of life, timed up and go from a chair, the Tragus test (a simple measurement of posture), non-motor symptoms and ask the participants about their experiences during the programme. The cost of delivering the Nordic Walking programme will be calculated. The before and after results will be compared looking for any evidence of change. We will signpost people to established groups or offer follow on NW classes. Measurements and questionnaires will be repeated at eight weeks, and again at six months after the initial Nordic Walking intervention.

The results will be fed back to the participants, to Parkinson's UK and to British Nordic Walking as well as shared at conferences and through a published paper or poster.

#### **Ethics approval**

Ethics approval has been sought from the School of Medicine, University of Nottingham. REC ref FMHS 331-0821 Nordic Walking and Parkinson's.

#### Safety and monitoring adverse events.

Nordic Walking is already undertaken by thousands of people in the UK alone and therefore is described as a low-risk intervention. Specific risks, untoward incidents or adverse events are not expected; however adverse events will be collected in this study if they occur. An

environmental risk assessment has been carried out for the venues and these will be updated frequently, according to fluctuating weather and terrain. There will be local access to a defibrillator if needed at the venue (at David Ross; University Sports Centre). The Nordic Walking instructors and walk leader hold current first aid certificates and the lead researcher SM is an experienced Parkinson's Nurse Specialist.

The project will follow Covid-19 guidance around safety and infection prevention and control (www.gov.uk). As it is an outdoor sport the risks are lower and social distancing will be maintained. New poles will be provided for each participant, as well as hand gel, wipes and masks (if required).

Individual health /physical activity risk assessment questionnaires (PARQ) will be completed prior to commencing Nordic Walking classes. This includes emergency contact details. A weekly verbal update will be carried out to check whether there are any new health problems.

An obvious risk for anyone with Parkinson's, who undertakes physical activity, is the risk of falls. The PARQa includes a modified falls risk assessment, and the participant is responsible for being honest about their falls risk history. This questionnaire is tailored to PwP.

For the purposes of this study, an adverse event is an event that occurs during the research protocol that causes, or increases, the risk of physical or psychological harm to the research volunteer, or results in a loss of privacy and/or confidentiality to the research volunteer or others.

# **Eligibility**

# Inclusion criteria

- Adults over 18 with Parkinson's disease who can walk for up to an hour without a walking aid as reported by the participant. (This is stage 3 or below on the Hoehn & Yahr, 1967 scale)
- Able to participate in a one-hour training session every week (with frequent breaks for technique revision) as reported by the participant.
- Can give informed and written consent.

# Exclusion criteria

- Severe dementia (unable to take on new skills/ follow instructions).
- Complex comorbidities including frequent falls and significant postural hypotension with, or without, mild cognitive impairment.

# Data collection, storage and management

See attached Data Management Plan (DMP).

Each participant will be assigned a study number, for use on study documents and the electronic database. Study documents will be held securely in accordance with regulations. The investigator will make a separate confidential record of the participant's name, study
number and contact details, to permit identification of all participants enrolled in the study, in case additional follow-up is required. Most documents will be electronic and will be stored according to the DMP. All paper forms and questionnaires will be filled in using black ballpoint pen. Source documents will be filed at the investigator's site and may include consent forms, health risk assessments, environmental risk assessments, emergency contact details, pole length details, study records, field notes, paper and electronic questionnaires. Only study staff shall have access to study documentation.

In compliance with the Good Clinical Practice (GCP) guidelines, regulations and in accordance with the University of Nottingham Code of Research Conduct and Research Ethics, the Chief Investigator, Dr Vicky Booth, will maintain all records and documents regarding the conduct of the study. These will be retained for at least seven years or for longer if required. If the responsible investigator is no longer able to maintain the study records, a second person from the research team will be nominated to take over this responsibility. The study documents held by the Chief Investigator shall be archived at secure archive facilities at the University of Nottingham. This archive shall include all field notes, study databases and associated meta-data encryption codes.

#### **Analysis methods**

The sample will be described as a group using their personal non-identifiable characteristics (e.g., age, gender, and ethnicity). Data from the outcome measures will be stored on an Excel-type/ SPSS database and analysed using descriptive statistics (means, median, ranges and standard deviation). Qualitative data from the field notes and questionnaires will be transcribed and analysed using thematic analysis (Braun and Clarke, 2006). The non-motor scale questionnaire will give scope for detailed statistical analysis; as compared to the simple non motor questionnaire (Chaudhuri, 2007). Statistical methods will be refined following the statistics taught module and are likely to be descriptive statistics. Data will be checked by a second researcher (VB, FA and PL).

#### Publication and dissemination policy

The study results will be presented first to the collaborators in the project, including public and patient involvement representatives. The findings will be written up and presented to the funders and to CityCare clinical and board members after the dissertation and viva have been completed. Research findings will be presented in a poster and PowerPoint format for clinical and academic meetings. It will be presented to BNW and PUK via their respective websites and social media platforms as appropriate. An article will be written for publication with open access rights.

#### Strengths and limitations of the study

This research project builds upon previous work by the research team (McCracken, Logan, Anthony and Parr, 2021) and will contribute to the body of evidence looking at the physical health benefits of Nordic Walking as regular outdoor exercise for people with Parkinson's disease. It also highlights the non-motor benefits of Nordic Walking, particularly after a national lockdown. This is still a novel area of research, and the aim is to broaden the evidence base. An additional strength is that we hope to involve 'hard to reach' groups from

a diverse population in research.

A limitation of the proposed study is the heterogeneity of the sample population, particularly considering this is a clinical group where no two individuals are the same. A limitation is that the lead researcher (SM) runs a busy Parkinson's caseload in the community and will need to prioritise clinical commitments. Further limitations include: the outcome measures and field notes will be collected by the NW instructor who will also provide the intervention; this holds the potential for positive bias reporting. However, this risk can be mitigated using quantitative and standardised outcome measures which will be collected by the lead researcher and a research assistant with the use of published guidelines. Future research could use a blinded researcher. However, a significant study strength is the recruitment pathway: routine PD groups, British Nordic Walking, social prescribing and social media. Provided that the instructor is INWA trained, this should improve the results' generalisability to other NHS settings and appropriate patient groups.

Despite these limitations, two Nordic Walking instructors are available to deliver and support the project, as well as a qualified Nordic walk leader, which strengthens the practical delivery of the study. The project team are experienced, including experts in the field of research and neuro physiotherapy (Prof Logan, Dr Booth, Dr Allen and Dr Anthony). There is also PPI representation on the research team which will ensure all study procedures are acceptable before recruitment starts.

#### **Declarations**

Ethical approval has been sought and approved to conduct this study. Consent procedures are detailed in the methods section. Availability of the data and material, if appropriate, will be provided on request from the Chief Investigator, Dr Vicky Booth. Funding was provided by Nottingham CityCare partnership in collaboration with The University of Nottingham and NIHR funding. The initial funding, for instructor training was provided by The Fore in collaboration with British Nordic Walking.

#### Public and Patient Involvement

Mr John Parr has kindly agreed to be part of the project team. He is a gentleman with Parkinson's who is very active. He is of working age and is a keen sailor, enjoying outdoor sporting activities. The management of his medical condition is not conducted by any of the research team. As well as Mr Parr, Mr Steve Johns is a gentleman with Parkinson's who, with his wife Jennifer, is chair of the Nottingham branch of Parkinson's UK. Both Mr and Mrs Johns are also contributing to the PPI of this study and there is no known conflict of interest. John, Steve and Jennifer will be helping with writing all documents, lay summaries, attending project meetings and disseminating the results. Steve has offered to participate in the eight-week Nordic walking programme.

#### **Acknowledgements**

University of Nottingham. Prof Pip Logan. Dr Vicky Booth. Dr Frances Allen. Nottingham CityCare: Dr Kevin Anthony, Julia Webster (manager), Community neurology team. Helen Elvidge. Tracy Tyrell. Louise Bainbridge. Gale Cockayne. British Nordic walking CEO: Dr Catherine Hughes. Alison Clark. Maggie Bates. Parkinson's UK: Katie Smith. References.

1. The European Parkinson's Disease Association. 2018. What is Parkinson's. [ONLINE] Available at: https://www.epda.eu.com/about-parkinsons/what-is-parkinsons/. [Accessed 12 July 2019].

2. The European Parkinson's Disease Association. 2018. symptoms overview. [ONLINE] Available at: https://www.epda.eu.com/about-parkinsons/symptoms/symptoms-overview/. [Accessed 12 July 2019]

3. The European Parkinson's Disease Association. 2018. non-motor symptoms. [ONLINE] Available at: https://www.epda.eu.com/about-parkinsons/symptoms/non-motorsymptoms/. [Accessed 12 July 2019]

4. Cugusi, L., Manca, A., 2017. Nordic Walking for the Management of People with Parkinson Disease: A Systematic Review. PM&R, 9 (11), 1157-1166.

5. Bombieri, F., 2017. Walking on four limbs: A systematic review of Nordic Walking in Parkinson disease. Elsevier, 38, 8-12.

6. Davy, G (2019) Nordic Walking for People with PD (including an online resource/ blog).

7. https://nordicwalking.co.uk/?page=about\_nordic\_walking&c=2

8. <u>https://nordicwalking.co.uk/?page=about\_nordic\_walking&c=1</u>

https://britishnordicwalking.org.uk/pages/social-prescribing-and-nordic-walking

https://www.inwa-nordicwalking.com/research/

9. Parkinson's UK. 2016. Tremor. [ONLINE] Available at:

https://www.parkinsons.org.uk/information-and-support/tremor

10. Parkinson's UK. 2017. Rigidity. [ONLINE] Available at:

https://www.parkinsons.org.uk/information-and-support/rigidity

11. Parkinson's UK. 2017. Slowness of movement. [ONLINE] Available at:

https://www.parkinsons.org.uk/information-and-support/slowness-movement

12. Parkinson's UK. 2018. Freezing. [ONLINE] Available at:

https://www.parkinsons.org.uk/information-and-support/freezing

13. Parkinson's UK. 2018. Muscle Cramps and Dystonia. [ONLINE] Available at:

https://www.parkinsons.org.uk/information-and-support/muscle-cramps-and-dystonia

14. Parkinson's UK, 2017, Daily Living Equipment For People With Parkinson's

15. NICE. 2017. Parkinson's Disease in Adults [ONLINE] Available at:

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng71/chapter/Recommendations#non-pharmacologicalmanagement-of-motor-and-non-motor-symptoms

16. Parkinson's UK. Nordic Walking and Parkinson's [ONLINE] Available at:

https://www.parkinsons.org.uk/information-and-support/your-magazine/nordic-walking-and-parkinsons

17. Silva et al. Effects of Nordic walking on Parkinson's disease a systematic review of randomized clinical trials. 2016

18. Reuter et al, Effects of a flexibility and relaxation programme, walking, and Nordic walking on Parkinson's disease, J. Aging Res. (2011)

19. Goodwin et al, 2008. The Effectiveness of Exercise interventions for People with Parkinson's Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Movement Disorders, 23 (5), 631

20. Hoehn M M, Yahr MD. Parkinsonism: onset, progression, and mortality. Neurology. 1967: 17:427-442.

21. Significant improvements in quality of life (Baatile et al, 2000)

22. Increase in walking speed (Van Eijkeren et al, 2008).

23. Increased stride length, postural stability and improved gait pattern (Reuter et al, 2011).

24. Nordic Walking is associated with improvement in cognitive aspects of movement preparation (Ebersbach et al 2014).

25. Blake, B. (2014) Nordic walking for Parkinson's disease. (Poster)

26. Blake, B. (2015) Striding with Poles. Parkinson's network news. Issue 41. Page 9.

27. Blake, B. (2015) A study of Nordic walking and Parkinson's in Herefordshire. britishnordicwalking.org.uk

28. Podsiadlo D, Richardson S. The timed "up and go": A test of basic functional mobility for frail elderly persons. JAGS. 1991; 39:142-148.

29. Braun, V. and Clarke, V (2006) Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative research in Psychology, 3 (2): 77-101.

30. Watson, M.J. (2002) Refining the 10-metre walking test for use with neurologically impaired people. Physiotherapy, 88 (7): 386-397.

31. Chaudhuri, K. R, et al (2007) The metric properties of a Novel Non-Motor Symptoms Scale for Parkinson's Disease: Results from an International Pilot Study. Movement Disorders, 22 (13): 1901-1911.

32. Lamont, R. M, et al (2018) Accuracy of wearable physical activity trackers in People with Parkinson's Disease. Gait. Posture. 2018 Jun; 63:104-108. Doi10.1016. PMID:29729611
32. McCracken, S, Logan, P, Anthony, K. and Parr, J (2021) Exploring the benefits and barriers to Nordic Walking in People with Parkinson's disease: A feasibility study. British Journal of neuroscience nursing (awaiting publication).

32. Motyl, J.M, Driban, J.B, McAdams, E, Price, L.L and McAlindon, T.E (2013) Test-retest reliability and sensitivity of the 20 m20-metrek test among patients with knee osteoarthritis. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders. May 10; 14:166. Doi:10.1186/1471-2474-14-166. PMID.23663561: PMCID: PMC3661341.





Appendix 66. PARQa (adapted) for PwP.

### **Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire**

Nam	e:	Height:	Year of birth:	
Addr	ess:			
<u>Ema</u>	il:	Phone number:		Date:
	e yes or no to each of the questions or's consent before you participate in		es,' you may ne	ed your
1	Has a doctor ever said that you hav pressure?	e a heart condition or	high blood	Yes/No
2	Do you have chest pain at rest or br	rought on by physical	activity?	Yes/No
3	Do you lose balance because of dizz consciousness in the last 12 months		it	Yes/ No
4	Do you have a bone or joint problen physical activity?	n that could be made	worse by	Yes/No
5	Are you currently taking medication carry with you on a walk? Please sta		ou need to	Yes/ No
6	Has your doctor ever said that you s activity?	should only do medica	lly supervised	Yes/ No
7	Have you been diagnosed with a lon that might affect your ability to exer		• /	Yes/ No

I realise that my body's reaction to exercise is not totally predictable. Should I develop a condition that affects my ability to exercise, I will inform my instructor immediately and stop exercising if necessary. I take full responsibility for always monitoring my own physical condition.

Signed:

Date:

In case of emergency, please contact. Name: Phone number:

Photographs: I give permission to my instructor and British Nordic Walking to use photographs taken of me in publications, advertisements, exhibitions, and the internet to illustrate their work and to promote Nordic Walking. This includes use on social media. Due to the nature of the internet, photographs may be shared across numerous channels. The photographs may also be loaned to approved third parties e.g., charitable partners, funders, and the media. I agree to these conditions: Yes /No

Data Protection: This information will be stored securely by the instructor and uploaded to an encrypted, secure database at the University of Nottingham for research purposes. You must notify your instructor of any changes in your personal data. Your email address will be used to notify you about Nordic Walking activities. I agree to these conditions: Yes /No

How did you hear about Nordic Walking?

How far does the participant say they can currently walk/duration/rest periods needed?

Impact of medication and timing?

Expressed difficulties	Yes	No
Use of walking aid		
Uneven surfaces		
Balance/co-ordination		
Falls		
Fatigue		
Pain on walking		
Memory/cognition		
Other impairment/ illness?		
Covid symptoms?		
Other		

Instructor's observations from taster sessions /training/walks

Any other comments (e.g., fitness routine during lockdown).

#### Appendix 77. Consent form repeated measures study

#### Participants Consent Form Final version 4.0: 16.10.2021

#### Title of Study: NORDIC WALKING & PARKINSON'S DISEASE

# Understanding the impact, accessibility, and diversity of Nordic Walking in People with Parkinson's disease after the Covid-19 pandemic. REC ref: FMHS 331-0821

Name of Researchers: Lead investigator: Sarah McCracken, Parkinson's Nurse Specialist Chief Investigator/Supervisor: Prof Logan and Dr Vicky Booth

#### **Please initial box**

- Name of Participant: \_\_\_\_\_
- 1. I confirm that I have read and understand the participant information sheet for the above study which is attached and have had the opportunity to ask questions.
- 2. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time, without giving any reason.
- **3.** I understand that should I withdraw, more than 7 days after the questionnaire and Nordic walking teaching sessions have taken place then the information collected so far cannot be erased and that this information may still be used in the study analysis.
- 4. I understand that relevant sections of my data collected in the study may be looked at by the research group and by other responsible individuals for monitoring and audit purposes. I give permission for these individuals to have access to these records and to collect, store, analyse and publish information obtained from my participation in this study. I understand that my personal details will be kept confidential.
- 5. I understand that the questionnaires will be completed before and after the 8-week period of Nordic walking intervention; and there will be a follow up questionnaire after six and nine months. Anonymous comments/ field notes during and after the classes may be used in the study reports.
- 6. I understand that what I say in the questionnaires and during the Nordic walking group sessions will be kept confidential unless I reveal something of concern that may put me or someone else at any risk. It will then be necessary to report this to the appropriate persons.
- 7. I understand that information about me obtained during the study will be made anonymous before it is stored. It will be uploaded into a secure database on a computer kept in a secure place. Data will be kept for 7 years after the study has ended and then destroyed.
- 8. **Optional:** I agree that my research data may be stored and used in possible future research during and after 7 years and shared with other researchers including those working outside the University. Yes/No
- 9. I agree to take part in the above study.

Name of Participant	Date	Signature
Name of Person taking consent	Date	Signature

#### Appendix 8. PARQ standard

## **Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire**

Nam	e:	Height:	Year of birth:	
Addr	ress:			
Ema	il:	Phone number:		
	e yes or no to each of the questions l or's consent before you participate in		es,' you may neo	ed your
1	Has a doctor ever said that you have pressure?	e a heart condition or	high blood	Yes/No
2	Do you have chest pain at rest or br	ought on by physical	activity?	Yes/No
3	Do you lose balance because of dizz consciousness in the last 12 months		t	Yes/ No
4	Do you have a bone or joint problem physical activity?	n that could be made	worse by	Yes/No
5	Are you currently taking medication carry with you on a walk? Please sta		ou need to	Yes/ No
6	Has your doctor ever said that you s activity?	hould only do medica	lly supervised	Yes/ No
7	Have you been diagnosed with a lon that might affect your ability to exer	-	• .	Yes/ No

I realise that my body's reaction to exercise is not totally predictable. Should I develop a condition that affects my ability to exercise, I will inform my instructor immediately and stop exercising if necessary. I take full responsibility for always monitoring my own physical condition.

Signed:

Date:

In case of emergency, please contact. Name: Phone number:

Photographs: I give permission to my instructor and British Nordic Walking to use photographs taken of me in publications, advertisements, exhibitions, and the internet to illustrate their work and to promote Nordic Walking. This includes use on social media. Due to the nature of the internet, photographs may be shared across numerous channels. The photographs may also be loaned to approved third parties e.g., charitable partners, funders, and the media. I agree to these conditions: Yes /No

Data Protection: This information will be stored securely by the instructor and will not be given to anyone else. You must notify your instructor of any changes in your personal data. Your email address will be used to notify you about Nordic Walking activities.

I agree to these conditions: Yes /No

# Appendix 9. NMSS Questionnaire.

Non-Motor Symptom asses	sment scale for Park	inson's Disease			
Patient ID No:	Initials:	Age:			
Symptoms assessed over the last month. Each symptom secored with respect to: Severity: 0 = None, 1 = Mild: symptoms present but causes little distress or disturbance to patient; 2 = Moderate; some distress or disturbance to patient; 3 = Severe: major source of distress or disturbance to patient. Frequency: 1 = Rarely (<1/wk); 2 = Often (1/wk); 3 = Frequent (several times per week); 4 = Very Frequent (daily or all the time)					
Demains will be weighed differentially. Yes/ No answers are not included in (Bracketed text in questions within the scale is included as an explanatory air		ion.			
Domain 1: Cardiovascular including falls		Severity	Frequency	Frequency	
<ol> <li>Does the patient experience light-headedness, dizziness, weaknes or lying position?</li> <li>Does the patient fall because of fainting or blacking out?</li> <li>SCORE:</li> </ol>	s on standing from sitting				
Domain 2: Sleep/fatigue					
3. Does the patient doze off or fall asleep unintentionally during day (For example, during conversation, during mealtimes, or while wate					
4. Does fatigue (tiredness) or lack of energy (not slowness) limit the	patient's daytime activities?				
5. Does the patient have difficulties falling or staying asleep?					
<ol> <li>Does the patient experience an urge to move the legs or restlessne movement when he/she is sitting or lying down inactive?</li> <li>SCORE:</li> </ol>	ess in legs that improves with				
				$\square$	
Domain 3: Mood /Cognition					
<ol> <li>Has the patient lost interest in his/her surroundings?</li> <li>Has the patient lost interest in doing things or lack motivation to to</li> <li>Does the patient feel nervous, worried or frightened for no appare</li> <li>The the estimated of the second secon</li></ol>	mt reason?				
<ol> <li>Does the patient seem sad or depressed or has he/she reported su</li> <li>Does the patient have flat moods without the normal "highs" and</li> </ol>	-	H	Ħ	H	
12. Does the patient have difficulty in experiencing pleasure from the activities or report that they lack pleasure? SCORE:					
Domain 4: Perceptual problems/hallucinations					
<ol> <li>Does the patient indicate that he/she sees things that are not ther</li> <li>Does the patient have beliefs that you know are not true? (For et about being harmed, being robbed or being unfaithful)</li> <li>Does the patient experience double vision?</li> <li>(2 separate real objects and not blurred vision)</li> <li>SCORE:</li> </ol>					

Copyright © 2007 International Parkinson and Movement Disorder Society. All rights reserved.

1

	Severity	Frequency	Frequency x Severity
Jomain 5: Attention/ Memory			
<ol> <li>Does the patient have problems sustaining concentration during activities?</li> <li>For example, reading or having a conversation)</li> <li>Does the patient forget things that he/she has been told a short time ago or vents that happened in the last few days?</li> <li>Does the patient forget to do things?</li> <li>For example, take tablets or turn off domestic appliances?)</li> <li>CORE:</li> </ol>			
Iomain 6: Gastrointestinal tract			
<ol> <li>Does the patient dribble saliva during the day?</li> <li>Does the patient having difficulty swallowing?</li> <li>Does the patient suffer from constipation?</li> <li>Bowel action less than three times weekly)</li> <li>CORE:</li> </ol>			
Iomain 7: Urinary			
<ol> <li>Does the patient have difficulty holding urine? (Urgency)</li> <li>Does the patient have to void within 2 hours of last voiding? (Frequency)</li> <li>Does the patient have to get up regularly at night to pass urine? (Nocturia)</li> <li>CORE:</li> </ol>			
Oomain 8: Sexual function			
<ol> <li>Does the patient have altered interest in sex? Very much increased or decreased, please underline)</li> <li>Does the patient have problems having sex? CORE:</li> </ol>			
omain 9: Miscellaneous			
<ol> <li>7. Does the patient suffer from pain not explained by other known conditions? Is it related to intake of drugs and is it relieved by antiparkinson drugs?)</li> <li>8. Does the patient report a change in ability to taste or smell?</li> <li>9. Does the patient report a recent change in weight (not related to dieting)?</li> <li>0. Does the patient experience excessive sweating? (not related to hot weather)</li> <li>CORE:</li> </ol>			
OTAL SCORE:			
eveloped by the International Parkinson's Disease Non- Motor Group.			
	<ul> <li>A cose the patient have problems sustaining concentration during activities?</li> <li>For example, reading or having a conversation?</li> <li>A cose the patient forget things that he/she has been told a short time ago or ventra that happened in the last few days?</li> <li>A cose the patient forget to do things?</li> <li>For example, take tablets or turn off domestic appliances?):</li> <li>CORE:</li> <li>Monta C Costroluctional true</li> <li>A cose the patient drivble saliva during the day?</li> <li>A cose the patient dirible saliva during the day?</li> <li>A cose the patient dirible saliva during the day?</li> <li>A cose the patient dirible saliva during the day?</li> <li>A cose the patient during difficulty swallowing?</li> <li>B cose the patient during difficulty swallowing?</li> <li>A cose the patient during the day?</li> <li>A cose the patient during difficulty swallowing?</li> <li>A cose the patient have difficulty bulding uring? (Urgency)</li> <li>A cose the patient have to get up regularly at night to pass uring? (Nocturia):</li> <li>A cose the patient have gote difficulty and difficulty basis uring? (Nocturia):</li> <li>A cose the patient have problems having sex?</li> <li>A cose the patient have problems having sex?</li> <li>A cose the patient have problems having sex?</li> <li>A cose the patient suffer from pain not explained by other known conditions?</li> <li>A cose the patient report a change in ability to tast or small?</li> <li>A cose the patient port a change in ability to tast or small?</li> <li>A cose the patient port a change in ability to tast or small?</li> <li>A cose the patient report a change in ability to tast or small?</li> <li>A cose</li></ul>	Image: Section laws problems sustaining concentration during activities?   6. Does the patient forget things that he'she has been toid a short time ago or events that happend in the last for days?   8. Does the patient forget to do things?   For example, take tablets or turn off domestic appliances?):   CORE:   mana 5. Class the patient forget to do things?   9. Does the patient forget to do things?   10. Does the patient dribble saliva during the day?   10. Does the patient dribble saliva during the day?   11. Does the patient dribble saliva during the day?   12. Does the patient forf form constigation?   Bowel action less than three times weekly?   CORE:   mana 5. Scala function   12. Does the patient have difficulty holding urine? (Urgency)   13. Does the patient have difficulty an inght to pass urine? (Nocturia)   CORE:   mana 5. Scala function   14. Does the patient have difficulty holding urine? (Urgency)   15. Does the patient have difficulty an inght to pass urine? (Nocturia)   CORE:   mana 5. Scala function   15. Does the patient have addribes aliva during set?   CORE:   mana 5. Scala function   16. Does the patient have problems having set?   CORE:   mana 5. Scala function   17. Does the patient have addribe and in sterest in set?   18. Does the patient have problems having set?   19. Does the patient subter of in spin not explained by other known conditions?   10. Does the patient report a change in ability to taste or smell?	A Des the patient have problems sustaining concentration during activities?

Copyright © 2007 International Parkinson and Movement Disorder Society. All rights reserved.

#### Appendix 10. Written permission from Movement Disorders Society

Advance.	www.movementdisorders.org
Improve.	
Educate.	
Collaborate.	July 9, 2021
	Sarah McCracken
Officers (2019-2021)	Nottingham CityCare Community Neurology Team
President Claudia Trenkwalder	The Meadows Health Centre
Kassel	Nottingham, Nottinghamshire NG2 2JG
President-Elect Francisco Cardoso Belo Horizonte	United Kingdom T: 0755 758 9080
Secretary Bastiaan Bloem Nijmegen	E: sarah.mccracken1@nhs.net
Secretary-Elect Charles Adler Scottsdale	Re: Authorization to Use Materials Owned by the International Parkinson and Movement Disorder Society (MDS)
Treasurer Louis CS Tan Singapore	Dear Ms. McCracken:
Treasurer-Elect Irene Litvan La Jolla	Thank you for your interest in the Non-Motor Symptoms Scale ("NMSS"). MDS grants permission for use of the NMSS in English within the study titled, "NORDIC WALKING & PARKINSON'S DISEASE Increasing the accessibility of Nordic
Past-President Christopher Goetz <i>Chicago</i>	walking after the Covid-19 pandemic. Setting up a new Nordic walking service for people with Parkinson's." led by Professor Pip Logan and academic supervisor, Dr. Vicky Booth, acting as the lead Principal Investigators. This study is identified by the
International Executive Committee (2019-2021)	IRAS project ID: 302747. Since this is an academic study, there is no fee associated with this use.
Shengdi Chen Shanghai	By submitting your request to MDS, you agreed to the following:
Mark Edwards London	I understand that the NMSS may only be used in paper format for the purposes
Cristian Falup-Pecurariu Brașov	described above. I also understand that reproduction, distribution, translation, or sale of
Joaquim Ferreira Lisbon	any portion of the NMSS is strictly prohibited. Changes, modifications, adaptations, and derivative works of the NMSS are not permitted without the permission of MDS. Furthermore, the NMSS may not be incorporated into clinical trials, training materials,
Marina de Koning-Tijssen Groningen	certification programs, software programs, electronic platforms or otherwise except
Alice Nieuwboer Leuven	through express authorization of MDS and payment of any applicable fees. Further, MDS shall have no liability related to use of the NMSS or any other MDS owned
D. James Surmeier Chicago	rating scale, and I hereby release, hold harmless, and indemnify MDS, its officers, directors, employees, volunteers, and agents, from any loss, damage, or claim based on
Pille Taba Tartu	such use.
Mayela Rodriguez-Violante Mexico City	Please do not hesitate to contact me with any questions or concerns.
Ruey-Meei Wu Taipei	Sincerely,
$\bigcirc$	Shazia Ali Director of Scientific Programs International Parkinson and Movement Disorder Society ratingscales@movementdisorders.org

International Parkinson and Movement Disorder Society

International Secretariat • 555 East Wells Street, Suite 1100 • Milwaukee, WI 53202-3823 USA • TEL; +1 414-276-2145 • FAX; +1 414-276-3349 • info@movementdisorders.org

# PARKINSON'S<sup>UK</sup>CHANGE ATTITUDES. FIND A CURE. JOIN US.

# Non-motor symptoms questionnaire

This questionnaire should be completed and **given to your GP, specialist or Parkinson's nurse at your next appointment.** Please **do not** return it to Parkinson's UK. Thank you.

Name:

Date: Age:

Centre ID: Male 🗆 Female 🗆

#### Have you experienced any of the following in the last month?

All the information you supply through this form will be treated with confidence and will only be used for the purpose for which it has been collected. Information supplied will be used for monitoring purposes. Your personal data will be processed and held in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998. Developed and validated by the International PD Non Motor Group.

#### Non-movement problems in Parkinson's

The movement symptoms of Parkinson's are well known. However, other problems can sometimes occur as part of the condition or its treatment. It is important that the doctor knows about these, particularly if they are troublesome for you.

A range of problems is listed below. Please tick the box 'Yes' if you have experienced it during the past month. The doctor or nurse may ask you some questions to help decide. If you have not experienced the problem in the past month tick the 'No' box. You should answer 'No' even if you have had the problem in the past but not in the past month.

		Yes	No
1	Dribbling of saliva during the daytime.		
2	Loss or change in your ability to taste or smell.		
3	Difficulty swallowing food or drink or problems with choking.		
4	Vomiting or feelings of sickness (nausea).		
5	Constipation (less than three bowel movements a week) or having to strain to pass a stool.		
6	Bowel (faecal) incontinence.		
7	Feeling that your bowel emptying is incomplete after having been to the toilet.		
8	A sense of urgency to pass urine makes you rush to the toilet.		
9	Getting up regularly at night to pass urine.		
10	Unexplained pains (not due to known conditions such as arthritis).		

		Yes	No
11	Unexplained change in weight (not due to change in diet).		
12	Problems remembering things that have happened recently or forgetting to do things.		
13	Loss of interest in what is happening around you or in doing things.		
14	Seeing or hearing things that you know or are told are not there.		
15	Difficulty concentrating or staying focused.		
16	Feeling sad, 'low' or 'blue'.		
17	Feeling anxious, frightened or panicky.		
18	Feeling less interested in sex or more interested in sex.		
19	Finding it difficult to have sex when you try.		
20	Feeling light-headed, dizzy or weak standing from sitting or lying.		
21	Falling.		
22	Finding it difficult to stay awake during activities such as working, driving or eating.		
23	Difficulty getting to sleep at night or staying asleep at night.		
24	Intense, vivid or frightening dreams.		
25	Talking or moving about in your sleep, as if you are 'acting out' a dream.		
26	Unpleasant sensations in your legs at night or while resting, and a feeling that you need to move.		
27	Swelling of the legs.		
28	Excessive sweating.		
29	Double vision.		
30	Believing things are happening to you that other people say are not.		

Chaudhuri KR, Martinez-Martin P, Schapira AHV, Stocchi F, Sethi K, Odin P et al (2006) 'An international multicentre pilot study of the the first comprehensive self-completed non motor symptoms questionnaire for Parkinson's disease: The NMSQuest study' *Mov Disord*; 21(7):916-923.

All the information you supply through this form will be treated with confidence and will only be used for the purpose for which it has been collected. Information supplied will be used for monitoring purposes. Your personal data will be processed and held in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998. Developed and validated by the International PD Non Motor Group.

© Parkinson's UK: Parkinson's UK is the operating name of the Parkinson's Disease Society of the United Kingdom. A company limited by guarantee. Registered in England and Wales (00948776). Registered office: 215 Vauxball Bridge Road, London SWTV TEL A chanty registered in England and Wales (256197) and in Scotland (SC037554). NOV18

B117

Appendix 12. FG Participant information sheet.

#### Study Title: NORDIC WALKING & PARKINSON'S DISEASE

# What are the characteristics and core components needed to implement Nordic Walking groups for People with Parkinson's in a community rehabilitation setting?

#### PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET

Research Ethics Reference: FMHS 331-0821 Version 2.0 April 2022

We would like to invite you to take part in a research study. Before you decide, it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. One of our team will go through the information sheet with you and answer any questions you have. Please take time to read this carefully and discuss it with others if you wish. Ask us anything that is not clear.

#### What is the purpose of the research?

We are wanting to know more about how people participating in, and leading Nordic Walking groups, have found the experience. To do this we are conducting a series of focus group discussions with people with Parkinson's who have participated in a Nordic Walking group, instructors who have led them and the research team conducting this project.

The study aims to establish the characteristics and core components needed to implement Nordic Walking groups for People with Parkinson's in a community rehabilitation setting.

These focus groups will build upon an existing research project that is exploring the impact, accessibility, and diversity of Nordic Walking following Covid-19 lockdown, for people who have Parkinson's disease, of which you may already be a participant in.

#### Why have I been invited to take part?

You have been invited to take part in this research because you have been diagnosed as having Parkinson's disease, have expressed an interest in Nordic Walking and are participating in the existing research project. You have either finished the eight-week programme of Nordic Walking classes or you are still taking part in the research project.

Unfortunately, we are unable to accept people into the study who have the later stages of Parkinson's, complex or acute health problems or advanced dementia. We aim to recruit up to ten participants to the PD focus group (four to five people in each of the two groups) and three to five instructors or walk leaders.

#### Do I have to take part?

No. It is up to you to decide if you want to take part in this research. We will describe the study and go through this information sheet with you to answer any questions you may have. We will check that you will be able to take part. If you agree to participate, we will ask you to sign a consent form and will give you a copy to keep. However, you would still be free to withdraw from the study at any time, without giving a reason and without any negative consequences, by advising the researchers of this decision. This would not affect your legal rights.

#### What will happen to me if I take part?

You will be invited to attend a single focus group in May 2022, either before or after your usual Nordic Walking class. You do not have to stay for the Nordic Walking if you are tired.

The focus group will meet at the Lakeside Arts Centre meeting room 1, University Park Campus, NG7 2RD (near the café). Refreshments will be provided. The focus group will be facilitated by an academic researcher or the research lead, Sarah McCracken.

The meeting will last for up to 90 minutes and there will be no further follow-up meetings anticipated. It will be a small group of four to six participants and two facilitators. The discussion will be audio-recorded and then transcribed.

If anything, sensitive, or of a personal nature, is disclosed during the focus group discussion, it will be kept confidential unless someone reveals something of concern that may put themself, or someone else, at any risk. It will then be necessary to report this to the appropriate persons.

Information discussed in the focus group may be sensitive and/or confidential. Participants are asked to respect other participant's privacy and not to disclose what others have said in the focus group.

#### What is Nordic Walking?

Nordic Walking is a total body workout utilising 90% of skeletal muscles. It is a version of walking that is performed with specially designed 'sport' walking poles like cross country ski poles. It focuses on large movements through the arms and legs and is superior to 'just walking.' It is usually enjoyed in a group setting, outdoors in green spaces. It was one of the first outdoor sports to start again after the Covid-19 lockdown.

#### Are there any risks in taking part?

No. The group discussion will be sensitively facilitated, and you will be invited to share your experience of Nordic Walking in a community rehabilitation setting. You might be tired after a 90-minute discussion and so refreshments will be provided.

#### Are there any benefits in taking part?

You may benefit from taking part in Nordic Walking as it is a tailored exercise programme and exercise has been shown to have a positive impact on mood and muscle strength. The researcher is an experienced Parkinson's Nurse Specialist and Nordic Walking instructor. There may be no direct benefit to taking part in the focus group, but you will be reimbursed for your travel expenses, and you will have refreshments, in a comfortable meeting room. Your contribution could help to shape Nordic Walking for Parkinson's in a community rehabilitation programme.

#### Will my time/travel costs be reimbursed?

Participants will not receive an inconvenience allowance to participate in the study, but Travel costs will be reimbursed for those who join the focus group. This will be up to £10 per participant.

#### What happens to the data provided?

The research data will be stored confidentially. Each participant will be allocated a number, and all research data will be stored using that number so that none of the data will have your real name or other individual identifiers associated with them. Your name and any information about you will not be disclosed outside the study centre. Your personal data and consent form will be kept separate to the research data. The researcher and supervisor will have access to your personal and research data. We would like your permission to use fully anonymised direct quotes in research publications. All research data and records will be stored for a minimum of seven years after publication or public release of the work of the research.

We would like your permission to use anonymised data in future studies, and to share our research data (e.g., in on-line databases) with other researchers in other Universities and organisations both inside and outside the European Union. This would be used for research in health and social care. Sharing research data is important to allow peer scrutiny, re-use (and therefore avoiding duplication of research) and to understand the bigger picture in particular areas of research. All personal information that could identify you will be removed, or changed, before information is shared with other researchers or results are made public.

#### What will happen if I don't want to carry on with the study?

Even after you have signed the consent form, you are free to withdraw from the study at any time without giving any reason and without your legal rights being affected. Any personal data will be destroyed. If you withdraw, we will no longer collect any information about you, or from you, but we will keep the anonymous research data that has already been collected and stored as we are not allowed to tamper with study records. This information may have already been used in some analyses and may still be used in the final study analyses. To safeguard your rights, we will use the minimum personally identifiable information possible.

#### Who will know that I am taking part in this research?

Data will be used for research purposes only and in accordance with the General Data Protection Regulations. All such data are kept on password-protected databases sitting on a restricted access computer system and any paper information (such as your consent form, contact details and any research questionnaires) would be stored safely in lockable cabinets in a swipe-card secured building and would only be accessed by the research team. Audio digital recordings and electronic data will be anonymised with a code as detailed above. Electronic storage devices will be encrypted while transferring and saving all the sensitive data generated during the research. All such data are kept on password protected databases sitting on a restricted access computer system.

Under UK Data Protection laws, the University is the Data Controller (legally responsible for the data security), and the Chief Investigator of this study (Dr Vicky Booth) is the Data Custodian (manages access to the data). This means we are responsible for looking after your information and using it properly. Your rights to access, change or move your information are limited as we need to manage your information in specific ways to comply with certain laws and for the research to be reliable and accurate.

You can find out more about how we use your information and to read our privacy notice at: <a href="https://www.nottingham.ac.uk/utilities/privacy.aspx/">https://www.nottingham.ac.uk/utilities/privacy.aspx/</a>

Designated individuals of the University of Nottingham may be given access to data for monitoring and/or audit of the study to ensure we are complying with guidelines.

Anything you say during a focus group will be kept confidential, unless you reveal something of concern that may put yourself, or anyone else, at risk. It will then be necessary to report to the appropriate persons. Due to the professional responsibilities of some University staff, if you mention something during the focus group which may require reporting the research team will discuss it with you and decide on a course of action. This may involve implementing the University of Nottingham Safeguarding policy.

#### What will happen to the results of the research?

The research may be published in a nursing or medical journal and will be presented at health-related and/or Nordic Walking conferences. A report will be written for the National Rehabilitation Centre and Parkinson's UK which will be disseminated to clinical teams in the East Midlands. All participants will be anonymous within the report, and you will be sent a copy.

The research will be written up as a thesis. On successful submission of the thesis, it will be deposited both in print and on-line in the University archives, to facilitate its use in future research. The thesis will be published open access.

The research will be written up as dissertation for the degree of Master of Philosophy (MPhil).

#### Who has reviewed this study?

All research involving people is looked at by an independent group of people, called a Research Ethics Committee, to protect your interests. There are three patient and public involvement representatives who have reviewed all the study documents, and they actively contribute to research project meetings. The study papers have all been reviewed by academic supervisors and the project team.

#### Who is organising and funding the research?

This study is being organised by Professor Pip Logan, Dr Vicky Booth and Dr Frances Allen through the University of Nottingham and partially funded by the National Rehabilitation Centre, National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) (through their Capacity Development Scheme), Nottingham CityCare partnership and mentor support from British Nordic Walking.

#### What if there is a problem?

If you have a concern about any aspect of this project, please speak to the lead researcher Sarah McCracken, Principal Investigator Professor Pip Logan or the Chief investigator, Dr Vicky Booth who will do their best to answer your query.

The researcher should acknowledge your concern and give you an indication of how she intends to deal with it. If you remain unhappy and wish to complain formally, you can do this by contacting the FMHS Research Ethics Committee Administrator, Faculty Hub, Medicine and Health Sciences, E41, E Floor, Medical School, Queen's Medical Centre Campus, Nottingham University Hospitals, Nottingham, NG7 2UH or via E-mail: <u>FMHS-ResearchEthics@nottingham.ac.uk</u>. FMHS 331-0821.

#### **Contact Details**

If you would like to discuss the research with someone beforehand (or if you have questions afterwards), please contact:

Lead researcher: Sarah McCracken Community Neurology Team The Meadows health centre 1, Bridgeway Centre The Meadows Nottingham NG7 2UH

Email (research): <a href="mailto:sarah.mccracken1@nottingham.ac.uk">sarah.mccracken1@nottingham.ac.uk</a>

#### Appendix 13. FG Interview schedule (PwP)

**Title of Study**: What are the characteristics and core components needed to implement Nordic Walking groups for People with Parkinson's in a community rehabilitation setting?

- 1. Please tell us your name and why you decided to try Nordic Walking?
- 2. Did you have any difficulties attending the classes every week?
- 3. What are you enjoying about Nordic Walking?

4. Has COVID-19 been a consideration for you; before or during the Nordic Walking classes?

5. In what ways could the Nordic Walking classes be improved?

6. How do you feel about doing Nordic Walking outside, in a park?

7. What would help you to continue with Nordic Walking after you have completed eight sessions?

8. Is there anything else you want us to know about your experience of Nordic Walking?

#### Appendix 14. FG Interview schedule (NWI/WL)

**Title of Study:** What are the characteristics and core components needed to implement Nordic Walking groups for People with Parkinson's in a community rehabilitation setting?

Please tell us your name and your role within the Nordic Walking research project.
 How long have you been doing this?

2. What is your experience of Nordic Walking with People with Parkinson's Disease?

3. What are the challenges when working with People with PD?

4. Are there practical considerations when setting up NW classes for People with PD in a community rehab setting?

5. Do you have examples of PD classes that are mixed (non-PD or with a partner/spouse)?

6. What about different levels of fitness, or capacity, to learn a new skill?

7. Are there any specific qualities needed to be an instructor for People with Parkinson's?

8. How have you adapted your teaching or classes for People with PD?

9. Has Covid-19 been a consideration for you; before or during the Nordic Walking classes for People with PD?

10. Is there anything else you want us to know about your experience of Nordic Walking with People with Parkinson's?

#### Appendix 15. Ethical approval letter (FG) May 2022

School of Medicine, University of Nottingham QMC Campus Nottingham, NG7 2UH.

Dear Ms McCracken

#### Ethics Reference No: FMHS 331-0821 – please always quote

 Study Title: Nordic Walking & Parkinson's Disease: Understanding the impact, accessibility and diversity of Nordic Walking in People with Parkinson's disease after the Covid-19 pandemic.

 Chief Investigator/Supervisor: Dr Vicky Booth, Assistant Professor, Centre for Ageing and Rehabilitation Research, School of Medicine

 Lead Investigators/student: Sarah McCracken, MPhil Ageing and Rehabilitation, School of Medicine

 Other Key investigators: Prof Pip Logan, Director of Research and Knowledge Exchange, School of Medicine, Dr Kevin Anthony, Research Lead, Nottingham CityCare, Catherine Sears, Research Assistant, School of Medicine, Alison Clarke, British Nordic walking instructor and mentor, John Parr, Steve and Jennifer Johns, Patient and Public Involvement representatives.

 Proposed Start Date: 01.10.2021
 Proposed End Date: 30.09.2023

Thank you for notifying the Committee of amendment no 1: 22.04.2022 in summary as follows:

 Addition of 3 new focus groups to compliment the field notes and themes data already collected and create more meaningful data.

The following documents were received:

 FMHS REC Notice of minor amendment form. Focus group Participant Information Sheet, Consent form V1: 22.04.2022

These have been reviewed and amendment no 1: 22.04.2022 is given a favourable ethics opinion.

A favourable ethics opinion is given on the understanding that:

- 1. The protocol agreed is followed and the Committee is informed of any changes using a notice of amendment form (please request a form).
- 2. The Chair is informed of any serious or unexpected event.
- 3. An End of Project Progress Report is completed and returned when the study has finished (Please request a form).

Yours sincerely

pp Lonicati

**Dr John Williams, Associate Professor in Anaesthesia and Pain Medicine** Chair, Faculty of Medicine & Health Sciences Research Ethics Committee

#### Appendix 16. Consent form FG study

#### Participants Consent Form Final version 1.0:08/04/2022 V (1)

**Title of Study**: What are the characteristics and core components needed to implement Nordic Walking groups for People with Parkinson's in a community rehabilitation setting? **REC ref:** FMHS 331-0821

Name of Researchers: Lead investigator: Sarah McCracken, Parkinson's Nurse Specialist. Chief Investigator/Supervisor: Dr Vicky Booth and Dr Frances Allen Principal Investigator: Prof Pip Logan.

#### Name of Participant:

- 1. I confirm that I have read and understand the information sheet version number 1.0 dated 8/4/2022 for the above study which is attached and have had the opportunity to ask questions.
- 2. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time, without giving any reason and without disadvantage.
- 3. I understand that relevant sections of my data collected in the study may be looked at by the research group and by other responsible individuals for monitoring and audit purposes. I give permission for these individuals to have access to these records and to collect, store, analyse and publish information obtained from my participation in this study. I understand that my personal details will be kept confidential.
- 4. I understand that the Focus Group discussion will be audio recorded using an automated transcription service and that anonymous direct quotes from the interview may be used in the study reports.
- 5. I understand that information about me recorded during the study will be made anonymous before it is stored in a secure database. Data will be kept for seven years after the study has ended and then deleted.
- 6. I understand that what I say during the Focus Group discussion will be kept confidential unless I reveal something of concern that may put myself or someone else at any risk. It will then be necessary to report this to the appropriate persons.
- 7. I understand that the information discussed in the Focus Group may be sensitive and is confidential. I agree to respect other participant's privacy and will not disclose what others have said in the Focus group.
- 8. I agree to take part in the above study.
- **9.** Optional: I agree that my anonymous research data will be stored and used to support other research during and after seven years and shared with other researchers including those working outside the University.
- **10.**Optional: I agree to my contact details being stored for the purpose of being invited to participate in future research studies.

Name of Participant	Date	Signature
Name of Person taking consent	Date	Signature

#### **Please initial box**